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Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited

Head Office Address

168/52 (Lumpini Tower 19th Floor) Rama IV Road,
Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120

Tel. 66 (0) 2679 7357

Fax. 66 (0) 2285 6642

Branch Office

51, Moo 3, Laemchabang Terminal,
Thungsukkhla,Sriracha,

Chonburi 20230

Tel. 66 (0) 38 401 062-4

Fax. 66 (0) 38 401061

Securities Information :
Common shares of Namyong Terminal PLC.

were listed and traded on the Stock
Exchange of Thailand in 2013
under the abbreviated

security name of “NYT".

Contact

Investor relations

Tel. 66 (0) 2679 7357

Fax. 66 (0) 2285 6642

Email irnamyong@namyongterminal.com

Website

www.namyongterminal.com
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—————@ -« To become the world's export hub for all types of vehicles

Customers
» Improve and maintain operational standard with the
responsibility to exporters and world-class standard

—® Marketing car manufacturers in order that the service of vehicle
« Proceed flexible marketing strategies that could meet shipping to destinations is provided in the most

the changes in demands of the world-class standard efficient method.
customers.  Ensure and satisfy customers by maintaining the
« Increase market share not less than 80 percent. standard of Zero Error operation service as well as
« Expand the variety of the services to cover other relevant consistently provide impressive service to customers.

businesses.

Vision & Mission

—@ Information technology development

* Develop information technology and advance
technology to efficiently manage the operations
and services.

—® Management

» Establish transparency, good corporate governanceand  |_g
accountability management system.

» Encourage development, value added and progress
in career path together with safe working environment
for employee.

L@ Corporate social responsibility
* Support the organization to be responsible for society and not to cause pollution
to the environment.
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Satisfaction Survey of

Customers more than 8 0%

rd

A leading terminal service

Only A5 Terminal can provide . .
provider for import and export

full-integrated and purely of cars in Thailand

highest market share for years.
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\"’ Ro/Ro services.

A5 Terminal has approximately

80% market share of car
exports in Thailand.

i

Warehouse 274,360 sq.m.

Operational Highlights

Continued growth from 2016 43,

l Has been occupied > 90

Net profit 2020 Revenue 2020

227 MTHB 1,199 MTHB

Y

-

The greenhouse gas emissions

were reduced in the amount of 95 -1 5 tons

of Carbon Dioxide (tCO2e)

|

Dividend payment 2020 GP margin 2020

O- 20THB/share 48%

(propose to shareholder's

Meeting)‘ AR v

The electricity consumption | g
was reduced 18.3%
in the amount of THB 684,432
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Terminal Company Limited. And with the aim to expand the
capacity of the Company's service in long term in order to
support the growing trend of car exportation in Thailand in
future, in April 2012, the Company and Nippon Yusen Kabushiki
Kaisha (“"NYK") group co-invested in the Laemchabang
International RO-RO Terminal Co., Ltd. ("LRT") which operates
Ro/Ro terminal services for car importation and exportation,
and general cargo at CO terminal, situated in Laemchabang
Terminal, Si Racha Sub-District, Cholburi Province. On 29
August 2003, LRT has been granted the concession on investment,
administration and operation of CO terminal from PAT for the
period of 30 years starting from 1 September 2005 and will
be expired in 31 August 2035.

Later, on 27 June 2012, the Company registered the
transformation from being a company limited to public
company limited, and, on 18 March 2013, the general meeting
of the shareholders resolved to increase the registered capital
from THB 414.5 million to THB 620 million by issuing 205.5
million of newly-issued shares for capital increase at the par
value of THB 1 for the initial public offering. Accordingly in
November 2013, the Company registered the paid-up capital

Meung Mae Teeb Company Limited was incorporated on 15 July 1982 with initial objectives ~ to THB 620 million by offering

for minerals and coal mining business and was renamed to Universal Coal Company  205.5 million of newly-issued

Limited and Banpu Terminal Company Limited respectively. In 2002, Banpu Public  shares for capital increase at the

Company Limited sold 100 percent of shares in Banpu Terminal Company Limited to  par value of THB 1 per share for

Namyuenyong Shipping Company Limited and the Leungsuwan family. Banpu Terminal initial public offering at the offer

Company Limited changed its business strategy from a coal terminal operator to a  value of THB 11.9 per share. At

Ro/Ro terminal operator for car export and import. It was later renamed to Namyong  the same time, the Company

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 17

registered all of its ordinary shares in the Stock Exchange of
Thailand, whereby the first trade date was on 25 November

2013.

Inthis regard, the objectives of the fund raising were to repay
financial institution’s loan, invest and expand business, and
utilize as a revolving fund for the businesses. In November
2013, the Company has made full repayment on both long

term and short term loans to the financial institutions.

Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited has continuously
invested and developed management system of A5 Terminal.
The Company has made investment to expand the Company'’s
terminal from only 1 berth at the beginning to 3 berths at
present, with the total quay length of 697 meters, max draft
14 meters (at present, the max draft increases to 17 meters).
These berths can support maximum vessel size at 80,000
DWT. Also, on 31 December 2020, as a result of the expansion
of parking area for car exportation and importation, the
Company operates the total parking area for car exportation
at 820,903 square meters, comprising the parking area for
exportation and importation within the terminal at 247,000
square meters which can support up to 15,437 cars, and car
storage area for export preparation surrounding the terminal
at 573,903 square meters, which can support up to 35,869
cars at the same time. Moreover, the Company also provides

cargo storage and warehouse service at 274,360 square meter.

Company Background and
Key Success

Sinificant changing in the past 3 years

* In 2018, SRT was amalgamated with Global Cargo (Thailand)
Limited (“"GCT") which has been completely registered with
the Ministry of Commerce to be a new company is “NYKT

International Terminal Co., Ltd." (“NYKT").

In 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders
no. 1/2019 on 22 February 2019 approved the Exercise of
the Right of Investment in Laemchabang International Ro-Ro
Terminal Co., Ltd. ("LRT") by the purchase of 29 percent of
shares of NYKT International Terminal Co., Ltd. from Artlion
Development Limited (“ArtLion”) which is the subsidiary
company of and under the control of Nippon Yusen Kabushiki

Kaisha Group (“NYK")

Currently, the Company holds 49 percent of shares of NYKT
and NYKT holds 100 percent of shares of LRT. LRT is a Ro/
Ro and general cargo terminal operator of CO Terminal located

at Laem Chabang Port similar location as A5 terminal.

In 2020, the Company holds 51 percent of the total issued
ordinary shares in Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. (“"Seahorse”)
having a business of between the east coast and the west
region continually to the south. RORO Passenger (ROPAX)

Ferry Services.

In 2021, the Company was informed by the President of
Laemchabang Port as letter no. TorLorChor 25/790 that
in the meeting of the Board of Port Authority of Thailand
no.15/2563 (2020) dated 24 November 2020 approved
extending term of agreement for investment in Construction,
Management and Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal
by amending the agreement as specified by the Public-Private
Partnership, Act B.E.2562 (2019) to 5 years until 30 April
2026. The extensionis now processing under the Public-Private

Partnership, Act B.E.2562 (2019).



» Expanded the supporting car storage
area for exportation and importation
to the total of 247,000 square meters
which can support up to 15,437 cars

simultaneously.

» Renamed to Namyong Terminal Co., Ltd.

 Signed the amendment agreement
with PAT to alter into Ro/Ro and
general cargo terminal operator

« Signed the Car Terminal Facility and
Service Agreement with 5 shipping
lines for a period of 10 years (1 May
2010 -30 April 2020)

* Jointly invested with NYK Group the
valued business partner which is the
globallogistic enterprise in Laemchabang
International RO-RO Terminal Co., Ltd.
("LRT") line to manage the CO terminal.

* Converted into public company limited.

* Listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand

* NYT stock has ranked by MSCI Global
Small Cap Indexs within 6 months only
after listed

* Guaranteed Quality of Service by
ELMA Award and PM Award

« Certified by ISO 14001:2004 and
OHSAS 18001:2007

* N.Y.K. (Thailand) Co., Ltd. became
the major shareholder of the Company
by holding 18.34 percent of the Company’s
shares.

* Increased terminal capacity to 1.5 million

car/year

* 1 of 55 companies which were qualified
and selected to receive “Sustainable
Stock” award of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand.

* 1 of 80 companies out of the 601
companies which achieved a CGR
score of 5 stars or “Excellent” from the
survey results on Corporate Governance
Report of Thai Listed Companies 2016
of The Thai Institute of Directors
Association (IOD).

* 1 0of 159 companies out of the 601
companies which received a perfect
score or AGM Checklist in 2016 of
100 from the Thai Investors Association.

(s

« 1of 65 companies which were qualified
and selected to receive “Sustainable
Stock” award of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand for the 2™ consecutive year.

» 1 0f 110 companies out of the 620
companies which achieved a CGR score
of 5 stars or “"Excellent” from the survey
results on Corporate Governance Report
of Thai Listed Companies 2017 of The
Thai Institute of Directors Association
(I0D) for the 2™ consecutive year.

* 1 0of 114 companies out of the 618
companies which received a perfect
score of AGM Checklistin 2017 of 100
from the Thai Investors Association

for the 2™ consecutive year.

* To be one of 45 companies in the
SETTHSI Index

* 1 of 79 companies which were qualified
and selected to receive “Sustainable
Stock” award of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand for the 3 consecutive year.

* 1 0of 142 companies out of the 657
companies which achieved a CGR
score of 5 stars or “Excellent” from the
survey results on Corporate Governance
Report of Thai Listed Companies 2018
of The Thai Institute of Directors
Association (I0D) for the 3™ consecutive
year.

* 10f 139 companies out of the 657
companies which received a perfect
score of AGM Checklist in 2018 of 100
from the Thai Investors Association

for the 3" consecutive year.

* ] of 98 companies which were qualified
and selected to receive “Sustainable
Stock” award of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand for the 4" consecutive year.

* 1 0f 193 companies out of the 677
companies which achieved a CGR
score of 5 stars or “Excellent” from the
survey results on Corporate Governance
Report of Thai Listed Companies 2019
of The Thai Institute of Directors
Association (I0D) for the 4™ consecutive
year.

* 1 0f 182 companies out of the 672
companies which received a perfect
score of AGM Checklist in 2019 of 100
from the Thai Investors Association for

th :
the 4™ consecutive year.

» Sustainability Disclosure Acknowledgement
Award by Thaipat Institute

* 10f 124 companies which were qualified
and selected to receive “Sustainable
Stock” award of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand for the Sth consecutive year.

* 1 0f 240 companies out of the 692
companies which achieved a CGR
score of 5 stars or “Excellent” from the
survey results on Corporate Governance
Report of Thai Listed Companies 2020
of The Thai Institute of Directors
Association (I0D) for the 5™ consecutive
year.

* 1 0f 199 companies out of the 712
companies which received a perfect
score of AGM Checklist in 2020 of
100 from the Thai Investors Association
for the 5th consecutive year. |

-

| BN |
mlainlinln
EEEEN
o
EEEEEEn
-
HENENNDNNN
elninieiaialaiels

I
Ii.J ‘i‘ ‘il \i} \i\ \i\ \i\ \i\ wi\




2 O 56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The Prime Minister's Business
Enterprise Award 2014: PM
Award 2014, under the category
of Best Services Enterprise
Award for Logistics from
General Prayuth Chan-ocha,

Prime Minister

O Caruleas il dpsovma

SO 9001:2015, ISO
14001:2015 and ISO
45001:2018 from Lloyd's
Register Quality Assurance
(LRQA)

The Excellent Logistics Registeredinthe list of Thailand
Management Awards or Sustainability Investment
ELMA, from Department of (THSI) assessed by SET for
International Trade Promotion, the year 2016

Ministry of Commerce

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 21

Registeredin the list of Thailand
Sustainability Investment
(THSI) assessed by SET for
the year 2017

Awards

Registered inthelist of Thailand  Registered inthelist of Thailand  Registered in the list of Thailand

Sustainability Investment Sustainability Investment Sustainability Investment
(THSID assessed by SET for (THSI) assessed by SET for (THSI) assessed by SET for
the year 2018 the year 2019 the year 2020



22 56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The Coronavirus 2019 (*COVID-19") pandemic has severely
affected Thailand's and the world's economy. By the result of
the Lockdown measure, many of economic activities have
been temporarily halted due to the international travel
restrictions in respect of tourism activity and export activity,
which subsequently affected the domestic economic activities
including private consumption andinvestment. In 2020, Thailand's
economic growth rate was -6.6 percent. However, in the third
quarter, exports were gradually improved. It is expected that
inthe next year, Thailand's economy and the world's economy
will be recovered as a result of several economic rehabilitation
measures initiated by many countries, both in short term and
long term, and the expectation that COVID-19 vaccination is
efficient.

The Board of Directors and the executives of Namyong Terminal
Public Company Limited (“the Company") continue to set up
business strategies to be in line with the world's economic
situation for the next year which may be slightly improved enabling
the Company'’s business to cope with various situations and
uncertainties and resulting in the continuous and sustainable
growth, as well as, stable financial status. In addition, the
Company is aware of the importance of organizational sustainability
strategy planning. Since 2017, the year of the beginning of
this work-planning, a working group has been appointed to
manage the organizational sustainability to be in accordance
with the CG Code of the office of Securities and Exchange
Commission (*SEC") which aims that Thai listed companies
expedite organizational sustainability strategy. The Board
of Directors has approved the organizational sustainability
work plan for the years of 2020-2021 in accordance with the
CG Code. The Board of Directors also recognizes its role as
a governing body to create the sustainable business value in
three aspects and will further review the implementation of
the CG Code to apply with the business at the appropriate
level at least once a year.

The Board of Directors has approved tax policies to demonstrate
the commitment to comply with the law to lawfully exercise
tax benefits and to lawfully implement a tax structure that
does not create tax evasion. In addition, the Board of Directors
has approved a personal data protection policy to ensure that
the Company will fully comply with the Personal Data Protection
Act B.E. 2562 (2019) which will be enforced in 2021.

With respect to the environmental sustainability, although the
Company's business does not directly generate greenhouse
gas emissions and climate change, in order to be a part of the
global goal to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, the Company
views that reducing electricity consumption will be an indirect
reduction of the greenhouse gas emissions which can be
adopted by adjusting the air conditioning temperature at 25
degrees Celsius, installing timers that control the power of air
condition (on and off), installing solar cells at the employees’
car park and changing the light bulbs in A5 Terminal to be LED
at 100%. The electricity consumption in 2020 reduced from
2019 in the amount of 163,464 units (kWh) equivalent to
18.3% which is in accordance with our plan on environmental
indicator and goal. Hence, the greenhouse gas emissions
were reduced in the amount of 95.15 tons of Carbon Dioxide
(tCO2e). With respect to the social sustainability aspect, the
Company emphasizes the importance of the internal society, i.e.,
our employees. During the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company
has provided measures to take care of employees in accordance
with the Government's health measures.

From our continual determination in developing the business
operation to be inline with the good corporate governance, as
aresult, the Company has been ranked in 5 stars company, or
equivalent to "Excellent" in the Corporate Governance Report
of Thai Listed Companies of the Thai Institute of Directors
Association (I0D). The Company has also received the
Sustainable Stock award from the Stock Exchange of Thailand
for five consecutive years and has been selected to receive
the Sustainability Disclosure Acknowledgement award from

Thaipat Institute, which was held for the first year as well.
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| believe that we will be able to make it through this year of
global economic crisis with our cooperation, commitment, and
professionalism of the executives and the employees. Lastly,
[, on behalf of the Board of Directors of Namyong Terminal
Public Company Limited, would like to thank all employees and
stakeholders for their consistent trust and good support. We
can assure the shareholders that we will strive to perform our
duties and operate our business with transparency in accordance
with good corporate governance for the prosperity of the
Company and for the sustainable returns of all shareholders.

“The Board of Directors approved 20
organization ‘s sustainability planin ac
with CG code as a governing body to cre
sustainable business value in three aspe
will further review the implementation of
Code to apply with the business at the appropriz
level at least once a year.”

Chairman Statement

Z

Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Professor Emeritus
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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In 2020, Thailand's economy encountered a challenge from
severe economic deflation, mainly, due to the on-going
COVID-19 pandemic situation that has spread around the
world since the beginning of the year. The full and strict
implementation of disease control measures of many countries
including Thailand, such as the Lockdown measure, Social
Distancing measure and restrictions on international travel
have affected the export industry. Furthermore, the decrease
of employment in many industries has caused a drastic impact
on the domestic production and consumption.

According to the assessment of the COVID-19 pandemic
situation, it is found that the situation tends to be prolonged
which will consequently affect the potential economic growth
for a long-term even after the pandemic is over. It has also
been expected that the export volume of cars in 2020 would
decrease. Hence, this year will be animportant year to stipulate a
concise working plan by strictly controlling costs and expenses
in order to overcome this situation and carry on the operating
results through this crisis. |, as the Chief Executive Officer of
Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited (* the Company"),
will put my best afford to ensure that the Company maintains
the gross profit margin and net profit margin at the expected
level by adopting 2 important strategies, which are the preservation
of the Company's stability by maintaining service standard
to the customers, and, creating opportunities to build the
sustainable growth by studying new potential businesses,
in order to support the rehabilitation measures from the Thai
government and various business-partner countries.

With respect to the 3-5 years investment plan for business
expansion, it shall be proceed with carefulness by considering
the feasibility of the project which must be able to create the
stability on the Company's cash flow in the long term in order
to maximize the benefits for the shareholders and all groups
of stakeholder. In 2020, there were the following important
operations:

* The Company has invested in 51% of the total issued shares
in Seahorse Ferries Company Limited (“Seahorse™), which
operates transportation service by RORO Passenger (ROPAX)
ferry between the east coast and the lower central region
continually to the south. According to the feasibility study
of the project, it is expected that the Company will be able
to generate commercial income in the beginning of 2021
with internal rate of return (IRR) at the rate of at least 15%,
whereby the break even is expected to be in 6 year.

The investment in Seahorse increases the opportunity for the
Company to realize revenue in the future and to expand the
business into other businesses apart from the current terminal
service and warehouse service of the Company. Seahorse
will start its business commercial commencing in March
2021and has been approved from the Board of Investment of

Thailand (BOI) by the privilege promotion of 7.3.3 type : the
business of vessels transportation as Investment Promotion
Act B.E. 2520 (1977) specified.

For the renewal of the joint investment agreement for construction,
management and operation of the A5 Terminal, the Company
was notified by the Director of Laem Chabang Port according
to the letter No. TorLorChor. 25/790 that the Port Authority
of Thailand resolved to approve the agreement renewal in the
meeting No.15/2563 dated 24 November 2020 by amending
the joint investment agreement to be continued for another
5years oruntil 30 April 2026 according to the Public Private
Partnership Act B.E. 2562 (2019). Currently, the implementation
of the relevant parts are being proceeded in accordance with
the Public Private Partnership Act B.E. 2562 (2019).

The total number of cars imported and exported via A5
Terminal was 670,094. The gross profit margin was 48.04%.
The net profit margin was 18.96%. And the return on equity
(ROE) was 6.42%.

The Company's storage and warehouse space of 274,360
square meters has been occupied not less than 90%. The
revenue from the service grew by 43% from 2016. This is
in accordance with the workplan to reduce risks from the
reliance on the revenue from the terminal service and the
related services alone.

During the COVID-19 pandemic situation, the Company
has taken care of the employees and the stakeholders in
accordance with the government’s health measures, such
as temperature measurement and screening, spraying the
antiseptic fluid, social distancing, work-from-home measure,
coordinating closely with serviced-area users and visitors to
inform them on the area entry and exit measure, raising
awareness of good hygiene and mask-wearing practice, transforming
the customer service to be the one-stop service and assessing
the possibility of the stoppage in the supply chain by working
closely with the Company's partners and business alliance to
monitor the situation that may arise. In addition, in order to
create a confidence to our employees, the Company maintains
the same employment rate and does not have a policy to
reduce their salaries.

The implementation of the abovementioned measures has
resulted in our employees’ safety and our business flow. We
have also been praised by the National Marine Intervention
Center who investigated the readiness of the Company's
operation regarding the COVID-19 measures in last April.
In addition, the Company has conducted a post-checked
measure in order to receive an opinion from the customers,
the partners, the business alliances, the ship agents, the
serviced-area users and the visitors to improve the service
for the next phase. The result shows that more than 90%
are confident in the solutions and services provided by the
Company under this COVID-19 outbreak prevention.

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 25

Message from the Chief Executive Officer

Along our path of growth, we are
committed to move forward with
responsibility in all business operations
to achieve a sustainability from the
inside out via the creation of three
values, i.e., economic value, social
value and environmental value. Therefore,
the Company will be able to operate the
business along with the sustainable
social growth. Finally, I, as the Chief
Executive Officer would like to thank
our managements, employees,
customers, business alliances and all
shareholders who have kindly

trusted in our management all along.

Ty

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan
Chief Executive Officer
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The Audit Committee of Namyong Terminal Public Company
Limited, comprising 4 qualified independent directors, has
performed the duties according to the scope and authority
assigned by the Board of Directors and specified in the Audit
Committee Charter as approved by the Board of Directors
which are in compliance with regulations and best practices of
international standard for Audit Committee and the regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commissions and the
Stock Exchange of Thailand.

In 2020, the Audit Committee held total of 4 meetings. The
Audit Committee consulted with the managements, internal
auditors and external auditors about related matters which of
material duties are summarized as follows:

1. Review the Financial Report The Audit Committee
reviewed 2020 quarterly and annually financial
statements of Namyong Terminal Public Company
Limited which had been reviewed and audited by
the external auditors with

transactions or potential conflict transactions between the
Company and affiliated companies pursuant to the notifications
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock
Exchange of Thailand. It appeared that such related party
transactions have been undertaken on a normal course
of business, reasonable basis and of the best benefit of the
Company, and fair.

3. Internal Audit Control and Supervision The Audit
Committee reviewed the internal control systems and supervised
the internal audit by considering the reports of the internal
audit, gave some consultationsand,/or suggestions in various
matters, as well as followed up the results on the amendments
of operationin the significant issues according to the reports
of the internal audit in order to improve the internal control
to be sufficient and efficient, and also considered to approve
2020 annual internal audit plans, including the budget to
support the implementation of the plan and review performance
of the plan by emphasizing the scope of the internal audit

to cover important risks in

unqualified review and  “The Audit Committee has performed its function  each process. The Audit

opinion given. In this regard,
the Audit Committee invited
the managements and the
external auditors every
meeting to inquire about
the accuracy of the financial
statements, appropriate

in accordance with its the assigned duties and
responsibilities as stated in the Audit Committee
Charter by using their knowledge, abilities,
experience, together with through suitable
caution, independence in their role of its
committees”

Committeewas satisfied
with the improvement
of internal control and
therefore had an opinion
that the said internal control
systems of the Company
are efficient.

accounting practices, ad
justment of significant entries which affected financial
statement, auditor's scope and adequacy of disclosure of
the financial statements as well as reported to the Board of
Directors for approval. The meetings between the Audit
Committee and the external auditors were organized
without presence of executives in order to independently
consult about the material information in preparing
the financial statements. The Audit Committee therefore
assured that the aforementioned financial statements are
correct, the preparation of financial statements was in
accordance with regulations and law and Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, and the financial statements were
submitted on time. In addition, information was disclosed
sufficiently and correctly in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standards for the benefits of shareholders,
investors or those who rely on the data in the financial
statements.

2. Related Parties Transaction or Potential Conflict Transaction
Audit The Audit Committee reviewed the related parties

4. Review of the efficiency
of Internal Audit The Audit Committee reviewed the
performance of the Company to ensure its compliance with
laws of the Securities and Exchange Act, rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, regulations of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand as well as other related laws to the Company'’s
business by reviewing the internal audit report and consulting
with internal audit. The Audit Committee opined that the
Company adequately and suitably operates the business
according to the related laws and regulations in all material
respects.

5. Review of Risk Management The Audit Committee con
sidered and reviewed the Company’s risk management
from the related party transactions to ensure that such
transactions were reasonable and at the best interest of
the Company by having the meeting with the managements
and therefore opined that the managements had processed
the transactions with transparency and in accordance with
the normal business conditions. In addition, the manage
ment constantly considered and reviewed the appropriateness
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Report of the Audit Committee

and efficiency of risk management. Such transactions were also reasonable.

6. Self - Assessment The Audit Committee made individual self-assessment and
group self-assessment forms which presented excellently conducted score result.
Moreover, each member enrolled in various training programs to enhance their
knowledge.

7. Consider to appoint auditors for the year 2021 The Audit Committee considered
nomination, appointment/removal of auditors from the qualifications of the
auditors, previous performances as well as the remuneration of the auditors, and
resolved that the auditors of EY Office Limited be appointed the Company's auditors
for the year 2021. The Audit Committee then presented the resolution to the
Board of Directors for further consideration and approval in the Annual General
Shareholders’ Meeting in 2021.

In addition, in order to ensure that the financial statement will be prepared within

due date, the auditors of EY Office Limited have been nominated to be the auditors

of the subsidiary (Seahorse Ferries Company Limited) for the year 2020 (Brd - 4th
quarter) with audit fees of not exceeding THB 130,000 and will also be proposed
to be the auditors for the year 2021.

8. Consideration of other services of the audit firm other than account audit service,
in the year 2020, the Company and its subsidiary did not use any additional

services from the audit firm that could affect the independence of the auditors

Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk
Chairwoman of the Audit Committee

in auditing the Company'’s financial statement.

In summary, the Audit Committee has performed its function in accordance with its the assigned duties and responsibilities
as stated in the Audit Committee Charter by using their knowledge, abilities, experiences, carefulness, and sufficient independence
in their role in order to provide opinions, advices and recommendations prioritizing business operations which had excellent
co-operation from the Board of Directors, managements, and all other related persons. In addition, there was no action
which was not in compliance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act and the regulations of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand, in order to achieve the goals under good governance, transparency and credibility for the best of all

stakeholders’ benefits.
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To Shareholders,

In 2020, the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee held 2 meetings in total and continuously reported
its performance to the Board of Director after each meeting,
which can be summarized as follows:

Nomination

Considered the election of directors in place of those who
retired by rotation and directors who resigned before the
expiration of their terms. The Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee nominated directors
by examining the candidates’ qualifications in terms of their
knowledge, capabilities, experience, vision, morality and ethics
as well as other qualifications as defined by the Company.
In addition, the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee also considered the Company's board
diversity and set up a board skill matrix to specify qualifications
of required directors based on necessary skills that the
Board of Directors was still lacking, to fit with the Company's
operating strategy to propose to the Board of Directors and
Shareholders’ meeting for the year 2020.

Minor shareholders also had a chance to nominate the
candidates during the period from 4 November 2019 to 31
January 2020. However, there was no any shareholder made
any nomination for the consideration of appointment of the
directors. Therefore, the Nomination, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee proposed that the directors
who were retired by rotation in 2020 should be reelected for
another term. The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
considered and approved the reelection of all directors as
proposed.

Compensation

Considered and approved remuneration of the year 2020 for
the Board the Directors, the Audit Committee, and the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee inorder
to present to the Board of Directors and the Shareholders’ meeting
considered as approved as proposed, as well as considered and
approved the 2020 CEQ'’s remuneration by considering his
responsibilities, KPIs achievement and other related factors,
including compensation comparison against those of other
companies in the same or similar industry.

Corporate Governance

* Reviewed and determined guidelines to be in line with the
laws, Corporate Governance Code for listed companies 2017
(CG Code). The Board of Directors' meeting has approved
the policy as proposed.

* Acknowledged the 2020 self-assessment result of the
Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee as the information for the development of its
performance to be in accordance with the good corporate
governance practices.

* Approved the Personal Data Protection Policy, the Board
of Directors’ meeting has approved the policy as proposed.

* Advised the corporate sustainability management committee
on holding events and communications to implant honesty
and anti-corruption mindset. Acknowledged the trainings
and knowledge building on business ethics, good corporate
governance, anti-corruption policy, reporting channel or
complaining policy and protection on whistleblower who
is the Company'’s key trade and business partner for making
understanding as well as enhancing participation on such
issues to be in line with the Company'’s direction.

* Acknowledged the progress of the corporate sustainability
plan for the year 2020 - 2021.

As a result of dedication and continuous promotion of good
corporate governance in the Company's operation, the Company
has received 5 stars or equivalent to “Excellent” for the
result of Corporate Governance Report (CGR) given by the
Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) and Thailand Sustainable
Investment given by the Stock Exchange of Thailand for 5
consecutive years.
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Report of the Nomination, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee

“The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee has performed its duties with prudence,
integrity, compliance with responsibilities designated in its
charter by adequately and appropriately adhering to the
good corporate governance principles for the balance and

sustainable benefits of all stakeholders."”

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra
Chairwoman of the Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee



56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The Executive Committee has carried out the business operation
based on a sustainable development strategy together with
transparency, ethics and responsibilities for all the interest parties.
Inthe past year, the Executive Committee has been continuously
committed in developing and managing A5 and CO terminals as
well as the storage area and the warehouse of 274,360 sq.m. by
maintaining relationship with existing customers and seeking for
new business opportunities.

Development and Business Administration

With the determination in administering the terminals under
the vision of the Company in making the terminals to be the
center terminal of the world in shipping all types of cars, we
have been granted standard certifications of ISO 9001:2015,
SO 14001:2015 and ISO 45001:2018 from Lloyd's Register
Quality Assurance (LRQA) as the basis for further development
of the terminals to be of international standard of services. At
present, the Company holds 51 percent of shares in Seahorse
Ferries Co., Ltd. ("Seahorse”) and 49 percent of shares in
CO terminal. This is to extend the business operation of the
Company and ensure that the Company is able to maintain
constant revenue from terminal service after A5 terminal

would have fully operated in the future.

Innovation and Technology Development

In the midst of a rapid change of the world, technology and
behavior of customers and employees that influences the way
of life. Although the business of the Company is a provision
of services to specific groups of customers, the Company
views that the emerging risk that may affect the commitment,
target, strategy or operation of the Company is the cyber
risk. The Company is aware of the cyber risk which tends to
increase due to the reliance of technology and digital system
in business sector. This unavoidably results in the increase of
cyber hack and cyber-attack which may significantly affect
the operation or customer information.

Solution

The Company has continuously developed and improved the
company and network system to be up-to-date and enable
them to defense cyber-attack in several forms. The business
continuity plan which covers the recovery of IT system within
a short period of time has also been put in place as follows:
1. Protection - this is a guideline to control and prevent IT

system structural risk which covers the network, hardware

device, software, data and working system, such as setting,
accessing and management, data security, security development,
patch management or software update to allow the procedure,
equipment and management or reduction of effect of cyber
security in the appropriate level.

2. Detection and Response - an action plan is set to constantly
monitor and detect cyber risks and notify any unusual
circumstances by the IT department pursuant to the business
continuity plan.

3. Recovery - this ensures that the Company has a regular
back up system through DR-site solution (disaster recovery
site) to recover the system and back up essential information
which may arise from cyber risks causing disruption to the
datacenter. The recovery shall be done within the specified

period and the plan shall be reviewed to be up to date.

Management of Services under COVID-19 Outbreak
COVID-19 outbreak severely affects Thailand’s and the world's
economy. In addition to the careful management accord-
ing to the risk management policy and the good corporate
governance, the management together with the employees
diligently conduct the business under close supervision of
the Board of Directors and the sub-committees to ensure
that the Company'’s business is carried out without interrup-
tion and being able to grow and compete with others which
will consequently generate return to shareholders properly
according to 2021 plan.

Solution

The Company takes care of the employees, the customers,
the warehouse service users and the visitors in accordance
with the government’s health measures by providing surgical
masks, antiseptic alcohol, temperature measurement, background
check, social distancing, indoor antiseptic spraying, work from
home and medical check and treatment welfare for employees
who are of COVID-19 risk due to performing their duties.

Risk Management

The Executive Committee is responsible for overall risk

management with the aim to manage all levels of corporate risk.

The Executive Committee has reviewed the following annual

corporate risks:

1. Considering external changes in economy, society, climate
change and technological innovation that influence the

business operation and interested parties.
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2. Promoting risk management and internal control to be parts
of the corporate culture by indicating all Key Risk Factors
that affect the business in all aspects, at both corporate
level and business unit level, in order to manage such risk
to be in the acceptable level.

3. Following up the Key Risk Factors and consider the appropriate
plan thereof proposed by risk owner.

4. Reviewing emerging risks that may significantly affect the
commitment, target, strategy or operation of the Company,
namely the cyber risk. The Company notes that the cyber
risk tends to be increased. At present, the dependence of
technology and digital system becomes more important in
private sector resulting to more unavoidable cyber-attacks
which may significantly affect the business operation. The
Company has launched measures to keep developing and
improving the computer system and network to be modernized
and able to prevent different forms of cyber-attack.
The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) has also been prepared
to recover the IT system in a short period of time.

On behalf of the Executive Committee, | would like to express
a gratitude to every interested party for their consistent trust
and support inthe Company’s operation and every employee
for their synergy to achieve the targets in revenue growth,
power reduction and continuous and active environmental
and social care, as well as the compliance with the corporate
governance which resulted in acceptance and trust internationally
toallinterest parties. Lastly, | hope that everyone shall jointly

develop and grow sustainably with the Company in every year.

“The Executive Committee is responsible for

overall risk management with the aim to
manage all levels of corporate risk and

review the annual corporate risk.”
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Report of the Corporate Sustainability
Management Committee

With the determination to operate the business in accordance with the policy and corporate sustainability, Namyong Terminal
Public Company Limited has been selected for 5 consecutive years and as 1of the 124 companies to be awarded with “Thailand
Sustainability Investment” of the Stock Exchange of Thailand including Sustainability Disclosure Acknowledgement award
from Thaipat Institute. In our course for growth, we are determined to grow with responsibility at every steps of our business
operations with the aim of developing sustainability from the inside out by creating values of 3 aspects, namely, economy,
society and environment. This would allow the Company to conduct our business alongside sustainable social development.
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Corporate Sustainability Policy

1. Workefficiency improvement by implementing information
technology and applying innovative ideas with the
entancement of relationship with important stakeholders

2. Development of new business lines in order to expand
the main and related businesses both domestically and
internationally

3.Balance of business operation in economic, social
and environmental aspects under the good corporate
governance

4 Strategic planning for economic growth by utilizing
resources efficiently along with reducing environmental
effect

For economic aspect,

* There was a signing between the Company and Toyota
to demonstrate that the two companies have complied
with the consistent business ethics guidelines.

*According to the employee and business partner
understanding survey on anti-corruption, it is found
that “apart from doing the responsible task, honesty
and refraining from corruption are the first priority”

*Approved Personal Data Protection Policy, Taxation
policy and Treatment on Gift and Hospitality

For social aspect,

» Under the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company has followed
the government’s health measures and taken care of
employees, customers, and business partners. The
Company has also made plans to ensure that the Company's
business is carried out without interruption.

* The Company has conducted a survey on the customers,
business partners and business alliances in order to
improve the business operation during the COVID-19
outbreak. The result indicates that 90% of the survey
view that the Company has solved problems in a timely
basis, notified a clear practice and imposed reliable and
efficient measures to prevent COVID-19 spread.

For environmental aspect

* We have participated in the Stock Exchange of Thailand's
‘Care the Bear' project, which promotes further participation
from the existing activities carried out by the Company,
such as employee training or seminar which normally
involves catering. We have set the goal that, in 2019, the
impact from such project would reduce carbon foot print
from organizing events equivalent to planting 100 trees.
The result is that:
-1n 2019, the Company was able to reduce the carbon footprint

by 873.73 Kg. Co2 e or equivalent to plating 127 trees.
- In 2020, the Company was able to reduce the carbon footprint
by 128.76 Kg. Co2 e or equivalent to plating 15 trees.

In 2020, a corporate restructuring has been undertaken.
The Safety, Health and Environment Division has been
promoted to be the Safety, Health and Environment
Department. This is to promote the management of
safety, health and environment to be in international level
and to appoint a responsible person to specifically takes
care of environment issue

* “Clean Office Desk without Bacteria and Mailbox Cleaning”
activity and mobile Safety Committee meeting
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Board of Directors
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Policies and Overall of the Business Operation

Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited (* the Company™)
is a fully-integrated Roll-on/Roll-off (Ro/Ro) terminal operator
of A5 Terminal with berths and servicing areas located at
Laem Chabang Port, Sriracha, Chonburi, which is Thailand's
main deep-sea port for international marine transportation.

The full scope of services comprises of:

1. Terminal services and other services related to the
core business

Terminal services:

» Service to shipping lines for docking their vessels

* Service to shipping lines for transshipment of cars or general
cargo on and off vessels

» Service to car manufacturers for moving cars or cargo within
the terminal

* Service to car manufacturers for receiving area

Other service relating to the core business:

* Supporting Car storage area service for car preparation
before being exported and after being imported to export
and after being imported

* Service to shipping lines for moving cars from the berth area
on and off vessels (Stevedore on Board)

» Service to shipping lines for moving cars from Supporting
Car storage area to berth areas

« Office rental at A5 Terminal

* Equipment rental

* Imported and exported car cleaning

2. Warehouse and storage services

Vision and Target in Business Operation

The Company is committed in operating and promoting the
Company's terminal to be the global center for all types of
car transportation by experienced management with high technology,
and to be the center for carimport and export with international
standard. Under the capability of the Company, the exerirence
of the staffs, as well as the development of technology to support

the business, the Company has been currently trusted by the

car manufacturers. This has enabled the Company to be the
leader in providing terminal service for car import and export
and hold the market share of 80%. In the future, the Company
intends to increase the market share from the service of A5
Terminal and CO Terminal. In order to receive more revnue and
to expand the business to other businesses in addition to the
terminal services and warehouse services, the Company has
invested in 51% of the total issued ordinary shares of Seahorse
Ferries Company Limited (*Seahorse" or “Subsidiary’) which
operates RORO Passenger (ROPAX) service between the east
coast and the west region to the south. The details of which

can be found in the topic of “Vision and Mission"

Relationship with the Major Sharesholders

In 2015, N.Y.K. (Thailand) Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha or the Nippon Yusen Kabushiki
Kaisha Group (*NYK™), became a major shareholder of the
Company by the purchase of shares from the existing shareholders
in the amount of 113,718,000 shares with a par value of THB
1.00 per share or equivalent to 18.34% on 22 September 2015.
Currently, NYK has used the Company's terminal services,
such as, ship docking. The details of which can be found in

the topic of “Related Party Trasactions".

Key Change and Development
The details of significant change and development can be

found in the topic of “Company Background and Key Success".

Whether the usage of fund received from the offering is in
compliance with the purposes specified in the filing/the
offer for sale of equity or debt instruments

The Company used the money in accordance with the notified
purposes. The Company has not conducted fund raising or
offered any other securities or instruments after the initial

public offering.

Research and Development

-There is no expenses on this matter-

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Bus

Business structure
Revenue structure

iness Operation and Result

Consolidated Financial Statements / The Statement of Financial

Position is applied by equity method
2019 2020

2018

Item THB Million % THB Million % THB Million %
Service Revenues:

Terminal services and related services 1,180.29 821 1128.70 78.64 878.00 73.20
Warehousing services 247.60 17.23 289.93 20.20 316.61 26.40
Total service revenue 1,427.89 99.34 1,418.63 98.84 1,194.61 99.60
Other revenues 9.51 0.66 16.68 116 4.86 0.40
Total revenues 1,437.40 100.00 1,435.31 100.00 1,199.47 100.00

Remark :

« This income structure derived from entities in which the Company holds 100% of shares

« As of 31 December 2020, the subsidiary has no operational income

Reconsilations of Investments in subsidiary and associated company

Profit for the year attributable to the Company
Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of buildings and equiipment

Amortisation of defeered tax liabilities from entity acquisition

Total

associated Company (THB Million)

2018 2019 2020
2158 9.9 (1.52)
(21.38) (54.25) (65.03)
(0.04) (0.04) (0.04)
2.4 8.98 113
2.57 (35.40) (55.46)

Business Operation of Each Line of Products
The Company

Nature of Products and Services
The Company is a fully-integrated Roll-on/Roll-off (Ro/Ro)

operator of A5 Terminal. The Company'’s services include
terminal service, car storage area service for for preparation
prior to export and other services related to the core business
w hich include warehouse service at Laem Chabang Port,
Sriracha, Chonburi.

Ro/Ro terminal is the terminal for berth transshipment where
the vehices will be transported by a ramp that bridges to the
terminal, such as, cars, fire trucks, forklifts and etc. In providing
Ro/Ro service, it is extremely necessary to have a long and
deep quay to allow large cargo ships to dock, as well as parking

area for cars for preparation prior to the docking, warehouses,
transportation and transshipment of cargo service for shipping
lines and office retal area for terminal office and etc. Currently,
the Company’s A5 Terminal has a capacity to provide
transshipment service to car manufactures in an amount of
1.5 million cars per year.

In addition, A5 Terminal can also support the transshipment
of large and high-valued products for the usage in Project
Cargo. This is because the quay is deep and wide enough
for large cargos. Also, the terminal’s physical appearance is
suitable for the transporation of large cargos. Moreover, the
Company has a good management that transshipment of

cargos is handled easily and fast.
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In this regard, the main cargos that have been exported and
imported through the Company’s A5 Terminal are cars
including both exported cars and imported cars. Currently, the
Company is the terminal sevice provider that has a highest
volume of cars exported in Thailand. In 2018 to 2020, the
Company has provided the service for car exportation in the
total amount of 898,424 units, 825,656 units and 610,253

units, respectively.

The Company's services can be categorized as follows:
Terminal Service and Related Services
The A5 Terminal services include berth hire, wharfage, wharf

handling and Service to car manufacturers for receiving area

Ro/Ro Terminal in
Laem Chabang Port

Service to shipping lines for the use of berth in docking
their vessels at berth (Berth Hire)

The location of A5 Terminal at Laem Chabang Port has
geographical advantage over the others as the terminal is at
the entrance of the watercourse so shipping lines' vessels
can firstly dock at A5 as resulted in shortest distances and
lowest cost of Tug Boat. The terminal's location is next to
the break water which helps protect the terminal from wind

and sea wave.

A5 Terminal has the total berth width of 697 meters, the A5
Terminal has with three berths as Berth 1at 225 meters width,
Berth 2 (next to Berth 1) at 302 meters width and Berth 3 (at
the side of Berth 1) at 170 meters width.

RORO Terminal

. Bulk cargo terminal
. Container cargo terminal

Multi-purpose terminal

Terminal locations in Laem Chabang Port
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Importing are,

Receiving ares

225\

A5 Terminal

A5 Terminal also has an advantage in berth width and depth comparing to other Ro/Ro service providers within Laem

Chabang Port as A5 Terminal has the total berth width of 697 meters, with depth of 17 meters from the mean sea level. A5

Terminal can accommodate up to an 80,000 DWT vessel.

The Detail of the Terminals

Terminal Categories Length / Depth (metre) Size (DWT)

A5 General Ro/Ro 697 /17 80,000

Al Passenger Ro/Ro 365/14 70,000

CO General Ro/Ro 600 /16 80,000
Reference:

Information on A5 Terminal and CO Terminal is from the Company and on A1 Terminal is from Laem Chabang port website

The groups of the customers that use the Company’s terminal
are the group of importers and exporters and the group of
shipping lines, i.e., Toyota, Honda, Isuzu, Mitsubishi, Ford &
Mazda and Nissan and etc. These car manufactuers hire the
service of the shipping lines that are skillful in car transshipment
to upload cars at the Company's terminal for further delivery

in oversea destinations.

Currently, there are 5 shipping lines that are global players and
have good relationship with car manufacturers in Thailand,
namely (1) Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha (“NYK"), (2) Kawasaki
Kisen Kaisha Ltd. ("K-Line"), (3) Mitsui OSK Lines, Ltd.
("MOL"), (4) Wallenius Wihelmsen Logistics AS ("WWL")

and (5) Toyofuji Shipping Co., Ltd. ("TFS") (collectively

referred to as “Major Shipping Lines")

With respect to berth hire service charge, the Company will
charge the berth hire at the rate specified by PAT which is
calculated on an hourly rate basis from the gross register
tonnage (“GRT").

Wharfage Service

Service to car makers for transshipment of cars or general
cargo on and off vessels (Wharfage) \Wharfage service can
be categorized according to the loading / discharging

characteristics into 4 following types:
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* Export Cargo: Cargo that manufacturers or providers export
overseas upon customers' requirements.

* Import Cargo: Cargo that manufacturers or providers import
from overseas objectively for manufacturing or selling.

* Through Cargo: Cargo that discharging from vessels to
terminal area and store at the terminal area before loading
back to the vessels.

* Transshipment Cargo: Cargo that discharging from vessels

to terminal area and wait for being loaded to new vessels

Namyong-the Terminal Operator

|mport / /‘-\‘ ) y
. 0O O Receiving Area |
Process )

d import Area g

Export

hecking Point

Process

to destination ports.

Service to car manufacturers for moving cars or cargo within
the terminal (Wharf Handling)

The Company provides a service of moving exported cars
from receiving area to pre-loading area in order to hand over
exported cars to shipping lines and for moving imported cars
from pre-loading area to import area in order to pass on to

importers.

| -\‘

Berth Area

Pre-Loading

Area

' Scan Barcode
' Berth Area

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 45

In this regard, yard planning is considered to be the key of terminal management requiring knowledgable and professional
staff of the Company to proceed and manage in the pre-loading process in order to maximize the efficiency of each wharf-
age and to be suitable for the berth of docking ships, countries, destination terminals, orders of the transfer and nature of

each type of the products.

J Importing Area

\ P
- -

i ¥ %
ol %

10,037 Units

Wharf Handling Area at A5 Terminal

To efficiently provide the wharf handling service, the Company  exporters/importers, customs, PAT, and the Company.

used over-16-year-experience in Ro/Ro terminal service in

Details on Area for Wharf Handling in A5 Terminal

Area Owner Size Numbers of

(Square Meter)  Simultaneously

Parking Cars
(Unit)
(Pre-Loading Area) PAT 160,600 10,037
Receiving Area PAT 72,000 4,500
Importing Area PAT 14,400 900
Total size and space for Wharf Handling (Zone 1A) 247,000 15,437
Remark:

« Total area of Zone 1A is 155 Rai or 248,000 square meters which comprises car storage area of 247,000 square meters and warehouse area of 1,000 square meters

developing IT systems that help systematically and accountably
manage wharf handling service in the terminal. The IT system

used comprises of the following 4 software programs.

* Port Management System (PMS)
To help controlling yard, planning and scheduling of shipping
lines so that the area can accommodate loading / discharging
cargo quantity as required and the car moving can be

proceeded smoothly

* Pure Car Carrier System (PCS)
To help organizing data provided by customers for the

verificaion of the imported and exported cargo

* Beyond Ro/Ro Port (BRP)

To help providing reports to be presented to the management

* Auto Web service Management (AWM)
To help linking data and information (vessels and manifest)

with NSW system (National Single Window) among vessels,

All of these 4 programs collaborated to assist the Company to

manage the terminal and analyse the information efficiently.

Service to car manufacturers for receiving area

When the Company receives exported, imported or transshipped
cargos, exporters and importers can store their cars or cargo
in the terminal without any charge for a specific period of
time (free-time) determined by PAT ( 3 days for import and

export and 15 days for transshipment ).

In this regard, with respect to the import and export, importers
and exporters have to apply for import and export of products
with the Customs Department before delivering and receiving
the products. Importers and exporters shall present evidence
received from the Customs Department, whereby the Company
will examine such evidences before deliver the products to the
importers or export the products. The Company will verify the
evidences with the E-Import system of the Customs Department
to ensure that the products passing through the terminal

are correct, complete and pass the customs procedure. The
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details of which can be found in the topic of “Value chain”.

In addition to the car parking area service within A5 terminal

w hich has 247,000 square meters of area, the Company

[ A5 Terminal I Car Storage Area service

also provides supporting car storage area service near by
the terminal and the Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand
("IEAT") for 573,903 square meters which can accommodate

approximately 35,869 cars simultaneously.

I \Warehouse service

Location of supporting Area

Details on Supporting Car Storage Area for Preparation before Car Export

Area Owner Size Numbers of
(Square Meter)  Simultaneously
Parking Cars
(Unit)

Zone 2A and Zone 2B PAT 275,827 17,240
Zone 3A and Zone 3B PAT 92,800 5,800
Zone 3C PAT 32,000 2,000
Zone 3D PAT 33,335 2,083
Zone 1E [EAT 15,361 960
Zone 7.2, plot A PAT 36,800 2,300
Zone 4A PAT 18,251 1140
Zone 4B PAT 19,401 1,213
Zone 5A PAT 50,128 3,133

Total size and space of supporting car storage area

573,903 35, 869
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In addition, the Company also provides other services relating
to the core business, i.e., stevedore on board service,
transportation service from the parking area into the terminal
area, office rental service for terminal department, equipment

rental service, and imported and exported car cleaning service.

Warehouse services

As of 31 December 2020, the Company has a total warehousing
area of 274,360 square meters, in the areas of IEAT and PAT

Details of Warehouse Area

and Eastern Seaboard Industrial Estate (“ESIE") which can
be divided into open yard area of 46,880 square meters and
warehouse of 227,480 square meters. The warehouse is
made up of concrete which is able to bear poducts weighted
4 tons per square meter. The Company also provides public
utility, such as electricity system, water supply system and

security system. Fire extinguishers and smoke detectors have

also been placed.

Area type Rentable Area  Occupied Area
(Square Meter) (Square Meter)
Daily Storage house Zone 1A (In A5 terminal ) 1,000 N/A
Warehouse for rent Zone 13G 22,700 22,700
Warehouse for rent Zone 14G phase 1 1,650 11,650
Warehouse for rent Zone 14G phase 2 11,400 11,400
Warehouse for rent Zone 15G phase 1 8,800 8,800
Warehouse for rent Zone 15G phase 2 9,600 9,600
Warehouse for rent Zone 3.2 plot1 17776 17,776
Warehouse for rent Zone 7.2 plotD 12,600 12,600
Warehouse for rent Zone EPZII 6,825 6,825
Warehouse for rent Zone 3.1 120,796 120,796
Warehouse for rent Rayong project D30A 4,333 0
Open yard for rent Zone 16G 46,880 13,224.75
Total Warehouse service area 274,360 235,371.75

Remark :

= Zone 1A has the area of 1,000 square meter, which is the area to product deposition within the terminal.

Supply of area for business operation
Supply of products and services of the Company

Area according to Agreement for Investment, Construction,
Management and Operation of A5 Terminal at Laem
Chabang Port

The Company has signed the Agreement for Investment,
Construction, Management and Operation of A5 terminal
at Laem Chabang Port with PAT on 11 April 1996 and the
amended agreement No.2 on 20 July 2004. Under such
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agreement, the Company has been authorized to develop,
manage and operate A5 terminal for the exportion and importion

of the car and cargo.

The Company has been informed by the President of Laem
Chabang Port from the letter No. TorLorChor 25/790 that
in the meeting of the Board of Port Authority of Thailand
No.15/2563 (2020) dated on 24 November 2020 has approved
thre extension of the term of the Agreement on Investment,
Contruction and Management by agreement amendment
process under the Public Private Partnership Act B.E. 2562
(2019) for another 5 years until 30 April 2026. The extension
is now under the relevant process specified by the Public
Private Partnership Act B.E. 2562 (2019).

As the main product exported and imported through the Company’s
terminal is car, the Company has continually invested in the
infrastructure and expand the area to support car exportion
and importion. In this regard, the Company has renovated
the export and import area of 247,000 square meters to be
a car parking area based on international standard, prepared
the sewage system with other facilities, external containment
prevention system, such as dust, grass flowers, pine leaves
and etc. and arranged a security system by the installation
of CCTV. The Company's car parking area is suitable for car
import and export as it is a wide open courtyard without heavy

tools, such as cranes which may cause damage to the cars.

Additionally, the Company constructed two office buildings
which are two-storeys and six-storeys with total usable area
of 2,960 square meters. The Company uses such buildings
as its operation center. Also, a warehouse is built with total
usable area of 1,000 square meters to serve customers who

want to store their exported or imported general cargo.

Rental area from the Port Authority of Thailand and the
Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand

The Company has signed rental agreements with the PAT and
the IEAT to develop the areas to support car storage area and

warehousing area.

The Company is obliged to pay monthly rental fee to the PAT

and the I[EAT at the specified rate of each of the agreements.

The Company has also invested in the infrastructure and the
development of the standard rental area that will be used for
parking area with the security. For the warehouse service area,
it has been invested in order to be able to handle the weight

of the product up to 4 tons per square meter.

In this regard, the lease agreement with the PAT has a term
between 3to 20 years and the lease agreement with the IEAT

has a term between 20 to 30 years.

Outsourcing
For terminal services of imported and exported cars, the
satisfaction of both shipping lines and car manufacturers
are required. Therefore, rapidness, correctness and security
of car transportation are essential for the services. However,
for some services, the Company uses outsourcing services
instead of hiring permanent staff. The key outsourced services
include car instpection and counting service and car relocation
service. Details of the services can be explained as follows:
= Car inspection and counting
The outsourced company is responsible for counting numbers
of cars and inspecting conditions of all types of cars
exported, imported and transshipped through the terminal.
The outsourced company is also required to provide inspecting
and counting reports to the Company upon every completion
of car export and import of each vessel and is liable and
makes compensation in respect of any deficit, defect,
damage or loss incurred with intention or negligence. The
outsourced company'’s personnel must be tested and trained
by the Company so that they can undertand the Company’s
services, such as specific characteristic of each model, brand
of cars, and the terminal service area.
= Car moving
The outsourced company is responsible for car moving
with accurate numbers of all car types exported, imported
and transshipped through A5 Terminal with professional
andinternational standard. The outsourced company is also
required to provide a report of car moving to the Company
on a daily basis and is liable and make compensation in
respect of any damage incurred to the cars moving by the
outsourced company regardless with intention, ignorance
or negligence. The outsourced company'’s personnel must
be trained by the Company so that they can undertand the

Company'’s terminal service area.
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Subsidiary Company
Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited is a shareholders
holding 51 % of shares in Seahorse Ferries Company Limited

(“Seahorse" or “Subsidiary")

Product and Service

Seahorse operates transportation service by RORO Passenger
transport (ROPAX) to support the demand for goods transshipment
and passenger transportation between the East coast and

west region continually to the south which are the west regions

with economic growth. Seahorse has developed ROPAX service

Product or Service Procurement
The Vessels Procurement

having security, professionalism, technological vessels and
advantage in respect of time and service cost comparing to
transportation by land of the same route. The vessels also
have facilities. Refrigerated container plug service is also provided.
Moreover, there are service areas in the origin terminal and
the destination terminal to facilitate the passengers before
docking. The sevice is provided between Chonburi Province
(Sattahip Commercial Port, Sattahip District) and west region
in Prachuap Khiri Khan Province (Prachuap Port, Bang Saphan

District) and the south at Songkhla Province.

The vessels used for goods and passengers are the key assets used for Seahorse's operation. Blue Dolphin Il which is a type of

RoRo Passenger Ferry has been purchased from Tsugarukaikyo Ferry Company in Japan. The details of which are as follows:

Details Unit(s) Details Unit(s)
Gross Tonnage 7,003 Tons Passenger capacity 586 Pax
Deadweight / Draft 3,056 Tons Truck capacity 80 Units
Length 136.6 Meter Car capacity 20 Units
Lane Meter 1,000 Meter Speed 20 Knot
Supply for Dock

Details Port

Origin in the East at Chonburi Province

The ferry port is located in the Sattahip Commercial Port in Chonburi

Province to support the transportation in the east (Chonburi, Rayong,

and other provinces)

Destination in the west at Prachuap Khiri
Khan Province

others.

Prachuap Port at Bang Saphan District has supported the transportation

between east and the west area in Prachuap Khiri Khan Province and

Destination in the South at Songkhla Province  To support the transportation between the east, Chonbri Province and

the South, the Songkhla Province and others.
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Procurement of vessels maintenance service providers

Inorder for Seahorse’s vessels to safely navigate and to consistantly
provide services, as well as for the incompliance with the
standard and guideline related to safety of the navigation of
the Marine Department, Seahorse takes the vessels to dry
docking for vessel's body examination, including its structure,
navigation equipment, operational system, and security
which are examined by the competent officers of the Marine
Department who have the authority to inspect and certify the

condition of the vessel before providing services.

Procurement of lubricants, machinery spare parts and other
other necessary tools

Seahorse has set a measure that the machinery spare parts
and other necessary tools must be kept in the vessel for

emergency use.

In making a purchase order of lubricants, spare parts and tools
including the procurement of specialized service providers,
Seahorse will select the manufacturer who is specialized in
the approved vender list and has passed the consideration of

qualification prescribed by Seahorse.

Procurement of fuel for the vessels

In procurement for fuel, Seahorse will select a bunker trader
that imposes price and volume of the fuel from the approved
vender list who has passed the qualification consideration

prescribed by Seahorse.

In case of the procurement of the fixed forward price (FFP),
the executive shall prescribe the volume and the period for
the procurement unit to inquire the bunker trader for the

appropriate price.

Procurement for and training of vessel's staff

In procurement for vessel's staff, Seahorse hires Jutha
Maritime Public Company Limited which has knowledge and
expertise in navigation for the navigation management and

procurement of vessel's staff for Seahorse. The staff to be

recruited for on-board operation must possess the following

qualifications:

* having the license or certification in accordance with the
position issued by the relevant department;

* having been trained in a course certified by the Marine
Department for the compliance of the related international
navigation regulattions;

* should have at least 2 years of experience in the related
position;

* having passed the test arranged by Seahorse and passed
the interview with the supervisor in the respective position;

* Seahorse shall arrange a training program for every ves
sel's staff for acknowledgement and understanding in the
company's operation and the International Safety Management

System.

Associated Companies

The Company indirectly holds 49% of shares in Laem Chanbang
Ro-Ro Terminal Co., Ltd. (“LRT or Associated company”) by
holding 49% of shares in NYKT International Terminal Co.,
Ltd. ("NYKT") which holds 100% of shares in LRT.

Nature of products and services

LRT is a Ro/Ro and general cargo terminal operator of CO
Terminal located in Laem Chabang Port, Sriracha District,
Chonburi Province. The service of LRT is similar to the
Company's service of A5 Terminal, i.e., terminal service and
other related services. At present, major cargos loaded and
discharged through CO Terminal are general cargos, such as

special project structures and steel products and etc.

Service of LRT at CO Terminal
Services provided by LRT at CO Terminal can be categorised
into two types, i.e., terminal service and other services related

to the core business. The details of which are as follows:

Terminal Service
The terminal service at Terminal CO is similar to the service

of A5 Terminal, which consists of berth hire service, wharfage
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service, wharf handling service and short-term storage service.

Service to shipping lines for the use of berth in docking
their vessels at berth (Berth Hire)
CO Terminal has U shape with the depth of 16 meters from

the mid-sea level and the width of 600 meters, consisting
of three berths, i.e, 1%t Berth at 250 meters width, ond Berth
at 250 meters width and 3™ Berth at 100 meters width. CO

Terminal can accommodate up to an 80,000 DWT vessel.

CO Terminal of LRT

At present, CO Terminal’'s major customers are general cargo
exporters and importers, such as special project structures,
steel products, Train and it's railway and etc. The exporters
and importers will hire shipping lines to collect or deliver the
cargos at CO Terminal. LRT will charge the berth hire fee at the
rate specified by the PAT which is calculated from the GRT.

Service to shipping lines for transshipment of cars or
general cargo) on and off vessels (Wharfage)

The wharfage service of CO Terminal is similar to that of A5
Terminal, i.e., upon docking, LRT shall provide the wharfage
service by allowing the shipping lines' stevedore to load or
discharge the cargos from or into the vessel. CO Terminal’s
service can be categorized into 4 types as to A5 Terminal, i.e.,
export cargo, import cargo, through cargo and transshipment
cargo. LRT will charge the wharfage fee at the rate specified
by the PAT which is calculated from the type and weight of

the cargo.

Service to car manufacturers for moving cars or cargo
within the terminal (Wharf Handling)

CO Terminal has a total wharf handling area of 315,400 square
meters. At present, LRT has separated the area of service into
two different sections according to cargo types in order to
prevent damage incurred from a potential accident during the
wharfage handling. The two sections comprise of Zone 1 for
Ro/Ro cargo, mainly cars which has 146,535 square meters
and is located in the south of the terminal and capable to
accommodate approximately 5,876 cars. Such zone consists
three main areas similar to A5 Terminal, i.e., pre-loading area,
receiving area and import area. Additionally, the Zone 2 is
for general cargo, such as special project cargos and steel
products. This zone has 165,740 square meters and located in
the north of the terminal and also has an area of 3,125 square

meters used as warehouses, offices, and others.
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Wharf Handling Area at CO Terminal

In providing wharf handling service within CO Terminal, if
the products in service are cars, the service provided will be
similar to A5 Terminal, i.e., when the products are exported,
LRT will provide the service from the receiving area to the pre-loading
area in order to deliver the products to the shipping line. On
the other hand, when products are imported, LRT will provide
the service starting from the import area and deliver the
product to the importer. In addition, LRT also provides the
service of transferring the products from the area in front of
the terminal and store them in the pre-loading area for further

delivery to the shipping lines.

Service to exporters / importers / shipping lines for short-term
car or cargo storage at the terminal (Short-term Storage)
Exporters, importers, or shipping lines can store their cars or
cargo that will be exported, imported, or transshipped in the
terminal without any charges for a specific period of time
(3 days from the date LRT receives the cargo for import and
export and 15 days from the date LRT receives the cargo for

transshipment).

Other services related to the core business

In addition to the terminal service, LRT also provides other
services related to the loading / discharging, such as equipment
rental service and car cleaning service before import or export

for the convenience of customers of CO Terminal.

Supply of products and services of LRT
Supply of area for business operation

LRT signed the Agreement for Investment, Construction,
Management and Operation of CO Terminal at Laem Chabang
Port with PAT on 29 August 2005. Under such agreement,
LRT is permitted to develop, manage, and operate CO Terminal,
providing that the services shall be for receiving or delivering,
storing, and providing Ro/Ro service of general cargos and

containers only.

Outsourcing

= Car inspection and counting
LRT has engaged an outsourced company who has experience
and expertise in inspecting and counting cars to provide the
service for export or import to give confidence to exporters

or importers when they deliver or receive the products.

= Car moving
LRT hires an outsourced company as a contractor to provide
car moving service. The outsourced company is responsible
to move all cars that have been expoerted, imported, or
transshipped with a professional manner and international
standard and is required to submit a report thereof on a
daily basis. The outsourced company will be liable for damage

incurred by intention, negligence or gross negligence.

Market and competition

The Company is a Ro/Ro terminal operator for car export
and import. From 2018 to 2020, the average revenue from
providing the services at 77.98 percent of the total revenue is

derived from car export service. Therefore, the main industries
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that have direct impact to the Company’s business operation
are terminal service industry for car export and import, as well

as, Thailand's automotive industry for export.

Port Industry for Car Export and Import
Terminal service Industry is one of the industries that is
essential for the economic development of developing

countries. It can be said that it is a center for international trade.

There are many terminals located in each of the country’s
regions which can be divided into terminals for domestic and

international trade and transportation.

Terminals for international trade are deep sea ports that
support ocean liners in docking and loading and discharging
large heavy cargos. Most of these ports are owned by the
government, such as Bangkok Port of PAT which has a depth
of approximately 8.5 meters to 11 meters from the mean sea
level, Laem Chabang Port of PAT which has a depth of
approximately 14 meters, and Map Ta Phut Port of IEAT which

has a length approximately 12.5 meters.

These state-owned terminals for international trade may be
divided to the parts that managed by the state and the parts
that managed by private sector, such as, A5 Terminal under
the concession agreement in management of Laem Chabang

Port from the PAT.

Ports in Thailand are established with various objectives which
can be divided into 7 categories according to the types of
cargoes as (1) container, (2) fishing, (3) passenger, (4) general

cargo, (5) bulk cargo, (6) liquid, and (7) Roll-on/Roll-off

Currently, ports for automotives that are the Roll-On Roll-Off
(Ro/Ro) type in service for export and import are only available at
Laem Chabang Port as it is a deep sea port that can facilitate
an extra large vessel, namely Super Post Panamax, including
car carrier vessels. Besides, the port is located near the areas
of car manufacturing and exporting hubs. This allows the
exporters of cars to transfer cars from the manufacturing
area to the port for export in the shortest distance. There
are three terminals at Laem Chabang Port that are allowed
to provide Ro/Ro terminal service for car export and import,

i.e.,, Al Terminal, A5 Terminal, CO Terminal. A5 Terminal is

the the most integrated port service for car exportation and
importation. A1 Terminal is a passenger terminal and Ro/Ro
with priority given to passenger service. CO Terminal is the
port for Ro/Ro and general cargos, currently, most of which
are general cargos. Therefore, AT Terminal and CO Terminal
have no capability to provide integrate Ro/Ro for car export
and import as A5 Terminal. This indicates that A5 Terminal
is efficient and capable to satisfy customers’ demand, i.e.,

shipping lines and car exporters and importers.

Thailand's Automotive Industry for Export
The value of car exports is in a top rank of Thailand's total
export value and the expansion of the production and export

continue to increase continuously.

Since 2000, every carbinet has set a policy targeting that
Thailand shall be the automotive hub of Asia or the center of
automotive industry of Asia which is in accordance with the
master plan on automotive industry development. In setting
such target, the government has cooperated with the private
sector in order to achieve such target, i.e., the Eco-Car Project,
automotive standardization project, and auto parts and development
technology center project. In addition, the Board of Investment
("BOI") also supports in drawing the investment of the
incentive adjustment in auto assembly business and auto part
manufacturing business by encouraging the establishment
of a cluster or package of auto assembly business and auto
part manufacturing business which the promoted person will
be granted with a tax exemption for all machines, regardless
such promoted person is an auto assembly business or an
auto part manufacturing business. As aresult of such incentive
admustment, the major car manufacturers in Japan has chosen
Thailand as their production base in the region. In 2003,
Toyota has relocated its production base pick-up trucks to
Thailand. Nissan has also annouced to adjust their management
strategies, production and investment where Thailand has
been chosen as their production base in this region. As a
result of the readiness in infrastructure and network of auto
parts, along with expertise and diligence of workers and
technical workers, as well as the continuos support from the
government including the free car manufacturing and trade
policy, investment and tax incentive and the revocation of Thai
manufactured auto part measure, enhance and strengthen

the Thai automotive industry that Thailand has become one
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of the car manufacturing base for export in Asia and such products, including cars, auto parts, and its components have
industry has become one of the country’s core industries that  the highest export value, where Australia, Indonesia, and

generate income for the country from export. In 2020, several  Japan are Thailand's main importers.

Value of Thailand's Top 10 Goods exports in 2020 (THB billion)

Air condition and

equipment
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Instant oil
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6545 Car, equipment

and parts
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Electrical and

Macchinery and
equipment
20210

Chemicals
20878 Value of Thailand's Top 10
Goods exports in 2020

Integrated circuits (THB billion)

Computer, equipment
222.07

and parts
578.94

Plastic beads
247.33
Gems and Jewelry
Rubber products 567.00

375.34

Source : Thailand Trading Report System of the Ministry of Commerce
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Cars are one of Thailand's products having most export value. The car manufacturing industry has still grown and exported

more cars which indicate that Thailand has a continuous increase number of manufactured cars and exported cars.

Numbers of Thailand's Cars Produced and Exported from 2010 - 2020

Year 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Numbers of Cars 1.65 146 245 246 1.88 1.91 194 199 217 201 143

Produced (million unit)

Growth Rate (%) 64.63 (1140) 14 (23.49) 1.76 : 899 (710) (2914)

Numbers of Cars 0.90 0.74 1.03 113 113 1.20 119 114 114 1.05 0.74

Exported (million unit)

Growth Rate (%) 6727 (17.89) (0.00) 681 (136) &1 008 (8.21) (3019

Proportion of Thailand’'s 5445 5046 41.84 4591 60.01 6298 6112 5731 5262 5235 5157
Cars Exported to cars
Produced (%)

Source :

The Federation of Thai Industries

Numbers of Cars Exported and Imported through A5 Terminal from 2010 - 2020
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In 2015, Thailand's numbers of cars manufactured had
slightly increased by 32,995 which equal to the growth rate
of 1.76 percent which was partly attributable to the launch
of a new commercial car model and the accelerate in car
purchase before the increase of the car excise tax that was
effective in 2016. The increasing of number of exported cars
was 76,793 or equivalent to the growth rate of 6.81 % from
comparing to 2014.

In 2016, Thailand's numbers of cars manufactured had slightly
increased by 31,415 which equal to the growth rate of 1.64
percent. The number of cars exported had slightly decreased
to 16,380 or equivalent to 1.36 percent comparing to 2015.
The number of cars exported was impacted from the demand
of pick up trucks from the Middle East which was the direct

variation from lower oil price.

In 2017, Thailand’'s numbers cars manufactured had slightly
increased by 44,406 or 2.28 percent comparing to 2016,
while the number of cars exported had decreased to 48,819
or 411 percent. The main reason was the downtrend of crude
oil prices in the Middle East which has continuously affected
since 2016 resulting in the deterioration of car export to such
region. In 2017, the increasing automotive export to Australia
duetoits shutdown of domestic automotive factories substituted
for the decreasing export to Middle East and Australia remains

the main exported market of Thailand.

In 2018, car production had increased by 178,871 or 8.99
percent from 2017 due mainly to local market expansion as
a result of the expiration of the 5-year requirement on the
first-time car buyer scheme project. In addition, launching
several new models and the sales promotion supported for
the local market growth. Vehicle export, on the contrary,

slightly increased from 2017.

In 2019, the number of domestic car production was 2,013,710
which was decreased by 153,984 units or 7.10 percent from
2018 due to the trade war, tension in the Middle East and
Korean Peninsula, and Baht appreciation. Car exportation in

2019 had decreased by 86,537 or 8.21 percent. Although,

there were stimulus measures from the government such as
the special supporting program to underprivileged people and

farmers, and public investment in the infrastructure projects.

In 2020, there has been a spread of COVID-19 since the begining of
the year. The full and strict disease control measures of many
countries, including Thailand, such as the lockdown measure,
social distancing measure and restrictions on
international travel have been implemented which has affected
the export industry, decreased the employment rate in many
industries and severely caused the domestic production and
consumption. Car manufacturers have temporary halted their
production in the ond quarter and resumed production in the
3 quarter causing the domestic car production in 2020
amounted to 1,426,970, which was decreased by 586,740
or equivalent to 29.14 percent from 2019. Car export in 2020
has decreasedin an amount of 318,261 or equivalent to 30.19

percent.

Target Customers group

The main target of the customers group is car manufacturers
that export the cars to foreign countries using the area of the
dock of the Company to export the car to other coutnres,
including the area behind as to prepare for the exportation.
However, there are also importers as the Company's customers
whose the products transferred through the terminal are,

such as, vans, luxury cars, heavy materials, auto parts and etc.

In the past 3 years, the Company's terminal services were
provided to several car brands, such as Toyota, Honda, Isuzu,
Mitsubishi, Ford, Mazda and etc. Therefore, the Company’s
terminal is the terminal that has exported most number of cars
in Thailand. Thisis because the Company can well satisfy the
customers' need as the Company'’s service is integrated and
has international standard, including the area for parking, or
the inspection of the cars before export. All of these allude
the satisfaction and good relationship with the customers

resulting in their loyalty toward the Company.

Competition Strategies

Terminal Proximity to Customer's Production Hubs
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The Company's A5 Terminal and LRT's CO Terminal are located
in Laem Chabang Port which is supported and promoted by the
government to be Thailand's main port instead of Bangkok
Port which has a policy to limit the number of the containers
through the Bangkok Port for no more than 1.0 million TEU
since 1996. The Company's terminals are also deep sea ports
located near car production and export hubs. The exporters
would like to move their cars from the factory to the port at
the shortest distance in order to prevent the risk from any
damage and incur the lowest cost of transportation. Moreover,
Laem Chabang Port could be accessed by trucks and train and
is closed to the production hub of our customers which is an
advantage for the Company. In short, Laem Chabang Port is
situated in a good location with the base of the production

of the customers.

In addition, the Company’s A5 Terminal is located in a good
geographical area of Laem Chabang port in which it is closed
to the entrance of the shipping lines toward Laem Chabang
port. This is a huge benefit gain for the Company to operate
the business in shipping lines for docking since it is the first
dock to be entered. In this regard, it has the shortest route
and the least rate of expenses in hire a tug boat in and out of
the dock. Additionally, the Company’s terminal is connected
to the break water which protects the terminal from wind and
wave. In short, from all of the advantages mentioned above,
the Company is likely to be superior than any other terminal

in Laem Chabang Port.

State-of-the-Art and Efficient Ro/Ro Terminal IT Management
Systems

Apart from the expertise and experience of the Company in
this business for more than 16 years, the Company continually
developes Ro/Ro management systems by bringing in state-of-
the-art information technology for efficiency and to meet the
international standard. Such IT systems are Port Management
System (PMS), Pure Car Carrier System (PCS), Beyond RORO
Port (BRP), Auto Web service Management (AWM). The 4
programs record and manage cargo data electronically and
manage loading and discharging logistics. In addition, the

Company cooperates with car manufacturers in developing

a cargo managing and inspecting system through portable
barcode scanners that are linked to computer network system.
With this system, it can track and inspect the accuracy of cars
and each car position parked in the terminal area, verify the
cars with the information given by the customers, and reduce
errors in transferring the cars with the exporter companies as
well. Moreover, the system increases its efficiency in worthy
managing the terminal space so that it can fully and timely

support customers’ needs.

Fully-Integrated Services Responding to Customers' Needs
The Company focuses on providing prime, rapid and fully-integrated
services that meet customers’ needs in which apart from that

the Company also offer the related services to the customers too.

For the customers that are car importers and exporters, the
Company has provided a short-term storage area for preparation
to export, cleaning services for the imported and exported
cars, rental of the materials and tools, i.e., forklift for transfer
the produts to the area near the terminal. In addition, the
Company also provides additional services to shippling lines,
i.e., the stevedore from the area in front of the Company in or
out of the ship, which this shipping lines in service is Toyofuji
Shipping Co., Ltd. ("Toyofuji"), which is the operator of the
shipping lines for Toyota. In this regard, the Company believes
that the integrated service is one of the strategies to satisfy
the need of the services and convenience for the customers.
This results in trust by car manufacturers and the world leading
companies of shipping lines in using the terminal of the

Company as the main terminal to transport cars overtime.

Sustainable Customer Relationships

The Company sustains its good relationship with customers
by constantly maintaining service quality and paying attention
to the customers’ needs, leading to the development of the
IT management systems to fully support the services and
to solve customers' problems promptly, including solve the
problem that the customers confronted instantly by sending
the mobile unit in when the customers needed. All of these
allude the trust on the service of wharfage of the Company

for transporting the cars.
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Marketing and Competition Situation of Seahorse

Industry Trend

2019 - 2021, the business of transport of goods by roads,
which is the target group of Seahorse is likely to grow 1-2
percent per year. The supporting factors are the growth of
the production, trade and public and private investment,
including the increase in the agricultural production resulting
in the increase rate of the demand in transportation and the
distribution of the domestic sale. In addition, the transportation
service providers also receive positive factors from trade in the
border area that continuously grows, plus the online trading

and e-commerce become more popular.

Competition Trend

According to the recent situation of shipping goods and trans-
port passenger business, Seahorse is the first and sole service
provider in which there is no direct competitor, but there may
be some subtituted transportations as follows:

Transportation by roads

1 B Interms of time, this is the most flexible way of transpotation,
but there are problems in the route between the South and the
East resulting from the project of contruction of Rama 2 road,
which causes traffic that may delay the transportion to be on
schedule. In addition, road transportation exposes accidental
risks which may cause damage to goods and vehicles, as well

as time spent on the route.

2 Transportation by rails

B This type of transportation has an advantage only in the
cost of transportation between the departure station and the
destination station. However, with regard to other expenses,
this transportation has the highest cost and take longest time

than any other types of transportation since the current rail

is a single rail track. Nevertheless, the Government has a
project to build double rail track which will shorten time of

transportation in future.

Transportation with ship along the coast
3 B This type of transportation has an advantage only in the
cost of transportation between the departure station and the
destination station. However, with regard to other expenses,
this transportation, in total, has higher cost and take longer
time, as well as the contraints in using equipments for lifting

and facilities in transporting the goods on and off the ship.

The advantages in competition

The competitivesness of Seahorse in the transportation of

goods and passengers business is the ability to provide different

services from transportatin by roads, rail, and ship along the

coas. Seahorse's cargo transportation and passenger

transportation services are provided with quality and satifaction

to the customers in respect of safety, punctuality, and total

costs saving by the readiess of the staffs and vehicles. Seahorse

is ready in several aspects to compete as presented in the

following strong points:

1. Seahorse is the first service provider in transporting by Ro/
Ro Passenger (ROPAX) in Thailand

2. The services satisfies the need of transportation across the
Gulf of Thailand and supports the growth of the demand in
distribution of industrialized products in East, including the
Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC) to the industries and the
consumers in the South.

3. Seahorse has foreign staffs with knowledge, capability,
expertise and experience in shipping that can ensure the

compliance with the inernational standard of Seahorse.
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The Marketing of Seahorse

From the study of the volume of transportations, it is shown

that the volume of truck transportations with 10 wheels or

more between the East and the west regions, and the South
is of 7,320 per day, which can be categorized as follows:

1. Depart from the East to west region (Phetchaburi/ Prachuap
Khiri Khan) accounts for 10 percent (740 rounds)

2. Depart from the East to the Sourth at the Gulf of Thailand
accounts for 55 percent (5 percent thereof is for transport
of goods across the boarder to Malaysia) (4,030 rounds)

3. Depart from the East to the South at Andaman sea accounts

for 35 percent (2,550 rounds)

ROPAX service is a new type of transportation for good
and passenger marine transportation creating differentiation

from other types with a potential of the long-term growth.

Target Customers

Cargo owners, manufacturers, importers and/or
1 m exporters - business operators in several industries,
such as, automotive and auto part industry, instant food and
beverage industry, electric appliance industry, rubber and

rubber wood industry and metal industry and etc.

These customers are interested in ROPAX service as they
expect for worthiness in fixed schedule and the long-term
reduction of cost. These customers also have leverage in

negotiating with logistic agencies and transporters.

Making understanding and providing transporation options
to show the customers the difference of each type of transporation,

as well as, estimation of long-term benefit to be gained.

2 Logistic agents - transport management service
m providers, such as, freight forwarder, third party

logistics providers, and fourth party logistics providers and etc.

These customers understand ROPAX services very well as
they realize the value and furture business opportunity from

thes services.

Focusing on knowledge and understanding in ROPAX services
and introducing options that enable long-term cost reduction

and maximize business capability.

3 Transportation service providers - public cargo

B transportaters and personal cargo transporters.

These cutomers do not have a good understanding in the
nature of ROPAX sevice and are affraid that this service will

take their market share.

Focusing on providing detailed knowledge, including the
advantages and disadvantages of ROPAX service, as well as
providing business management advice to match with ROPAX

sevice and presenting business growth opportunity.

Strategy for Determination of Service Fee

The service fee is prescribed in accordance with the cost
which can compete with the transportation by road in order
to help service users, who change to use ROPAX service, to
reduce costs (cost reduction) comparing to self transportation.
Inthis regard, the service fee varies based on the type of vehicles,
such as, trucks with trailers, single trucks, small trucks,

passenger cars, and other vehicles.

Distributing Channels

1. Use of direct marketing and customer direct contact to build
customer base in transportation industry.

2.Use of Seahorse's website as the platform to communicate
with the customers and booking.

3. Use of frontend employees to advertise and provide infor

maiton to customers.
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Assets Used in Business Operations

Assets Used in Business Operations of the Company'’s subsidiary
The Company's Main Assets used in Business Operation

Assets Used in Business Operations of the Company
The Company's Main Assets used in Business Operations

Item Characterized Value (THB Million) ltem Characterized Encumbrance Value (THB Million)
ownership - as of 31Dec 20 ownership as of 31 Dec 20
Rights under the terminal service concession agreement Concessionaire 1,552.83 Vessel (asset under construction) Owner Mortgaged 209.54
Area of PAT's A5 Terminal Office furniture and equipment and tool Owner - 4.40
Deductions Intangible assets Owner - -
Amortization of concession rights under the terminal (1,516.50)
Remark :
Service concession agreement 36.33 As of 31 December 2020, The Company subsidiary's vessel was at the price of the net book value of THB 209.54 million which was mortgaged as collaterals for loan
Total of rights under the terminal service concession agreement with the financial institution. The vessel is an ownership of Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. and was made credit ship line. The Company subsidiary 's handed
agreement - net Right-of—use assetsz over ship registration issuance by Marine Department and the vessel's appraisal to the bank as its method.
Right-of-use Land, buildings and equipment Lease agreement 3174.79
Deductions Summary of the Key Agreements Relevant to the Business Operations
Amortization of right-of-use Land, Buildings and Equipment (1488.80) Agreement for Investment in Construction, Management and Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal
Total of right-of-use assets - net 1,685.99 Parties Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and Port
Land, Building and Equipment3’4 Authority of Thailand ("PAT").
Land Owner 21.39 . . . . . .
Purpose To operate the terminal service business for exportation and importation
Yards Owner 91213 of cars as well as general cargo at the A5 Terminal, located at Laem
Buildings and other constructions Owner 1,034.20 Chabang Port, Chonburi Province.
Machines and equipment Owner 16.90
Office furniture and equipment Owner 15142 Term of agreement 25 years from1May 1996 - 30 April 2021; the Company may extend the
Ut . 5 9177 term of the agreement for another 5 years (under the terms and conditions
Nty system wner ‘ agreed by both parties) by submitting a request in writing at least 2 years
Vehicle Owner 53.17 prior to the expiry date.
Asset under construction Owner 21.00
Deductions The Company was informed by the President of Laemchabang Port as
Accumulated depreciation (1.443.81) letter n.o. TorLor;hor 25/790 that in the meeting of the Board of Port
Authority of Thailand no.15/2563 (2020) dated 24 November 2020
Total of Land, Building and Equipment - net 988.17

Remark :

1
The Company holds ownership in the real properties which include the infrastructure procured by the Company. Upon the end of the concession agreement, the owner

ship in the real properties shall be vested to PAT and PAT is entitled to purchase the movable properties of the Company in whole or in part according to the price of the

current book value. Please refer to the material detail of the main agreement relevant to the business operations.

2
The Company adopted right-of-use assets for all lease agreements with a term of more than 12 months (unless the underlying asset is low value) as specified by TFRS

16 : Leases.

3
The Company holds ownership in constructions or assets situated in the rented area which are procured by the Company, whereby the Company shall decommission those

structures from the area after the expiration of the concession agreement.

4
The Company has provided the leasing rights and mortgaged the structures situated in certain rented area as collaterals for the bank guarantee and credit line from the bank.

Computer Program and Software

Remuneration

approved extending term of agreement for investment in Construction,
Management and Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal by amending the
agreement as specified by the Public-Private Partnership, Act B.E.2562
(20719) to 5 years until 30 April 2026. The extension is now processing
under the Public-Private Partnership, Act B.E.2562 (2019).

The Company must pay remuneration to PAT. The remuneration shall be
divided into 2 types; the annual remuneration and additional remuneration
for the case where the amount of the product surpasses the amount
specified. The annual remuneration must be paid by 4 equal installments,
and each installment shall be paid before the beginning of each quarter.
The additional remuneration in the case where the amount of the product

Item Characterl.zed Encumbrance Value (THB Million) surpasses the amount specified shall be paid at the end of the operation
ownership as of 31 Dec 20 Jear
Computer program and software Owner None 1.66

Key conditions of the agreement

* A natural or juristic person of Thai nationality shall hold at least 51
percent of shares during the term of the agreement and the paid-up
registered capital shall be not less than THB 120 million.
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Termination

* The Company shall have ownership in the assets of infrastructure, equipment
and facilities used in the operation of terminal, which are procured by
the Company during the term of the agreement. Upon the expiration
of the agreement, all real properties including the infrastructure shall be
vested to PAT and PAT is entitled to purchase the movable properties
in whole or in part according to the price of the current book value.

» PAT shall specify (1) the structure of the port charges and (2) the rate of
the port tariff. The Company may not collect the port charges in excess

of the rates specified by PAT.

* When the term of operation under the agreement expires.

* When the Company violates the material terms of the agreement
which hinders and causes damage to the management and operation
of the terminal.

» Termination of the agreement by reason of national security, public

safety or necessity, government orders or other similar reasons.

Termination

* When the term of operation under the agreement expires.

* When LRT violates the material terms of the agreement which hinders
and causes damage to the management and operation of the terminal.

« Termination of the agreement by reason of national security, public

safety or necessity, government orders or other similar reasons.

Lease Agreement or Service Agreement of the Area/Land to Provide Car Storage Area Services, Cargo Storage Services

and Warehouse Services

Parties/Lessor/Service
Provider

Term of Agreement

(Years)

Key conditions of the agreement

Agreement for Investment, Management and Operation of CO Terminal Located at Laem Chabang Port

Parties

Purpose

Term of Agreement

Remuneration

Key conditions of the agreement

Laemchabang International Ro-Ro Terminal Limited (“LRT") and Port
Authority of Thailand (“PAT").

To receive/deliver, store, load/discharge Ro/Ro cargos, general cargos and
containers only. A written approval from PAT shall be obtained prior to
undertaking the aforementioned services of other cargos.

30 years from 1 September 2005 - 31 August 2035. LRT may extend
the agreement for 2 more periods; each period shall consist of 10 years
(under the terms and conditions agreed by both parties) by submitting a
written request to extend the term at least 2 years prior to the expiry date.

LRT must pay remuneration to PAT. The remuneration shall be divided
into 2 types; the annual remuneration and additional annual remunera-
tion specified in the agreement. In one operation year, both types of
remuneration must be paid in 4 equal installments and each installment
shall be paid before the start of each quarter.

* A natural or juristic person of Thai nationality shall hold at least 51
percent of shares during the term of the agreement and the paid-up
registered capital shall be not less than THB 50 million.

* LRT shall hold ownership in the assets of infrastructure, equipment and
facilities used in the operation of terminal, which are procured by the
Company during the term of the agreement. Upon the expiration of the
agreement, all real properties including the infrastructure shall be vested
to PAT and PAT is entitled to purchase the movable properties in whole
or in part according to the price of the current book value.

* PAT shall specify (1) the structure of the port charges and (2) the rate
of the port tariff. LRT may not collect the port charges in excess of the
rates specified by PAT.

PAT

[EAT

Other service providers

3-20 years

20 - 30 years

3 years

* The Company shall hold ownership of the real properties
of infrastructure procured by the Company. Upon expiration
of the agreement, the ownership in the real properties
shall be vested to PAT. Furthermore, the Company must
decommission any part of the structure which PAT does
not wish to keep.

* In respect of the movable properties of the Company, PAT
is entitled to purchase the properties in whole or in part
according to the price of the current book value.

* During the term of the agreement, PAT is entitled to raise
the rental fees.

* The Company shall hold ownership of the structures or
assets procured by the Company. Upon expiration of the
Agreement, the Company must decommission the structure
from the area.

* The Company may pledge, mortgage or use as collateral
with financial institutions of its leasing rights and structures
by notifying the IEAT within 30 days from the undertaking
date.

* During the term of the agreement, IEAT is entitled to raise
the rental fees for some agreements.

* The Company shall hold ownership of the structures and
properties procured by the Company. Upon expiration
of the agreement, the Company must decommission the
structures from the area.
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Investment in its subsidiary and associated companies
As of 31 December 2020, the Company has 1 subsidiary company and 2 associated companies as follows:

Company name Type of business

Subsidiary company

Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. Passenger (ROPAX) Ferry
("Seahorse") Services

Associated Company Holding all shares of LRT
NYKT International Terminal

Co., Ltd. ("NYKT")

Laemchabang International Providing services at CO Terminal
Ro-Ro Terminal Limited located at Laem Chabang Port
("LRT")

Share Registered capital Paid up capital
(percentage) (THB Million)  (THB Million)
51 100 93
49 401 401
100 210 210
(by holding
through NYKT
shares)

Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. (“Seahorse")

Currently, the Company holds 51 percent of the total issued
ordinary shares in Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. (“Seahorse”)
which is caused Seahorse as the Company's subsidiary. Sea-
horse provides ROPAX Ferry Service to connect between East
Coast and West/South Coasts, Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan is

a director who is representative of the Company.

According to the rules in maintaining its status as a listed com-
pany in the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Company must
have no conflict of interest as specified in the Notification of
the Capital Market Supervisory Board and no person with
possible conflict of interest holds more than 10 percent of the
total voting shares of the subsidiary or associated company,
except it can be shown that the shareholding structure of

such subsidiary or associated company is in the best benefit.

In this regards, RORO Passenger (ROPAX) Ferry Services is
the new business in Thailand and will increase the opportunity
for new business apart from the current businesses of the
Company. Mr. Theparak Leungsuwan holds 20 percent of
shares and Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan holds 14 percent of
shares, both of them having business knowledge and high
experience in vessels' logistic industry are initiative persons of
this new project, and also have the important rules in inviting
other joint investors and sourcing of fund from the financial
institutions. Holding applicable proportion of shares in this
subsidiary shall create confidence of other shareholders and

the financial institutions in participating on this new business.

NYKT International Terminal Co., Ltd. (“NYKT")

NYKT has been incorporated as a result of the amalgamation
between Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand) Limited (“SRT") (the
previous subsidiary company of the Company) and Global
Cargo (Thailand) Limited ("GCT"). The key business of NYKT
is the investment in all shares of Laemchabang International

Ro-Ro Terminal Limited ("LRT").

Under this amalgamation, NYKT's shares were allotted to the
shareholders of SRT and GCT. The share capital of NYKT in
the allotment was the combination of the total paid-up share
capital of both companies or equivalent to THB 400,644,900
divided into 4,006,449 shares with a par value of THB 100
per share. Upon calculation of the fair value of each company,
the Company (as a shareholder of SRT) and the shareholders
of GCT were allotted with 801,290 and 3,205,159 shares of
NYKT respectively.

Later, in February 2019, the Company exercised its rights
to purchase 1,161,870 NYKT's shares, equivalent to 29.00
percent of the total issued and paid-up shares of NYKT, from
Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha Group (“NYK") under the
shareholders’ agreement between the Company and NYK.
After such transaction, the Company shall hold additional
NYKT's shares by an increase from 20.00 percent to 49.00
percent of the total issued and paid-up shares of NYKT. NYKT

remains an associated company of the Company.
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Laemchabang International Ro-Ro Terminal Limited (“LRT")
Currently, LRT has a registered and paid-up capital of THB
210 million divided into 500,000 ordinary shares with a par
value of THB 100 per share and 1,600,000 preferred shares
with a par value of THB 100.

The articles of association of LRT specifies that the ordinary
shareholders are entitled to receive dividends before the
preferred shareholders. The ordinary shareholders are entitled
to receive dividends of 0.50 percent of the value of paid-up
shares per annum but the ordinary shares are non-cumulative
to unpaid dividends of such year. The ordinary share has a
voting right of 1 vote per share. The preferred shareholders
are entitled to receive dividends of 7 percent of the value of
paid-up shares per annum, whereby the preferred shares are
cumulative but non-participating. The preferred share has a
voting right of 1vote per 100 shares. In this regard, any remains
from dividend payment to such ordinary and preferred shareholders

shall be distributed to ordinary shareholders according to

shareholding proportion.

Investment Policy in its Subsidiary and Associated
Companies

The Company has a policy in investing in businesses which
support and benefit the Company’s business by considering
the yield and other benefits upon investment which the Company
anticipates to receive in order to support and promote the
Company’s business, as well as to assess the appropriate
investment proportion and anticipated yield upon investment
for the benefit of the shareholders. In this regard, the investment
assessment shall be approved by the Board of Directors or
a shareholders’ meeting, as the case may be. The Company
shall supervise and control the investment by appointing a
director or authorized person as a representative according
to the shareholding proportion to ensure the participation
in determining the key policies, managing of the respective
businesses and voting in the Board of Director's meeting and a

shareholder's meeting of the respective companies as determined

by the Company for the best benefit of the Company.
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Business Structure General Information

As of 31 December 2020 Of the Com pa ny

General information (as of 31 December 2020)

Leungsuwan Family

Company Name Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited
Security Symbol NYT
100% Type of Business Aroll onroll off terminal operator. The Company offers terminal services, car storage

areas and warehousing services in Thailand.

Head Office Address 168/52 (Lumpini Tower 19th Floor) Rama IV Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn,

Nam Yuen Yong N.Y.K. (Thailand) Co., Ltd

Shipping Co., Ltd. RS Bangkok 10120
Tel. 66 (0) 2679 7357
Fax. 66 (0) 2285 6642

e 0% Branch Office 51, Moo 3, Laemchabang Terminal, Thungsukkhla, Sriracha, Chonburi 20230
Tel. 66 (0) 38 401 062-4
Fax. 66 (0) 38 401061
Registration Number 0107555000163
N Terminal Publi
amyt?ng' erminat FUBlc NYK Group Registered and Paid-up capital THB 620,000,000 consisting of 1,240,000,000 shares at the par value of THB 0.50
Company Limited (“the Company")

Home Page www.namyongterminal.com

General information of companies which the Company holds 10 % or more of Paid-up capital details as follows:

51% Company and Office Address Type of Business Registered Capital/ Type of issued % of Share

Paid-up Capital shares Holding

. H i L 4 0,
Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. NYKT International Terminal Co., Ltd. Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. (“Seahorse") Passenger (ROPAX) THB 100,000,000/ 1000000 ordinary shares 51 % of shares held by

("NYKT™) 168/76, Lumpini Tower 26" Floor, Rama IV Road, Ferry Services THB 93,000,050 at the par value of the Company

(“Seahorse™)

Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120 THB 100

Tel. 66 (0) 26797357
100%

Fax. 66 (0) 2285 6642

NYKT International Terminal Co., Ltd. Holding company THB 400,644,900 / 4006449 ordinary shares 49 % of shares held
Laemchabang International Ro-Ro
) - N " (“NYKT™) THB 400,644,900 at the par value of THB by the Company
Terminal Limited (“LRT") "
25257 Floor Tower 1, FY| Center, Rama IV Road, 100

Klongtoey, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110
Tel. 66 (0) 2002 7660

Fax. 66 (0) 2002 7069

Laemchabang International Ro-Ro CO Terminal operatorat ~ THB 210,000,000 / 500,000 ordinary shares  100% of shares held
Remark :
! To serve RORO Passenger (ROPAX) Ferry Services is the new business in Thailand and to increase the opportunity for new business apart from the current businesses Terminal Limited (“LRT") Laemchabang Terminal THB 210,000,000 at the par value of by the Company and
of the Company, Mr. Theparak Leungsuwan holds 20 percent and Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan holds 14 percent of shares who have business knowledge and high experience in 88,/3 Moo 3, Thungsukkhla, Sriracha, Chonburi THB 100 NYKT
vessels' logistic industry are initiative persons of this new project, and also have the important rules in inviting other joint investors and sourcing of fund from the financial
20230

institutions. Holding applicable proportion of shares in this subsidiary shall create confidence of other shareholders and the financial institutions in participating on this

new business. Tel. 66 (0) 38 408 700 1,600,000 preferred

* LRT's capital structure comprises ordinary shares with the voting right of one share per one vote, and preference shares with the voting right of 100 shares per one vote.

« NYK Group is Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha Group Fax. 66 (0) 38 401061 shares at the par value

of THB 100
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Shareholders

Top 10 major shareholders as of 31 December 2020 are as follows:
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Name of shareholders

Number of shares

% of Shares

1. Leuangsuwan Family

11 Namyuenyong Shipping Company Limited
1.2 Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan

13 Mrs. Preeyanan Leungsuwan

14 Ms. Phatwadee Leungsuwan

15 Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan

1.6 Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

1.7 Mr. Boonchai Leungsuwan

1.8 Mr. Boonyawat Leungsuwan

1.9 Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan

110 Mr. Prabhun Prachumbhun

m Mrs. Penchun Leungsuwan

112 Mrs. Lawan Leungsuwan

113 Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

Total

2. N.Y.K. (Thailand) Company Limited

3. Southeast Life Insurance Co., Ltd.

4. BBHISL NOMINEES LIMITED

5. N.C.B.TRUST LIMITED-NORGES BANK 1
6. Thai NVDR Company Limited

7. Southeast Insurance Co., Ltd. (Equity)

8. STATE STREET EUROPE LIMITED

9. Muang Thai Life Assurance Public Company Limited
10. UOB LONG TERM EQUITY FUND

311,999,000
133,649,800
23,000,000
20,810,400
19,250,200
19,450,200
19,250,200
19,250,000
19,250,000
1,780,000
147,200
60,000

0
588,897,000
227,437,200
21,903,200
17,655,700
16,380,000
12,449,106
11,101,700
10,373,400
7,650,000
5,822,600

2516
10.78
1.85
1.68
1.55
157
1.55
1.55
1.55
0.14
0.01
0.00
0.00
4741
18.34
177
142
1.32
1.00
0.90
0.84
0.62
0.47

Shareholders

Juristic persons that holds 10 % or more of the Company's paid-up capital details as follows:

* Namyuenyong Shipping Company Limited

As of 31 December 2020, Registered capital and Paid-up capital of Namyuenyong Shipping Company Limited consisted
of THB 517,000,000 divided into ordinary shares of 517,000 shares at the par value of THB 1,000. Details of shareholders
as follows:

Name of shareholders Number of shares % of Shares
Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan 64,625 12.50
Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan 64,625 12.50

64,625 12.50
Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan '

64,625 12.50
Mr. Boonchai Leungsuwan

64,625 12.50
Ms. Phatwadee L

s. Phatwadee Leungsuwan 64,625 12.50

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan 64 625 12,50
Mr. Boonyawat Leungsuwan 64.625 1250
Mrs. Preeyanun Leungsuwan 64,625 12.50
Total 517,000 100.00

* N.Y.K. (Thailand) Company Limited
As of 31 December 2020, Registered capital and Paid-up capital of N.Y.K. (Thailand) Company Limited consisted of THB
964,000,000 divided into ordinary shares of 964,000 shares at the par value of THB 1,000. Details of shareholders as follows:

Name of shareholders Number of shares % of Shares
Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha Limited 963,998 99.99
N.Y.K. Group South Asia Pte. Ltd. 1 0.00
N.Y.K. Line (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 1 0.00
Total 964,000 100.00

The Limited of Foreign Shareholders

The foreign limit of shareholders is entitled to hold not more than 49 percent of its paid-up capital. As of 31 December
2020, 4.47 percent of its paid-up capital.

Major shareholders' agreement

- None -

Registered and Paid-up capital

As of 31 December 2020, Registered capital and Paid-up capital of the Company consisted of THB 620,000,000, divided
into 1,240,000,000 shares at the par value of THB 0.50 per share.
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Policy and treatment on risk management

The Company disclosed Risk Management Policy at menu
Sustainability on www.namyongterminal.com. The Executive
Committee supervises overall risk management procedures
of the Company so that it could control the risks to be within
an appropriate level. The Committee must take action to
ensure that the Company has an effective risk management,
which includes the determination, assessment, prevention,
reduction, and monitor of risks and shall report directly to
the Board of Directors at once when the risk level reaches a

significant level.

In 2020, the Executive Committee has reviewed and agreed
that the risk management policy and the risk management
principles are suitable for Company's objectives, goals, and

strategic plans.

Policy and treatment on risk management of the Company
1. Specify the duty for all directors, managements and
employees to have responsibility in risk management and
to have awareness of the operational risks in their department

and the Company by giving importance to the risk management

Overall strategy

Risk Reporting Structures,
Risk Determine and Manage,
Roles and Responsibilities

to the sufficient and appropriate level.

2. Set the procedures in risk management pursuant to the
international standard or guidelines for effective risk
management, as well as in consistent with the Company's
direction and policies in business operation.

3. All risks affecting the achievements of the Company must
be proceeded as follows:

3.1 Identify the risk in due course;

3.2 Assess the chances that the risk may arise and its
consequence;

3.3 Managetherisk by considering the benefit received therefrom
and the increased costs and expenses; and

3.4 Monitor to ensure that the risk has been properly
handled.

4. Provide efficient communication on risk management in
the Company in order for the employees to learn, develop
and implement efficiently.

5. The Executive Committee is responsible for the overall
risk management procedures of the Company to ensure
that it is in an appropriate level by reviewing the risk policy
and preparing the annual risk management plan which shall
be immediately reported to the Board of Directors if the risk

reaches the significant level.

Board of
Directors

r_> n Risk identification ﬁ

Risk H Risk Reporting
Management *
Process

n Risk Monitoring

Strategic External ! Operational Fi ial ! Cc

Key Risks

Risks Assurance :
Indicators : Authority

Internal Audit Key Risk : Delegation of

: Procedures

ﬂ Risk Assessment

Risk =
Risk Analysis
Management .y
Process Risk Evaluation

Information

Technology

Standard

Operating Control

Self-Assessment;

Trainings Whistle blowing
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Risk Factors of business operation

Business Risk

= Risk of reliance on a small number of customers:
The Company's core business is to provide Ro/Ro terminal
service for export and import of cars whereby the automotive
manufacturers and shipping lines are the core customers.
Automotive manufacturers use the Company's terminal to
export their cars to several countries by delivering the cars
to the terminal, and the car will be loaded to shipping lines
for delivery to final destinations according to the automotive
manufacturers’ orders. The Company's main revenue are
generated from the automotive manufacturers and shipping
lines. However, the Company does not solely rely on any
one specific automotive manufacturer or shipping line. In
this regard, no revenue received from one specific customer
is more than 30 percent of the total revenue in 2020. Also,
the Company’s A5 Terminal is located next to the entrance
of the shipping route into Laemchabang Port, resulting in its
advantage and popularity among shipping lines. Both automotive
manufacturers and shipping lines also have confidence in
using the Company’s A5 Terminal as the main terminal for

car distribution.

Moreover, the Company has developed IT systems for the
efficiency of terminal management. The terminal also provides
car storage in nearby area to meet the demand of automotive
manufacturers. In order to reduce the risk of revenue reliance
onasmall number of automotive manufacturers, the Company
has expanded its business to warehouse services. As of 31
December 2020, the Company provides the total storage

and warehouse area of 274,360 square meters.

» Risk of reliance on automotive industry for export:
The Company’s main revenue is generated from providing
Ro/Ro terminal service for the export and import of cars;
therefore, if Thailand's automotive export sector recedes or

declines due to reduction of demand from foreign countries

Risk Management

for automobiles manufactured in Thailand or relocation of
car manufacturers’ hubs from Thailand to other countries,
the Company's financial status and performance may be
affected. However, with the government’s continuous
support for automotive industry, and having fully integrated
automotive parts manufacturers, and skillful assembling
workers, while the relocation of manufacturing hubs requires
a long duration and high investment, the Company believes
that it is unlikely that automotive manufacturers will relocate
their manufacturing hubs to other countries. In addition,
automotive industry can quickly recover from economic
impacts or natural disasters, which help minimizing the risk
on this concern.

s Risk of termination or non-renewal of the key agreements for
Agreement for Investment in Construction, Management
and Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal at Laemchabang
Port: The Company conducts its business under the Agree
ment for Investment in Construction, Management and
Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal at Laemchabang
Port, signed with the Port Authority of Thailand (“"PAT"), which
is along-term agreement expiring on 30 April 2021 with the
right to extend the term for another period of 5 years. At
present, the President of Laemchabang Port by the letter
no. TorLorChor 25/790 and the meeting of the Board of
Port Authority of Thailand no.15/2563 (2020) dated 24
November 2020 approved to renew the term of the agreement
forinvestment in Construction, Management and Operation
for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal by amending the agreement
as specified by the Public-Private Partnership Act B.E. 2562
(2019) for another 5 years to be until 30 April 2026. The
renewal is now being proceeded under the Public-Private

Partnership Act B.E. 2562 (2019).

» Risk of termination or non-renewal of Agreements on Area
and Land Rental for Car Storage Service and Cargo Storage
Service:

The Company provides car storage service for preparation
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stage before exportation for automotive exporters. The
automotive exporters will utilize the space to store and
prepare cars, and conduct quality check on cars before
being exported to overseas. To meet such demands, the
Company entered into agreements to rent nearby areas of
573,903 square meters which have the storage capacity of
approximately 35,869 cars and have the cargo storage area
of 274,360 square meters. Car storage areais animportant
factor of providing terminal service for export and import
of cars. If the rental agreement cannot be extended, the
Company's financial position and operation will be affected
in the future. However, the Company has good records of
rental payments which have been made within due date,
and the Company has been able to secure agreement renew
als since the beginning. The Company is confident that it is
highly possible that it will be able to renew the agreements.
In addition, the Company adopts a policy to acquire more

area and maximize the use of the available area.

® Risk from emerging of competitors in the terminal industry
for export and import of cars:
At present, there are only 3 Ro/Ro terminals in Thailand
that can provide services for the import and export of cars

which are:

Al Terminal | A5 Terminal | CO Terminal

All terminals are located in Laemchabang Port, a deep sea
port with geographical advantage. Inthe future, if there are
more establishments of Ro/Ro terminals for the export and
import of cars, either by new operators applying for concession
from PAT or investment of private sector in a new deep-sea
port, the competition in the terminal industry for the import
and export of cars will be increased. However, in order to
grant a concession of a new Ro/Ro terminal, PAT will take
the following 2 factors into consideration:

* Possibility of the area to be developed as Ro/Ro terminal and

* Number of cars shipped through the existing 3 Ro/Ro terminals

PAT will not grant a concession to operate a new Ro/Ro

terminal at Laemchabang Port, until the volume of cargos
shipped through the 3 existing Ro/Ro terminals exceeds 75
percent of their capacity. PAT determines that the capacity
in undertaking the number of cars of all 3 terminals is

1,850,000 units per year.

In 2020, the total number of cars transported through all
3 terminals is 748,449 units, representing 40.46 percent
of the capacity determined by PAT. The Company predicts
that there will be no approval of concession to operate a

new Ro/Ro terminal in the near future.

In addition, there is a low possibility for the private sector to
invest in a new port since the establishment of a new deep
sea port terminal requires a great amount of investment. The
location of the terminal is also important considering
convenient transportation, proximity to production base
and supporting area for car storage service. Moreover, the
operation of a terminal for the import and export of cars
requires high knowledge, expertise and experience and
should be operated to ship cars exclusively; otherwise, cars

could be damaged if shipped with other cargos.

Risk of Tariff Structure and Port Tariff being under control
of PAT:

Under the terms stipulated in the Agreement for Investment
in Construction, Management and Operation for Bulk Cargo
of A5 Terminal, PAT has sole power to determine all tariff
structure. The Company is not allowed to charge any tariff
for terminal services, loading /discharging service, warehouse
service and other services within the terminal exceeding
the rates announced by PAT. Furthermore, PAT reserves
the rights to change the tariff rates or tariff structure at any

time under the Agreement.

Nonetheless, from the commencement of the Agreement,
PAT has never changed the tariff rates while the Company's
service cost may change during the Agreement. If the cost
of the business operation increases while the Company

could not increase its tariff structure to match such increased
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cost, the financial status and performance of the Company
may be affected. However, the Company has made a good
effort to control and manage the cost for the efficiency,
which results in the comparable gross profit. Furthermore,
the Company has developed IT systems to be used in the
management of the terminal allowing the company a higher
chance to generate more revenue from the increasing capacity

of the car loading/discharging service.

Risk on Social and Environmental Impact

» Risk on Safety and Security Management: Safety and security
management is the issue that the Company gives priority.
Therefore, the Company uses a risk management system as
a tool for supervision. Safety and security risk management
is considered as a key risk which requires strictly systemic
and consistent follow up process in accordance with laws,
regulations and any other rules in relation to environment
and safety, i.e.,, ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and ISO
45001:2018.

» Risk on Climate Change: Climate change resulting in
environmental impact has become more obvious, for instance,
PM 2.5 situation, global warming situation as a result of the
greenhouse gas and etc. These become the global concerns
where attempts are put in place to encourage to decrease
greenhouse gas emission substantially. Subsequently, the
Company is exposed to the risk resulting from the regulations

on greenhouse gas emission control in the future.

Although the Company'’s business does not directly cause
the greenhouse gas emission and the climate change, in
order to be a part of the global goal to reduce the greenhouse
gas emission, the Company views that reducing electricity
consumption will be an indirect reduction of the greenhouse
gas emission which can be adopted by adjusting the
air-conditioner to 25 degrees Celsius, installing of timers to
control the power of air conditioner (on and off), changing
the light bulb in the A5 Terminal to LED at 100%, preparing
a statistic record electricity consumption in the office building

and others within the terminal, turning on and off the light

within the product yard only the zone in use, and installing

Solar Cells in the employee parking area.

The Risk on Corporate Governance

» Risk of major shareholders’ influence on determining
management policy : As of 31 December 2020, Leungsuwan
family holds the Company's shares amounting 47.41 percent
of the total issued and paid-up shares. Leungsuwan family
also holds positions as management and authorized directors

of the Company.

However, the Company's management structure comprises
the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee, and
the Executive Committee, which have a clear limitation of
authority. The Company's operation; therefore, is proceeded

with standard and easily verifiable.

Furthermore, the Company also engages an internal audit
company to conduct an internal audit and directly report
to the Audit Committee. This allows more transparent
examination of the Company's operation, as well as, balance
of power in proposing certain issues to be considered. The
Company has also implemented standard procedures for
related party transactions with its directors, major shareholders,
orindividuals who exert control over the Company, including
persons who have conflict of interest. The personsinrelated
party transactions or with conflict of interest will be prohibited
from approving such transactions in order to reduce the

risks that may occur.

Risk on the Subsidiary's Business Operation

» Risk from the absence of commercial return of subsidiary:
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The Company invested 51% of the total issued ordinary of
shares in Seahorse Ferries Company Limited (“Seahorse”
or “Subsidiary") resulting in Seahorse being a Company's
subsidiary. Seahorse engages in RORO Passenger (ROPAX)
service between the east coast and the west area
along to the south. The source of fund for this investment is
from aloan from a financial institution and the shareholders
equity in the proportion of 60:40. According to the study,
itis expected that Seahorse will be able to generate commercial
income in early 2021. The internal return rate (IRR)
is expected not to be less than 15%. Breakeven is expected

to be within the 6" year.

Inthis regard, as Seahorse has not commercially commenced
its business operation, operational uncertainties in several
aspects may occur, for instance, services, marketing and
etc. If there is an incident or factor that obstructs Seahorse
from carrying out its business as prescribed in the study
plan, Seahorse will be unable to receive the expected return
as mentioned above, or Seahorse may default on debt repayment
to the financial institution, or in the case that there are
significant changes that may cause the project not worthy
to invest, Seahorse may not be able to continually operate

the business in the long term.

However, the Company requires the Subsidiary to report the
progress of the project to the Executive Committee at least
once a month and to the Company’s Board of Directors every

quarter to reduce the risk and assess the incident closely.

* Risk of default on loan repayment of subsidiary :
As of 31 December 2020, Seahorse has a loan from the
financial institution in an amount of THB 163 million, the
purpose of which is the payment of the vessels used for the
service whereby the Company has guaranteed in the proportion
of its shareholding percentage. At present, Seahorse has a
debt to equity ratio of 2.06 times. As Seahorse has not commercially
commenced the business operation, there may be
uncertainty inincome. In this regard, if there is an incident or

factor that obstructs Seahorse from carrying out its business

as planned, there is a tendency that Seahorse may default
on the loan agreement with such financial institution. As a
consequence, the financial institution will charge the default
interest at the rate of 15 percent per annum of the principal

from the date of default until the debt is fully paid.

However, the Company considered to enter into an insurance
to manage the risk of investment. In addition, the Company
requires the Subsidiary to report the progress of the project
to the Executive Committee at least once a month and to

the Company's Board of Directors every quarter.

Risk on the Associated Business Operation

® Risk of termination or non-renewal of the key agreements
for Agreement for Investment, Management and Operation
of CO Terminal at Laemchabang Port : The Company indirectly
holds 49 percent of shares in Laemchabang International Ro-Ro
Terminal Limited (“"LRT") which manages and operates CO
Terminal under the agreement signed with PAT expiring on
31 August 2035 (LRT has the right to extend the agreement
foraperiod of 10 years for two times). The risk is thus considered
low. Inthisregard, for the past of years of operation, LRT has
strictly followed all conditions in the agreement, and has
never received any warning letter or penalty notice for a
breach of conditions in the agreement. LRT is confident
that it is highly possible that LRT will be able to renew the

agreement with PAT after end of the agreement.

Emerging Risk of Business Operation

» Cyber Risk : The Company is aware of cyber risk which
currently tends to increase as a result of the reliance on
technology and digital system which become more significant
in business sector. Consequently, cyber-attacks unavoidably
and increasingly occur. This may cause a tremendous effect

to the Company'’s business operation.

The Company has implemented a measure to continually
develop and improve computer system and network system
to be up-to-dated to prevent various forms of cyber-attack.

Also, the Company has a business continuity plan (BCP)
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that covers the restoration of information technology within

a short period of time.

= Risk from the enforcement of Personal Data Protection Act
B.E. 2562 (2019) : The Company has prepared a personal
data protection policy, which is effective from 9 November
2020. Trainings which include samples and potential issues
that may occur were provided to the directors, employees
of both the Company and the Subsidiary for acknowledgement.
Pretest and posttest, as well as the working guidelines to
comply with the law have also been arranged. In addition,
99% of all managements and the employees have signed

a consent form to collect, use and disclose personal data.

» Risk from the enforcement of Debt Collection Act: According

to Debt Collection Act B.E. 2558 (2015) has been enforced
whereby debt collection must be proceeded by the
law, Management has monitored related fields’ working

process to proceed debt collection as specified by law.

= Risk of COVID-19 outbreak :
The year 2020 is a challenging year for the Company to
manage the capital thoroughly and maximize the efficiency
of the existing assets. Even though the COVID-19 outbreak
has affected the global economy, the Company foresees the
opportunity to engage in new businesses that the Company
canuse its existing expertise and skill by making investment
in Seahorse to increase the opportunity to realize income of

the Company in the future and for expanding the businesses

apart from the terminal and warehouse services.
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Corporate Sustainability Drive
Value Chain

Stakeholders engagement analysis in value chain

_ Stakeholders Engagement method Frequency Key areas of interest  Examples of key actions
Employees * Induction programme for ° * Organizational culture  * Employees engagement
Terminal services and other services related to the core business new employees and engagement survey
* Training and development ° * Training and professional * Health management
programmes development programs
* Career development ° * Fair and competitive * Training and development
m&‘ performance appraisals remuneration policy programs
* Wellness activity ° « Safety, health and workplace
?:::' and town hall sessions « Strategic and operational
Port Terminal <« Customs Shipppings Finanace and IEE?(:;E‘L %- business decsions and
System System Agent System Treasury System or Banks performance
A
oy Customers, Suppliers, * One-on-one meetings ° « Safe and efficient port's = Stakeholders survey
Logistics Management

\ T ;o Business partners, Creditors = Digital communication ° infrastructure * Working closely with all
1 1
Y : \ 4 and Competitors via specified channels * Sustainable port stakeholders
1.1 agencies icati .. .
procgdures N 1.2 Customs ifZDZL;)t:tlgin; » Customer enquiries via ° development * Internal standard
Procedures
Schedules \ 3.4 Control of 3.7 Control of the specified channels * Port facilities management  management
i 3.5 Delive ; ; . T .
1 | venicles Y exit of vehicles * Business performance  * Technological innovation
2.1 Shipping 2.2 Planning and 3.1 Registration from the Port imol tation f t
Documentation | Jscheduling of for pickup implementation for cost,
port 1 energy and logistic
f Jr 3.6 Execute Clearance efficiency in terminal
Y 3.3 Additional management
| information
| 7y Shareholders and Investors « Timely, transparent ° * Long-term sustainable = One -on-one and site
1 I
______________ —

Demand Financial Budget process Project delivery Property operations
& maintenance

Warehouse services

and accurate updates
of financial results and
announcements new
business development
disclosures

* Press release and One °
-on-one meetings

* Shareholders' meeting °

returns

* The accuracy of financial
reports

* Good governance

* Business strategy and

trend

visits
* Press release and webcast
forinformation disclosure

* Shareholders’ meeting
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Stakeholders Engagement method

Frequency

Key areas of interest  Examples of key actions

Government agencies, * Meeting and Briefing

Community and Social * Membership of
associations or working
groups related to Port
or Safety management
via social media or other
events

* Participation in government
agencies' event as specified

* Long-term partnerships

for community

Remark:

® Throughout the year ® Quarterly @ Annually

Material ESG Matters

Sustainability aspects

* Management on * Stakeholders survey

° environmental effect * Corporate visit
* Compliance with and * Local committee
alteration of laws and  membership enrollment
regulations * Public hearing arrangement
* Future terminal study
and development plan
° * Economic and social effect
and participation
(]

Economic @

Corporate Governance

I é Legal Compliance

Our Material Matters Progress Results
Business operational performance Providing stable growth returns °
Code of Conduct and Anti corruptio  Maintain zero incidences of Anti °
corruption
No materials incidences of °

non-compliance with relevant laws

Social and Environmental

&

Health Safety and Environment

Preserve and protect the environment °
according to the standard and up to
the GRI standard. No environmental

complaint is encountered.

Employees treating

Employees Well-treating and zero °
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Sustainability Management in Environmental
Aspect

Policy and guidelines on business operation under the
environmental standards

The Company disclosed Safety, Health and Environment
policy at menu Sustainability on www.namyongterminal.
com to ensure the efficiency of the environment and safety
operation and raise awareness on efficient use of resources by
all executives and employees, the Company has been strictly
operating in accordance with the laws, regulations and rules
on environment and safety, in line with the international
standard of ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, and ISO
45001:2018. Results of the operation and environmental
quality and safety tests are kept systematically. Safety department

conducts regular follow-ups on such results and delivers

various reports to relevant government authorities in due

time. The Company has a guideline on business operation in

accordance with environmental standards as follows:

1. Promoting the executives and employees’ participation in
environmental activities of the Company, e.g. big cleaning
day and safety day;

2. Raising awareness and understanding for the executives
and employees of the importance of workplace safety via
trainings and making public relations materials to regularly
update the news on safety; and

3. Arranging activities to promote efficient use of resources
by the executives and employees.

4. Appointment of a responsible person to manage and monitor

especially environment.

Name-Surname

Mr. Alongkorn Intaratood

Position Environmental Officer

Age 30 (years)
Highest Education

Training Record * Green Office

M.S. Environmental Management

* Internal Audit ISO 9001: 2015 & 14001: 2015 & 45001: 2018
* Requirement of 1SO 9001: 2015 & 14001: 2015 & 45001: 2018

shareholding in the Company (percent) -None-
Family Relations with the directors -None-
and the management

Professional Experience * 2020 - Present

* 2016 - 2020

Environmental Officer

Namyong Terminal Plc.

Safety, Health and

Environment Department Officer

Namyong Terminal Plc.

Environmental Indicator and Target

incidents resulting in employees disability

or workplace fatality

Indicator

2018

2019

2020

2021

Customers' satisfaction

Remark:

® Achieved @ Unachieved

The result is in the expected standard °
level. No material complain is

encountered

Electricity Target
Consumption

Decreased by 5%
(996,560 units)

Not exceeding
the consumption

Not exceeding
the consumption

Not exceeding the
consumption in

from 2017 in 2018 (925,728 in 2019 (893,048 2019 (74,420.67
units) units) units in average)
Result 925,728 units, 893,048 units, 729,584 units,

decreased by 71% decreasedby 3.5% decreased by

(77144 units in (74420.67 unitsin  18.3% (60,798.67

average) average) units in average)
Compliance Target 100% compliance 100% compliance 100% compliance 100% compliance
with the lawson “p oy 95.9% 91.6% 98.7%

safety, health and
environment
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Key Achievements and Plans

Electricity consumption: the Company has declared the

objective to reduce the Company's electricity consumption

by 5 percent by controlling electricity consumption during

holidays and shifts changing, campaigning to turn off lights

during lunch break, disconnecting the plugs of office equipment

during long holidays, and setting the air conditioner at 25

degrees Celsius as well as changing neon lamps to LED;

* In 2017, electricity consumption was reduced by 21.9% or
equivalent to THB 995,568;

* In 2018, electricity consumption was reduced by 7.1% or
equivalent to THB 263,612 comparing to 2017;

* In 2019, electricity consumption was reduced by 3.5% or
equivalent to THB 75,826 comparing to 2018; and

* In 2020, electricity consumption was reduced by 18.3% or

equivalent to THB 684,432 comparing to 2019.

Quality of sea water and wastewater: With respect to sea
water, acidity and alkalinity test (pH), turbidity test,
suspended solids test (SS), oil & grease test, dissolved oxygen
test (DO) and biochemical oxygen demand test (BOD) of the
sea water within the terminal’s vicinity are carried out every
3 months. The result of most of the test indicates that the
sea water is in the standard level according to the law. This
is because there is a navigation channel on which a number
of marine transportation activities are carried out and there

are changes of natural water mass.

With respect to the wastewater, acidity and alkalinity test
(pH), suspended solids test (SS), dissolved oxygen test (DO),
biochemical oxygen demand test (BOD), total kjeldahl nitrogen
test (TKN), total solids test (TS), total dissolved solids test
(TDS), oil & grease test of the building's wastewater system
are carried out every month. The result of most of the tests
is in the standard level according to the law. In this regard,
the Company checks the system and adds microorganism to

increase the wastewater treatment efficiency.

Paper use: the Company has continued the campaigns on
reuse of papers by employees. The plan is to use technology

and information technology to record documents in electronic

form instead of papers. However, we have set the corporate

goal to reduce paper use of 10% per year;

* In 2017, the Company reduced paper use by 19%;

* In 2018, the Company reduced paper use by 17% comparing
to 2017

* In 2019, the Company reduced paper use by 22% comparing
to 2018; and

* In 2020, the Company reduced paper use by 28% comparing
to 2019;

Air quality: the Company tested air quality in A5 Terminal
area to comply with the standard under the law on safety,
occupational health and environment. In 2020, the result of
the test found that the Company has good air quality with no
impact to the environment which creates a safe workplace.
Total Suspended Particulate Matter and Particulate Matter
(TSP) with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to a
nominal 10 micrometers (PM-10) within the terminal’s vicinity
every 6 months. The result of which is in the standard level

according to the law.

Light: the Company tested light intensity and analyzed working
conditions related to lights in order to improve for an
appropriate working environment for employees. The test is
carried out once a year. The result the most of whichis in the
standard according to the law. The Company has renovated

the environment to be proper for work.

Noise level: the Company arranged for maintenance of office
equipment, tools and machines to be in good condition in
order to prevent the level of noise that could affect the

environment being harmful to working performance;

Waste Management: The Company sorts garbage for proper
garbage disposal. 72.58% of the garbage has been sorted. The
Company has regularly publicized and requested for cooperation

from the employees and service users.

Climate Change and Greenhouse Gas Emission: The Company's
business does not directly cause greenhouse gas emission

and climate change. However, in order to be a part of the
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mutual objective of the world in reducing greenhouse gas,
the Company views that reducing electricity consumption
will indirectly reduce greenhouse gases. Adjustment of air
conditioners at 25 degrees Celsius, installation of a timer to
control the turning on and off of the air conditioners, change
of the light bulbs in the A5 Terminal to be LED at 100%,
preparation of a statistic record of electricity consumption in
the office building and others within the terminal, switching
on and off the light within the product yard only the zone in
use, and installation of Solar Cell in the employee parking area

have been carried out by the Company.

Electricity consumption in 2020 was reduced from 2019
in an amount of 163,464 kWh or equivalent to 18.3%. This
helps reducing greenhouse gas emission amounting 95.15
tCO2e. However, the Company has not prepared a record of
greenhouse gas emission which to be reviewed by Thailand
Greenhouse Gas Management Organization (TGO). The

Company expects to prepare such record in 2021.

Company's External Activities

In order to alleviate the effect from the climate change, the
Company has joined activities, such as planting mangrove
forest with the stakeholders of the Company, namely, Laemchabang
Industrial Estate Office under Industrial Estate Authority of
Thailand in the project “Laemchabang Together Protects

Water and Mangrove Forest” every year.

Company'’s Internal Activities

We have participated in the Stock Exchange of Thailand's

‘Care the Bear' project, which promotes further participation

from the existing activities carried out by the Company, such

as employee training or seminar which normally involves

catering. We have set the goal that, in 2019, the impact from

such project would reduce carbon foot print from organizing

events equivalent to planting 100 trees. The result is:

* In 2019, to reduce the carbon footprint by 873.73 Kg. Co2 e
or equivalent to planting 127 trees; and

* In 2020, to reduce the carbon footprint by 128.76 Kg. Co2 e
or equivalent to planting 15 trees.

For the medium-term plan, the Company will participate in

more projects together with the other interested persons, e.g.,
car manufacturer customers. The Company expects that the
operation to reduce climate change will be most effective if

participated by all of the supply chain.

Sustainability Management in Social Aspect
Policy and Treatment on Society and Community Development
The Company takes into consideration the community interest,
environmental conservation, and refraining from any action
that may damage the environment and the public interest by
encouraging the employees to have social responsibility which
involves rendering assistance and supporting activities which
are beneficial to the public, particularly on safety, health and
environment to prevent impact which could cause loss of life,
community property, and the environment. The treatment on
society and community development are as follows:

1. Raising awareness on social and environmental responsibility

among all ranks of the employees; and

2. Promoting the efficient use and conservation of energy.

Key Achievements

In 2019, The Company has entered into a memorandum of
understanding with University of the Thai Chamber of Commerce
for academic cooperation in order to support research, scholarship

and internship program.
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Policy and Treatment on Human Rights

Since 2015, the Board of Directors has approved the Policy and
Treatment on Human Rights, and a 100 percent of employees
and managements was trained and disclosed at Sustainability

on www.namyongterminal.com in order to formalize a norm
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which recognizes equal opportunity and prevent discrimination
and harassment. The Company is dedicated to supervise
its workplace to be free from discrimination or harassment
based on the basis of races, sex, colors, birth or social origin,
religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, political opinions,
or any other status protected under the law. The Company
also encourages its suppliers and business partners to engage
with the policy against child labor and the policy against illegal
migrant labor. The details of which are as follows:

Treatment on Employees

* Recruitment shall be conducted on the basis of fairness
and equality. Everyone is granted equal opportunity to apply
and transfer under the applicable regulations and laws, and
without any discrimination based on gender or disability
which is not deemed as a prevention of such person from
performing his or her duty;

* Employees shall be treated with fairness and good faith. All
employees shall be employed under terms and conditions
which are in compliance with laws, regulations, and customary
practices. Child labor, forced labor, or breach of labor standard
are not allowed;

* Any violation of human rights shall be eliminated and
discrimination shall be prohibited;

* Operation policy is adopted to guarantee personal safety
for all employees, along with their entitled rights to a clean,
safe, and healthy workplace; and

* Physical punishment, and physical, mental or verbal harassment

shall not be implemented or allowed to be implemented.

Treatment on Stakeholders
The Company encourages its suppliers and business partners
to engage with the Company's policy on the treatment on

human rights.

Human Resources Development
The Company pays full attention on Human Resources
development because we strongly believe in “Employees are

the Heart of our Organization". Details of tasks as follows:

1. Training

The Company highly values training and human resource
development at all levels. Employee training plan has been
prepared in order to create awareness on self-development
and to support the employees in attending internal and
external trainings as expected by the relevant departments
and followed by an evaluation with an aim to enable the
employees to apply such training with their responsible work
and further improvement of working efficiency. Moreover, the
management has promoted a collaborative working culture
and knowledge sharing through several projects, as well as
encouraged the employees to pursue higher education in

order to improve their capability.

2. Job Rotation

Job rotation is one of the approaches in developing the staff's
learning processes on other staff works. The approach not only
enables one staff to properly replace other but also enhance
the readiness of the staff for the higher level promotion. As
such, the Company has supported this approach by preparing
the Standard Operating Procedure.

Training results

In 2020, a total of 84 managements and employees
participated in personnel development and training sessions
through 1,071 hours of internal training courses and 284 hours
of external training courses totaling 1,355 hours. The average
hours of training are 16.13 hours per employee per year which
accounted for the total expenses of THB 301,237.61or average
expenses of THB 3,586.16 per employee.

Significant change the number of employees occurring in
last 3 years

-None-

Labor dispute occurring in the last 3 years

-None-

Relations between managements and labor union

-None of labor union-
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Sanitation and Environment

The Company realizes the importance of maintaining the
working environment under occupational health and safety
standard and has properly proceeded on the various measure

to present and protect any loss of life from accident, injury

and illness from work environment.

Benefits

Key Achievements
In 2020, there were 30 accidents. It has calculated the Injury
Frequency Rates (“I.F.R.") and Injury Severity Rate ("I.S.R.")

and found that the employees’ I.FR is at O person per year

and the Company’s I.S.R. is at O day per year

Section 1 Health Care

Group Medical Insurance

Section 2 Social allowance
Buddhist ordination allowance Get well gift
Marriage allowance Dental allowance
Birth of Child allowance

Funeral allowance

Health care allowance for family

!
\

Section 3 Working allowance

Travelling allowance

Per diem and accommodation allowance Section 4 After retirement care

Fuel allowance Provident fund

Annual physical check-up

Section 6 Other benefits
Housing Loan with GH Bank
Annual Outing

Section 5 Return on perfect work
Annual Bonus

Best employee award

Long service recognition award

Monthly diligence allowance
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Other Reference

Investor Relations

Contact at

Tel.
Fax.

Email

External Auditor

Contact at

Tel.

Fax.

The person supervising accounting

Contact at

Tel.

Fax.

Internal Audit (Department)
Contact at
Tel.

Fax.

Securities Registrar
Contact at
Tel.

Fax.
Legal Advisor

Contact at

Tel.

Fax.

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan (Acting)
168/52 (Lumpini Tower 19t
Bangkok 10120

66 (0) 2679 7357

66 (0) 2285 6642

irnamyong@namyongterminal.com

Floor) Rama IV Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn,

EY Office Limited

EY Office Limited

33rd Floor, Lake Rajada Office Complex, 193/136-137, Rajadapisek Road, Klongtoey,
Bangkok 10110

66 (0) 2264 0777

66 (0) 2264 0789-90

Ms. Darika Ittipronkungwan

1M68/52 (Lumpini Tower 19t Floor) Rama IV Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn,
Bangkok 10120

66 (0) 2679 7357

66 (0) 2285 6642

JS Pro (Thailand) Company Limited
10/39 Chaengwattana 14, Tungsonghong, Lak Si, Bangkok 10210
66 (0) 89229 8822

None

Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited

93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng, Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400
66 (0) 2009 9999

66 (0) 2009 9991

R & T Asia (Thailand) Limited

973 President Tower, 12th floor, Unit 12A-12F, Ploenchit Road, Lumpini, Pathumwan,
Bangkok 10330

66 (0) 2656 1991

66 (0) 2656 0833

Other Significant Information
-None-

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 85

Other Significant Information

Legal disputes

As of 31 December 2020, the Company does not have ongoing

legal disputes which may negatively affect the Company'’s

assets of more than 5 percent of the equity or the Company's

business operations. However, the Company has an ongoing

legal dispute as follows:

1.0On 26 July 2017, the Company, as a plaintiff, brought a
lawsuit against Bangkok Metropolitan Administration (BMA)
to the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade
Court (IPITC), with the accusations in relation to international
trade, carriage of goods by sea and deposit of goods for the
amount of THB 1,041 million; requesting the Court to order
BMA to pay the Company the said amount together with
the interest of 7.5% per annum and the daily storage charge
including value added tax of THB 0.27 million per day from
the date following the date of the suit until BMA removes

all fire trucks out of the terminals of the Company.

Later on 18 December 2017, BMA by the Public Prosecutor
filed answers and also a counter-claim for wrongful acts
claiming for compensation up to the day of the lawsuit totaling
THB 110 million and a daily compensation of THB 0.82 million
from the date of the lawsuit until the Company returns
all the disputed cars to BMA or make payment equivalent
to the disputed cars’ value of THB 2,679 million to BMA;
Meanwhile, BMA filed an ex parte application requesting
the Court to order protective measures. On 14 February 2019
the Court finally issued the order for temporary protection
but ordered BMA to place collateral amounting to THB 200

million. However, BMA appealed against the court's order.

On 26 December 2019, IPITC rendered judgment of this
case. The embarkation of fire trucks at the Company's terminal,
who is a service provider, is considered as delivery to the
Company for BMA, the buyer under the sales agreement
who would take the fire trucks from the Company terminal
thereafter. Inthis case, when the Company is served with a
lawful order to return the fire trucks, the Company will
return such fire trucks accordingly and demand the consideration.
However, BMA did not deliver such goods to the Company
but one of the shipping agents did to further deliver to the
holder of the bill of lading and invoice. Therefore, BMA is not
a party to the deposit agreement. As such, IPITC dismissed
the case filed by the Company. The Company filed an appeal

and Legal Disputes

with the Court on 26 March 2020.

For the counterclaim filed by BMA that the Company has
no right to retain the fire truck which is armaments because
the Company is not authorised to possess arms, claim
damages and make payment equivalent to the value of
assets. Therefore, IPITC dismissed the counterclaim and
withdrew the temporary protection order of BMA. BMA
appealed and filed an ex parte petition with IPITC requesting
the Court to order the injunction on 25 May 2020 but the
petition was dismissed. BMA, therefore, appealed against
the order of the Court of First Instance with the Court of
Appeal on 14 July 2020.

The Company filed both defences, the answer against
BMA's appeal on the justiciary order relating to application
for the protection of the rights of BMA during trial of the
Court of Appeal on 17 September 2020, and the respondent’s
answer against the petition of appeal on 27 September 2020.

2.0n 24 December 2020, Tokio Marine Insurance (Thailand)

Public Co., Ltd., as a plaintiff, filed a lawsuit against the
Company to the Civil Court of Southern Bangkok (CBSC),
for the charge of goods deposit and storage inthe Company's
warehouse, insurance, and subrogation, claiming damages
of THB 19 million. The Company received a summons from
the CBSC on 18 January 2021 ordering the Company to file
a statement of plea to the CBSC within 15 days from the

date of the summons has been received.

Subsequently on 1February 2021, the Company submitted
arequest to extend the period of submission of the statement
to 2 March 2021.

However, the Company has damage property insurance
with several insurance companies for damages incurred.
In addition, this is the agreement, which shall be defined
as service agreement, and cannot be regarded as the deposit
agreement. Since the Company's management believes that
the Company will not incur any loss as a result of this litigation,
no provision for contingent liabilities has been recorded in
the account. Please refer to “Notes to financial statements
clause 34.4"
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Organization Chart

As of 31 December 2020

Board of Directors

Advisor of the Board of Directors

Corporate Secretary

Audit Committee

Internal Audit
(Department)

Executive Committee

Chief Executive
Officer

Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee

Accounting and Operations

Finance Department Department
Chief Financial Chief Operating

Officer Officer

Assistant Director of
Accounting and
Finance

Administration
Department
Chief Administrative
Officer

Legal Department Human Resources

(Acting) Department
(Acting) Director of
Human Resources

Director of
Legal Affairs

Corporate Governance Policy

The Board of Directors has approved Good Corporate Governance
Policy (as amended) to align with the Corporate Governance
Code for listed companies 2017" prescribed by the Office of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Corporate
Governance Report of Thai Listed Companies prescribed by
Thai Institute of Directors. All shareholders, investors and
stakeholders can download the Corporate Governance Policy

from the Company's website at www.namyongterminal.com.

Rights of Shareholders

The Company is well aware of its duties to equally treat and
protect the shareholders’ fundamental rights, which are the
right to receive share certificates, the right to transfer shares,
the right to receive profits sharing, and the right to receive the

Company's information.

In addition, the Company also places importance to the right
of shareholders to attend and vote in the shareholders’ meetings
to make decisions on significant matters of the Company, such
as, election and removal of directors, determination of directors’
remuneration, appointment of auditor, approval/non-approval
of dividend payment, capital increase and issuance of new
securities, as well as, posting questions or expressing opinions
on issues reported by the Company's directors or requested

for approval from the shareholders’ meeting.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company shall organize the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders ("“AGM") once a year and within 4 months from
the end of the fiscal year. In the case of urgency and necessity
that requires proposal of special agendas, which affects or
concerns the shareholders’ benefits, or relates to the applicable
conditions, regulations, and laws and that approval of the
shareholders is needed, the Company shall call an Extraordinary

General Meeting of Shareholders for such matter.

Furthermore, in order to facilitate the shareholders who are

institutional investors or custodians, the Company shall enable

such shareholders to verify their names, information, and
supporting documents, and to register for the meeting in
advance, in order to save time and shorten the procedures
taken to verify information and documents on the date of the

shareholders’ meeting.

The Company designates legal advisors to give legal opinion
and inspect the vote counting during the whole session of the
meeting, and the Company also permits minority shareholders
who volunteer to witness the vote counting for the 2020 AGM
which was held on Friday 9 October 2020 at 10:00 hours at
Grand ballroom 1-2 Room, Rama Gardens Hotel, No. 9/9,
Vibhavadi Rangsit Road, Laksi, Bangkok. In this regard, the
Company proceeded with the AGM in accordance with the
Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the Securities
and Exchange Act B.E. 2551 (2008) including the regulations
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the regulations of the
Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission so that
the meeting is held in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations, and the AGM standard assessment and to

proceed AGM as the guideline the outbreak of COVID-19.

Before the Date of Shareholders' Meeting

The Company disclosed the resolutions of the Board of Directors
re: the agenda of the shareholders’ meetings on both the Stock
Exchange of Thailand's website and the Company’s website.
In this regard, the Company had published the complete
information as Thai version on the websites on 24 March
2020, which was 30 days prior to the meeting, and delivered
the meeting invitation which contained important agendas
required by the law, the regulations of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand, and the Articles of Association of the Company,
i.e., details of proposed items for each agenda either to be
acknowledged or approved by the shareholders, together
with clear opinions of the Board of Directors on each agenda
item. It also included minutes of the previous meeting, annual
report and supporting documents for the meeting, proxy-related

documents which explicitly explains the procedures for proxy
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appointment. The meeting’s invitation was delivered to all
shareholders at least 7 days prior to the meeting date, and it
was also advertised on newspaper by no less than 3 consecutive
days andno less than 3 days prior to the meeting date to give
shareholders sufficient time to prepare and study the information
concerning the meeting agenda before attending the meeting.
The meeting invitation was sent to all shareholders whose
names were listed in the shareholders register as of the closing
date of the shareholders register. Furthermore, 3 independent
directors were designated as options for the shareholders to
appoint as their proxy. In case that shareholders wish to appoint
proxy to attend the meeting, they may appoint any single

person or a designated independent director as their proxy.

Date of Shareholders' Meeting

The Company fixed the date, time and venue of meeting where
the shareholders can conveniently access. The Company also
prepared the meeting documents as supplemental documents
of the meeting invitation to inform the shareholders of the
procedure and process to attend the meeting, and the verification
of relevant documents or evidences proving the right to
participate the meeting. The Company also provides duty
stamp in case of proxy appointment free of charge at the
registration desk, and facilitates appropriate and sufficient
registration points, whereby the shareholders may register
to attend the meeting up to 2 hours prior to the beginning of
the meeting until the completion of the meeting. The barcode
system was introduced by the Company to expedite the

registration and vote-counting process.

To be in compliance with the AGM standard assessment,
inspectors shall be designated to attend and verify that the
meeting is being conducted in a transparent manner, and
in compliance with the laws and the Company's Articles of
Association. In 2020 AGM, the Company invited two legal
advisors, Ms. Yingrak Treesaranuwattana and Mr. Pannatat
Kocharin from R&T Asia (Thailand) Limited to attend the
AGM and to inspect the vote counting. In the shareholders’
meeting, the Chairman of the Board acted as the Chairman
of the meeting. Before convening the meeting, the Corporate
Secretary explained the details of the quorum, the method

of casting votes, the vote counting, the use of ballots, the

collection of ballots, and the disclosure of the result of the
vote counting in each agenda item in a clear and transparent
manner. The ballots were also stored for verification in later
stage. The shareholders were provided opportunities to express
their questions and opinions as deemed appropriate and sufficient,
and the responsible directors were then to clarify and provide
information to the shareholders. For the agenda on the appointment
of directors, the shareholders are entitled to elect the director
individually. With regard to the vote casting and the vote
counting, the Company has strictly complied with the Company's
Articles of Association which prescribe that 1 share is equal
to 1vote and for the latter case, the non-approval, abstention,
or voided vote shall be deducted from the total number of the

votes of shareholders who attends such agenda item.

Inthe 2020 AGM, a total number of 12 directors equivalent to
100 percent of the Board of Directors attended the meeting,
which comprised of Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the
Audit Committee, Chairman of the Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee, Chairman of the
Executive Committee including Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Administrative

Officer, legal advisor, and auditor.

After the Shareholders' Meeting

The Company announced the resolutions of the shareholders’
meeting via the disclosure channels of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand on the following business day, and published on the
website of the Company. The information stated the results
of voting (approval/non-approval/abstention/Voided
voting cards) of each agenda item. Furthermore, the Company
submitted the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting, which
recorded the list of directors attending the meeting, the
procedures and the results of vote counting (approval/
non-approval/abstention/Voided voting cards) in respect of
agenda items required shareholder’s approval, including the
questions put forward by the shareholders for each agenda
item, to the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the concerned
authority within 14 days from the date of the shareholders’
meeting so that the shareholders who did not attend the
meeting could receive the information. The Company also

published the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting on the
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Company's website.

Equitable Treatment on Shareholders

Proposing Agenda Items and Nominating Candidates
to be Elected as Directors

In AGM 2020, in order to promote fair and equal treatment
on all shareholders, the Company allowed minority shareholders to
exercise their rights in proposing agenda items and nominating
candidates to be elected as directors in advance. The specified

period was from 4 November 2019 - 31 January 2020.

In this regard, the Company published such criteria on the
Company's website and make announcement of the same via

the Stock Exchange of Thailand website on 4 November 2019.

Appointment of Proxy

To ensure protection of the rights of the shareholders who cannot
attend the shareholders’ meeting in person, the Company
encloses a proxy form (Form B) with the meeting invitation
which clearly explained the list of documents and evidence
required for the appointment of proxy. The shareholders may
appoint his/her representative or the independent director of
the Company as his/her proxy to attend the meeting and cast
votes on his/her behalf. The Company provides in the meeting
invitation the name of at least one independent director
whom a shareholder can appoint as his/her proxy. In addition,
the Company also publishes the meeting invitation and the
proxy forms (Form A, Form B and Form C) with the details

and procedures on the Company'’s website.

Access to the Company's Information

The Company shall not discriminate against any particular
group of shareholders. All disclosed information is equally
accessible by the shareholders and the public through the
Company's website at www.namyongterminal.com or by
contacting our Investor Relations at Telephone No. 66 (0)
26797357 FaxNo. 66 (0) 2285 6642 or E-mail: irnamyong@

namyongterminal.com

Roles of Stakeholders
The Company values importance to the internal and external

stakeholders of the Company, who are shareholders, employees,

customers, competitors, suppliers and business partners,
creditors, society and community where the Company operate
business within. The Company also takes into account of the
social responsibility, environment and non-violation of human
right by prescribing the Code of Business Ethics (as amended)
and the Company's Corporate Governance Policy, which shall
be strictly observed by the directors, the management, and the
employees, and also be regarded as the duties and disciplines
that all must adhere to, the details of which are significant
as summarized:

Policy and Treatment on Shareholders

The Company is determined to perform its business operation
based on the foundation of honesty and morality with aims
to develop the Company in terms of growth and stability, to
create profitable returns for the shareholders continuously
in the long term, to uphold equal treatment, as well as to
disclose information in a transparent manner upon which the
shareholders can rely. The policy and treatment on shareholders
are as follow:

1. Respecting and treating all shareholders equally;

2. Performing duties with honesty and proceed action in a
prudent manner for the best benefit of the shareholders;
3. Publishing news and information via the Company’s website

at www.namyongterminal.com; and
4. Providing financial status, operational results, and additional
information with accuracy, adequacy and timeliness for

decision making.

Key Achievements and Plans

In 2020, the Company successfully scored 100 percent in the
AGM Checklist Assessment conducted by the Thai Investors
Association and has achieved 5 stars or “Excellent” in the
Good Corporate Governance Report of Thai Listed Companies
carried out by Thai Institute of Directors (I0OD) for 5 consecutive
years which reflects the importance of giving respect to the
right and fair treatment to each of the shareholders. The
Company still determines to improve the quality in organizing
the meeting inthe upcoming years to be aligned and in accordance

with the regulations of the relevant agencies.

Policy and Treatment on Employees

Employees are the Company's important and valuable human
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resource, which are the keys that drive the organization forward
and grown. For this reason, the Company has stipulated a
policy and treatment on employees in the Code of Conduct
(as amended) and the Work Rules. The employees are treated
equally and fairly in terms of appropriate remunerations,
welfare and benefit, and safety and hygiene in the workplace,
as well as improvement of knowledge and capability of the
employees. The policy and treatment on employees are as
follows:
1. Providing equal and consistent opportunity for the employees
to learn and develop knowledge and skills to their full potential;
2. Providing ethical trainings regarding good practice, transparency,
and anti-corruption; and

3. Treating the employees based on a moral basis.

Key Achievements and Plans
* [mprovement of capabilities and readiness of employees

In respect of personnel management, the Company has

policies and guidelines to treat employees who are the key

interested persons to the Company's success, and to promote
participation of employees as follows:

1. Arranging orientations, business ethical trainings, anti-corruption
policy, safety and quality system, as well as basic knowledges
on various topics necessary for the new joiners before
on-the-job trainings. The result of the Pre-test and Post-test
on business ethics and Anti-Corruption policy indicated
that, besides performing the assigned duty, the management
and employees have the first duty priority to maintain
honesty and refrain from bribery and corruption acts. It is
also our satisfaction that there has been no complaint
regarding the breach of anti-corruption policy;

2.Promoting campaigns and implanting values on occupational
health and safety by arranging “Clean Office Desk without
Bacteria and Mailbox Cleaning” activity and mobile Safety
Committee meeting.

3. Conducting Employee Engagement survey in 2017, which
was the first year of this survey. The overall result is 77.2
percent which is in the medium-high level. The Employee
Engagement survey will be conducted every 3 years in
order to apply such result for the purpose of analyzing
and improving treatments provided to the employees.

According to the result of the survey, we have proceeded

with the followings:

* Improving the cafeteria at Laem Chabang Office (Clean
Food Good Taste) for the better sanitation in smell,
cooking place, and waste disposal system by adjusting
the landscape of both internal and external areas to
be clean and appropriate for using as a diner place for
the employees, ship agents’ employees as well as outsource

employees.

Inthis regard, the employees also participated in decorating
the place by proposing ideas on the design and decoration
of the cafeteria and cooperated in decorating their cafeteria
which was regarded as a CSR that was done within
the organization where it can add value to the work
and the place that they have to use every day. In a way,
this activity helps building an awareness in taking care
of the company's property.

* As the employees want to build the Core Value for the
purpose of driving and establishing in the same direction
and behavior, in 2018, the Board of Directors has
approved the word ‘SPIRIT" as the guideline for such

Core Value.

4. Pursuant to the result of the assessment on the key
stakeholders of the organization, the employees are considered
as an essential part in driving the business. Therefore, the
risk of the personnel capability development that falls
behind the needs of business operation will be more
challenging in the future. It will have a significant impact on
the sustainable growth of the Company, both in the

medium and long term plan.

* Remuneration and Welfare Management

The Company has explicit rules and regulations on remuneration
and welfare of employees. The Company’s remuneration and
welfare are appropriate comparing to those of other companies
in the same industry. In other words, the remuneration and
welfare management for the Company’s employees is in a
good to excellent level. Currently, the Welfare Committee
consists of 2 employer representatives and 5 employee
representatives. In 2020, there were 4 meetings held in total.

Please refer to "Corporate Sustainability Drive"” chapter for
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further details.

Policy and Treatment on Customers

The Company aims to build customers’ satisfaction and confidence
by focusing on the attentiveness and responsibility which
impact the business success. This is carried out by improving
quality and provision of service which can constantly and
continually satisfy the customers' needs to maintain a good
relationship with the customers in the long term. The Company
has conducted customer satisfaction surveys to collect their
comments or complaints and applied them as a guideline to
improve for better service and management. Moreover, with
regard to personnel development, the Company also constantly
provides trainings and knowledge to the employees before
they perform their duties, and enhances their skills and
knowledge so that the customers can obtain the utmost
benefit from the services. The Company has received various
standard management certifications which can create
confidence among the customers of the company, the details

of which are as follows:

Year 2014 - 2015

+ [SO 9001:2008 for the Quality Management System Standard
from Lloyd's Register Quality Assurance Limited;

+ SO 14001:2004 for the Environmental Management System
Standard from Lloyd's Register Quality Assurance Limited;

* OHSAS18001:2007 for the Occupational Health and Safety
Management System from Lloyd's Register Quality Assurance
Limited;

* The Excellent Logistics Management Awards or ELMA,
from Department of International Trade Promotion, Ministry
of Commerce; and

* The Prime Minister's Business Enterprise Award 2014: PM
Award 2014, under the category of Best Services Enterprise
Award for Logistics from General Prayuth Chan-ocha, Prime

Minister

Year 2018

« SO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and ISO 45001:2018
Standard from Llyod's Register Quality Assurance (LRQA)

In this regard, the Company has never received any complaints

from the customers. The Company has a guideline on customer

treatment as follows:

1. Treating customers equally and fairly based on the basis of
mutual benefit of both parties;

2. Providing complete and adequate information concerning
the services in a timely manner;

3. Protecting customers' confidential information which shall
not be utilized illegitimately, unless prior consent is given by
the customers and the authorized persons of the Company,
or such information is required to be disclosed to a related
third party under the provisions of the laws; and

4. Providing a process that the customers may lodge complaints

concerning the quality and safety of services.

Key Achievements and Plans
In 2020, the customers, suppliers, business partners' satisfaction
survey were higher than 80%, please refer to “Operational

Highlights" chapter.

Policy and Treatment on Competitors

The Company supports and promotes free and fair trade
competition policy by operating business in compliance
with fair trade competition regulations and avoiding unfair
competition to damage the competitors. The treatment on
competitors are as follows:

1. Operating business incompliance with fair trade competition

regulations; and
2. Not making damage to the reputation of trade competitors

with malicious accusation.

Policy and Treatment on Suppliers and Business Partners
The Company applies a transparent and fair policy for selection
of suppliers and business partners, and strictly complies
with commercial conditions by taking into account the best
interests of the Company and a fair return for both parties.
Suppliers or business partners of the Company are divided

into 2 important groups:

Group 1: Normal Supplier or Business partner means the
suppliers that the Company purchases goods or services
from, which are mostly the goods or services generally sold
by a number of sellers or service providers in the market. The

treatment on suppliers and business partners are as follows:
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1. Treating suppliers and business partners equally and fairly
on the basis of a fair return for both parties; and

2. Having criteria on the selection and assessment of suppliers
and business partners, criteria on procurement and hiring of
outsourced company based on the consideration of suppliers
and business partners’ strategies and safety standard that
are conformed to the Company’s. The Company selects
suppliers and outsourced company with approval of the
authorized persons of the Company by taking into consideration
of the price comparison and the following criteria:

2.1. Capability;

2.2. Expertise and experience;

2.3. Financial status;

2.4. Business reputation; and

2.5. Records of complaints and litigations

Group 2: Specialized Supplier or Business partner means
supplier or business partner who has specialized expertise
in the area that is the key to the standard of terminal service
and management or who is an expert in giving operational
consultation that supports and enhances the efficiency of
the Company'’s operation. The Company shall implement
the same treatments as Group 1 with additional treatments
as follows:
1. Strict compliance with the agreed terms and conditions;
2. Maintaining the standard required for such specialization
and in consistency with the Company's direction and
standard; and
3. Assessing the performance by highlighting the business
impacts and the compliance with the laws and standards

under the operating procedures.

Furthermore, the Company encourages suppliers and business
partners to engage with the policy against child labor and the
policy against illegal migrant labor, in accordance with the

Company's Policy on Human Rights.

Key Achievements and Plans

One of the specialized suppliers is the wharf handling contractor.
Its personnel are required to attend the trainings on operational
standards carried out by the Operation Department. The
contractor shall set a plan and guideline to minimize accidental

risks from the operation which must be in compliance with

the safety plan of the Company in order to ensure that the
risks are managed to the extent that will not affect the business
and the environment. Such operational standards shall be

examined regularly by the relevant departments.

Policy and Treatment on Creditors
The Company has established a strategy in capital management,
liquidity management in respect of debt repayment to meet
the maturity in a timely manner and has built confidence
among creditors by emphasizing good faith and strictly
complying with the conditions and agreements made with its
creditors. The treatment on creditors are as follows:

1. Preparing fair agreements and complying with all agreements
made with the creditors, as well as repaying full payment
in a timely manner and being responsible for all guarantees
under the contracts (if any): and

2. In case of failure to perform according to the conditions as
agreed, notifying its creditors immediately in order to remedy

and prevent damages.

Policy and Treatment on Society and Community
Development

Please refer to "Corporate Sustainability Drive” chapter.

Policy and treatment on development of innovation and
technology

Due to the tendency of rapid and unpredictable change of
technology, the improvement of capabilities in the organization
for the use of technology in working procedures may not catch
up with the business operation in the future, which becomes

more challenging.

Therefore, the Company values the technology and innovation
as a strategy in creating sustainable growth under the following
principles:
1. Use of the existing information technology for the highest
effectiveness
Goal: Emphasize the improvement of working procedures to
develop ideas and knowledge which will lead to innovations
in the existing activities of the Company.
2. Establishment of new business or new service that isinnovative
and different from the existing businesses

Goal: Emphasize the giving of opportunity in engaging in
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new businesses.

Key Achievements and Plans

Since 2016, the Human Resource Department and the Information
Technology Department have mutually developed the
employees’ database system under the project called ‘peoplewin’
to record employees' data and profiles, to monitor and approve
leaves, and to assess employees’ performance via the information
technology system, which is self-developed by the Company
which reduces the reliance of external software procurement.
The systemis accurate, precise and fast in recording and approving.
In this regard, the system has been developed in the function
of approving overtime work via peoplewin system (where it
was previously done by paper work). Such system has been

implemented since 2018.

Medium-term plan (2018 - 2021) is as follows:

1. Establishing an environment that supports innovations in
the organization and creating sub-leaders who will creatively
lead to a good environment for colleagues;

2. Creating alearning environment and channels to knowledge

management.

Policy and Treatment on Intellectual Property
Since 2015, the Board of Directors has approved the policy
on intellectual property protection and a 100 percent of the
employees and the management was trained in order to encourage
the management and the employees to conduct their duties
in strict compliance with intellectual property right, copyright
and patent, as well as to emphasize the managements and the
employees to maintain the highest standard on protection of
intellectual property in their works and business operations. The
policy and treatment on intellectual property are as follows:
1. Encouraging the management and the employees to use
copyright products and not to support products or actions
which infringe intellectual property; and
2. Using pirate software isillegal and deemed as an infringement

of intellectual property.

Disclosure of Information and Transparency
The Company has established a policy on disclosure of

information and transparency of financial reports and business

operation, by prescribing rules regarding the disclosure of
financial information and other information relating to the
business, and the Company’s operational results, which must
be correct, complete, adequate, reliable, and timely for the
shareholders, investors, securities analysts, and the general
public. The Board of Directors supervises the Company to
ensure that it strictly complies with the laws and regulations
relating to the disclosure of information and transparency. A
report shall be submitted when any director or management
undertake a share transfer according to the Regulations of the
Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the

Company's policy on good corporate governance.

The directors and the managements shall report the holding
of securities, and shall disclose report on their conflict of
interests, including their related parties as required by
applicable laws, in order to ensure that the directors and
the managements can administer and operate the business
with honesty, clarity, and transparency, which will create
confidence among the shareholders and investors in the

Company's managements.

Inventors Relationship

The Company always values the importance of disclosure
of information, according to the regulations of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand and the Office of Securities and
Exchange Commission, with an accurate, complete, transparent,
consistent, timely and thorough through various channels. The
Company has also assigned the persons who have knowledge,
capability, and understanding of the Company's business to

be investor relation officers.

In this regard, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer or the assigned management shall have a duty to
directly communicate with the shareholders, investors and
securities analysts both domestically and internationally. In
addition to disclosure of information via the Stock Exchange
of Thailand's system and the Company's website, the Company
also provides a channel to communicate its business operation
progress and to respond queries for investors in order to allow
all groups of stakeholders who concern with the Company's

activities would receive the information on an equal basis.
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In 2020, the Company received the investor relation assessment of listed companies at 83.15 percent and took action on

investor relations as follows:

* Held 5 meetings with the institutional investors there were
5 meetings of the foreign institutional investors, categorized
as 1 one-on-one meetings and 4 conference calls

* Held 6 conference call with the press
* Held 34 meetings, categorized as 1 one-on-one meetings
and 33 conference calls with Analyst

Responsibility of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible to supervise the business
operations with due care, honesty, and prudence by supervising
the administration to meet with targets and guidelines for
the utmost benefits of the shareholders while, at the same

time, taking into account of the benefits of all stakeholders.

The Board of Directors comprises of directors who have
leadership, vision, and independence in making decisions
for the utmost benefits of the shareholders as a whole. The
Board of Directors arranges a working system to ensure that
the activities of the Company are carried out in accordance
with the laws and ethics, particularly anti-corruption in all of
its forms by applying an internal audit mechanism to assess
risks, and to prevent and control unlawful acts. All directors
fully understand the duties and responsibilities and the nature
of business operations of the Company, and are ready to
independently express their own opinions and to keep up-to-

date at all times. They are also aware that they must perform

their duties with good faith, care and prudence.

ﬂ
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Policy on the Diversity of the Board of Directors' Structure
The Board of Directors comprises of directors from diverse
qualifications, including gender, skill, experience, and ability,
who are devoting their time and efforts to fully perform their
duties and responsibilities and to carry out the duties of the
Board of Directors in an efficient and effective manner. At
present, the Board of Directors comprises of 5 women or

equivalent to 42 percent of the total directors.

The Board of Directors has set up sub-committees to assist
in studying and screening the works according to necessity,
particularly in the case where it requires neutrality to make
decisions. The Board of Directors also clearly prescribes
charters of sub-committees, duties, responsibilities, and

working procedure.

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee is responsible to seek for person having eligible
qualification and skill fulfillment, gender, proficiency and
specialization to align with the Board of Directors’ structure

and business strategies.
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Board Skill Matrix as of 31 December 2020

Skill/Experience/
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Proficiency

Not to be a director in more
5 other listed compannies

Enrolled Standard training course
of IOD

Criteria's of being the position of
Independent Director and Audit
Committee

Organization Management

Logistics

Industry Automotive

Knowledge

Risk Management

Human Management

Marketing

Corporate Governance

Management

Plan and Strategy

Logistics

Engineer

Finance

Accounting

Legal

Name-Surname

Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Professor Emeritus

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra

Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon

Mrs. Sunee Pongpud

No.

1.

2.

3

4. [ Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10. | Mr. Vallop Tiasiri

1.

12. [ Dr. Vichya Kreangam
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Criteria and Process on Director Nomination
The nomination of an individual to be the Company's director shall be in accordance with the transparent nomination

process as follows:

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee considers directors’
qualifications which are suitable and conformed with the business operation, as well as

diversified in terms of experience, knowledge, and independence.

3. Proposals by the minority shareholders who are entitled to nominate the qualified

Process Details
Criteria
Nomination Nomination from:

1. Recommendation from directors

2. Professional Search Firm

director(s)

4. Database of Thai Institute of Directors

Selection

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee will consider the

qualifications.

Appointment

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee will consider the
qualified candidate and resolve to propose the candidate to the Board of Directors for

further approval.

Re-election

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee will consider relevant
factors such as performance, meeting attendance, meeting participation, and contribution
to other activities of the Board of Directors, and propose to the Board of Directors for approval,

and further consideration by Shareholders’ meeting.

The appointment of the Company's directors shall be in line
with the resolution of the Board of Directors or the AGM
as the case may be, subjected to the consideration of the
Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Board of Directors respectively. As of
31 December 2020, the Board of Directors comprises of 12

directors, as follows:

= 7 independent directors, or equivalent to 58 percent of the
total number of directors;

= 2 non-executive directors, or equivalent to 17 percent of the
total number of directors; and

= 3 executive directors or equivalent to 25 percent of the total

number of directors.
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Orientation for New Directors

The Company arranges an orientation for newly appointed

directors in order for them to be informed the business policies,

capital structure, shareholders, operation results, as well as

laws, regulations and information which are beneficial for the

directors of the Company, as follows:

1. Public Company Limited Act B.E. 2535 (1992);

2. Code of Best Practice for Directors of Listed Companies;

3. Affidavit of Company issued by Department of Business
Development, Ministry of Commerce, Memorandum of
Association, and Articles of Association of the Company;

4. The Company's Good Corporate Governance policy;

5. Listed Company Directors Manual of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand;

6. Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies 2017
(CG Code); and

7. Annual Report of the Company, both Thai and English

version.

Role of the Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Company places importance to supervise the performance

of the management, therefore, the Company assigns the position

of Chairman to be an independent director separately from
the position of Chief Executive Officer to ensure the utmost
benefits of the shareholders. The duties of the Chairman of
the Board of Directors are aligned with CG Code as follows:

1. Overseeing, monitoring, and ensuring that the Board of
Directors efficiently carries out its duties to achieve the
company’s main objectives;

2. Ensuring that all directors contribute to create the company's
ethical culture and good corporate governance;

3. Setting the Board of Directors’ meeting agenda by discussing
with the Chief Executive Officer and ensuring that the
important matters are included;

4. Allocating sufficient time for the management to propose
topics and for the directors to debate on important matters
thoroughly, and encouraging the directors to exercise prudent
discretion and independently give opinions; and

5. Promoting a good relationship between the executive directors
and the non-executive directors, and between the Board of

Directors and the management.

Separation of Role and Responsibility between the
Board of Directors and the Management

The Board of Directors is responsible to supervise the operation
of the Company to be carried out in accordance with the laws,
the Articles of Association, the Good Corporate Governance
Policy, and the resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting.
With regards to the governance, the Board of Directors shall
exercise their business judgment and act as they reasonably
believe that it is for the best interests of the Company and

the shareholders.

The management is responsible to implement the Company's
strategy and business plans for achievement, as well as to
carry out day-to-day management and affairs of the Company.
In 2020, the management has reviewed the vision, mission,
strategy and annual business plan and proposed to the Board
of Directors for acknowledgement. The Board of Directors
quarterly follows up and monitors its operation to be in
accordance with the determined strategy and business plan
and to advise the management to take further action or

improvement.

Meeting of the Board of Directors

The Company schedules the meetings of the Board of Directors
in advance throughout the year and informs the directors of
such scheduled meetings. The meeting of the Board of Directors
will be held at least once every quarter. Inthe case of urgency,
additional meetings of the Board of Directors may be held
as appropriate so that the Board of Directors will be able to
performits duties efficiently. In holding a meeting of the Board
of Directors, the Corporate Secretary will send an invitation
notice setting out clear meeting agenda and providing complete
and sufficient documents to the Board of Directors, at least
7 days prior to the meeting date so that the directors shall
have sufficient time to review information before the meeting.
Each meeting is arranged with sufficient time for the directors
to discuss and express opinions openly whereby the Chairman
of the Board of Directors shall compile the opinions and

conclusions resolved by the meeting.

In the case where any director has a material conflict of interest
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on the agenda item being considered, such director shall abstain
from voting during the consideration of the said matter. The
minutes of each meeting shall be recorded in writing and
proposed to the Board of Directors for consideration before
being certified by the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
and the Corporate Secretary later in the following meeting.
The document storage is in form of original hardcopy files
and electronic files which includes the minutes of meetings,
and the meeting documents for convenient verification and

reference by concerned persons.

Power of the Board of Directors

1. Consider for approval or consent to significant transactions,
such as, investment in a new business, or the acquisition
or disposition of assets of the Company and its subsidiaries
in accordance with the relevant notifications, regulations
andrules of practices of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the Stock Exchange of Thailand for the benefit
of the Company and the shareholders whereby the director
with conflict of interest is not entitled to vote;

2. Consider for approval or consent to the related party transaction
of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with
the relevant notifications, regulations and rules of practices
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock
Exchange of Thailand for the benefit of the Company and
the shareholders whereby the director with conflict of interest
is not entitled to vote; and

3. Consider for approval of interim dividend payment to the
shareholders, and to consider annual dividend payment to
be proposed to the shareholders’ meeting for further

consideration and approval.

Reports of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial reports
and the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries. In this regard, the Board of Directors has
appointed the Audit Committee to be responsible for reviewing
the financial reports and the consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries to comply with the
generally accepted accounting standards in Thailand, and to

apply and regularly practice appropriate accounting policies.

Furthermore, the Board of Directors expressed its opinion in
the Report of the Board of Directors' Responsibility for Financial
Report. Please refer to “Report on the Responsibilities of
the Board of Directors' for the Financial Report” chapter

for further details.

Operation Result Assessment

Currently, the Company has self-assessment forms for the
Board of Directors and sub-committees which are collective
assessment form and individual assessment form. It is aimed
to be used in an annual self-assessment to review
accomplishments, issues, and obstacles in the previous
year. The summary of the assessment will be prepared to
improve the operation to be more efficient. Please refer to

“Self-Assessment” chapter for further details.

Prevention of Conflict of Interest

The Board of Directors has adopted a policy which prevents
the directors, the managements and the employees of the
Company from abusing their powers as directors, management
and employees to gain personal benefits as clearly prescribed
in the Code of Conduct (as amended) on practices for the
management and the employees of the Company to avoid
making any related party transactions with themselves which
may be in conflict of interest with the Company. In the event
that it is necessary to make such transactions for the benefit
of the Company or is deemed to be a related party transaction,
the Board of Directors prescribes that it must be strictly proceeded
with the relevant regulations, whereby the director with conflict

of interest is not entitled to vote.

Policy on Remunerations of the Directors

The Board of Directors has appointed the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee to
determine the remunerations of the Board of Directors and the
sub-committees in order to motivate and retain the directors. The
Board of Directors and the sub-committees should receive
more appropriate remuneration if they need to take more
responsibility and such remuneration should be comparable
to the same industry benchmark. In this regard, the remunerations

of the Board of Directors and the sub-committees shall
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be subject to the approval resolution of the shareholders’
meeting. Please refer to “Remunerations of Directors and
Managements" chapter for further details on remunerations

of the directors in 2020.

Policy on Remunerations of the Management

The executive directors and the managements should receive
remunerations based on operational result and performance
of each person and in accordance with the good corporate
governance principles adopted by the Stock Exchange of
Thailand, as well as internationally recognized standard.
Please refer to “Remunerations of Directors and Managements"
chapter for further details on 2020 remunerations of the

managements.

Remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee is responsible to determine annual remuneration,
annual salary rate adjustment, salary adjustment, and necessary
and appropriate remuneration in form of monetary and
non-monetary benefits, as well as to consider the conditions
and terms of the Chief Executive Officer employment by applying
benchmark as criteria, as well as comparing with other companies

listed in the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

Succession planning policy for the Chief Executive
Officer and top managements in main line of the
organization

The Company recognizes the importance of continuous

management which leads to sustainable growth and advancement.

The Board of Directors has resolved to approve the succession

planning policy for the Chief Executive Officer and top

managements in main line of the organization since 2016,

details of which are as follows:

1. Preparing a succession planning for the Chief Executive
Officer and top managements in main line of the organization
by considering the appropriate qualification and experience,
work result, capability and readiness under the criteria
determined by the Company to promote the Company'’s
personnel who has good performance and high potential

to achieve higher position; and

2. Preparing the designated successor to be ready by developing
the knowledge, capability and skill necessary for such
position to success in case the CEO and top managements

in main line of the organization cannot perform their duties.

In this regard, the designated successor not only have to be
qualified and experienced in appropriate line of business,
but also has to receive the experience by rotating in other
relevant departments and receive additional trainings as

necessary to be prepared for continuous performance.

Business Code of Conduct

The Company is committed to operate its business transparently,
honestly, morally, and with responsibility to stakeholders as
well as to society and the environment. Furthermore, the
Company also refrains from any activity which infringes intellectual
property or violates human rights. In this regard, the Company
adopts a policy of non-prejudice or non-discrimination, and,
at the same time, take measures to ensure that the employees
are entitled to a working environment that is safe, clean,
sanitary and free from all forms of harassment. The Company
upholds equality and sincerity principle to administer salary,
other forms of compensation, and terms of employment.
The Company also refrains from using child labor. In this respect,
the Board of Directors has prescribed these practices in the
Code of Conduct (as amended) so that the director, the
managements and the employees can be aware of such
practices together with rules and procedures of the Company.
The Company has also prescribed that while working with
the Company, it is the duty and responsibility of all directors,
managements and the employees to acknowledge, understand
and strictly comply with the policies and practices set forth
in the Code of Conduct (as amended) whereby the supervisors
at all levels must be role models and encourage their subordinates
to comply with the prescribed practices and provide channels
for complaints to be submitted by employees concerning
any failure of compliance and other violation of the business
conducts, and the rules and regulations. The complaints shall
be considered and handled prudently and confidentially to

protect the rights of an accused individual and an informant.



102 56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

In addition, the Company places importance on conducting
business with honest, accuracy, fair and transparency by
strictly complying with the laws, regulations and rules,
particularly the Anti-Corruption law. In order to ensure that
the directors, the managements and the employees of the
Company will operate in the same direction, the Company
specifies that the directors, the managements and the
employees shall comply with the Anti-Corruption policy and
Code of Conduct of the Company which prohibit the directors,
the managements and the employees of the Company from
involving, whether directly or indirectly, in all types of
corruption. Any violation shall be deemed as a serious breach
of discipline, which shall be subject to punishment in accordance
with the regulation of the Company and shall be liable under

the law if such action is illegal.

For clarity and continuity on raising an awareness on
Anti-Corruption as mentioned above, the Board of Directors
Meeting No. 5/2559 held on 9 November 2016 has resolved
to approve the Code of Conduct (as amended) to include
the Anti-Corruption policy and publish it on the Company’s
website at www.namyongterminal.com. In addition, training
course on the Code of Conduct (as amended) was arranged
for 100 percent of employees. All of the employees have
taken the Pretest and Posttest in order to check the level of
knowledge and understanding about the Code of Conduct,
regulations and Anti-Corruption policy of the Company. It is
required that everyone understands and complies with such

at all times while working with the Company.

Since 2018, the training courses on the Code of Conduct and
the Anti-Corruption policy were also provided to the Company's

business partners.

Other Issues on Good Corporate Governance

Principles Compliance

1.Inthe meeting No. 7/2020, the Corporate Secretary informed
the Board of Directors about the principles under the CG
Code and the duty as a governing body in creating sustainable
values for the business, and also concluded the assessment

of CG Code compliance. In overall, the Company has complied

with more than 50 percent of the CG Code principles. For
the remaining principles, the Administration Department
has been assigned to prepare the plans and to occasionally
report to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors
will review the implementation of CG Code principles, to

the extent appropriate for the business, at least once a year.

2. Currently, the Company has no policy to give the right of

stock option to the management; however, the Company
values the importance in taking care of the managements,
both in planning for handling over works to successors and
in educating the managements by sponsoring the trainings
and seminars on continual basis along with reviewing the
remuneration and providing welfares regularly to ensure
that the managements have been granted competitive offers
comparing to those of other companies in the same industry
which shall encourage the work motivation, loyalty, and

ownership to the organization in a long term.

3. The Company is aware of the value of the experiences that

the Chief Executive Officer may gain from being a director
in other companies or organizations; however, in order to
have times to work in the full capacity for the Company,
the Chief Executive Officer may take the position of director
in other companies or organizations to the extent necessary
as long as it does not affect the performance as the Chief
Executive Officer. Please refer to "Details on Directors,
Managements, The person supervising accounting and
Corporate Secretary” for details of directorship in other

companies or organizations of the Chief Executive Officer.

4. The Board of Directors has delayed to set a policy on

limitation of the number of companies that each director is
able to take directorship because after considering the
procedures for nomination and selection of directors under
which the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee shall consider the knowledge, skills,
expertise and experience, profile, and qualifications that
are not prohibited by the law, independency as well as the
ability to work in full capacity for the Company, it appears
that being a director in more than 5 companies does not
significantly affect the proficient performance of the director
if the Company has a clear and proper nomination and

selection procedure of directors.
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Nevertheless, none of the Directors of the Company holds

directorship in more than 5 other listed companies.

5. The Company has delayed to set policy on limitation of

the number of years which an Independent Director is able
toserveinthe position because it is viewed that the characteristic
ofthe Company's business requires the Independent Directors
who have specialized knowledge, expertise and experience.
Moreover, the Independent Directors of the Company are
qualified pursuant to the Company's definition of Independent

Director and are able to well perform their duties.

6.In every Board of Directors’ meeting, each of the Directors

independently asks questions, discusses and gives opinions
in several issues with the management. This can ensure that
the Board of Directors well performs its duties in supervising
the operation carried out by the management for the most
efficiency and effectiveness for the shareholders and every
interested parties; therefore, the policy requiring the meeting
to be held more than 6 times per year. However, in case of

urgency, the Board of Directors may hold additional meetings.

7.In every Board of Directors’ meeting, each of the Directors

independently asks questions, discusses and gives opinion
in several issues with the management. This can ensure that
the Board of Directors well performs its duties in supervising
the operation carried out by the management for the most
efficiency and effectiveness for the shareholders and every
interested parties; therefore, the policy requiring the meeting
among non-executive directors without attendance of the

management has not been prescribed.

. Even though the Company does not establish a compliance

unit in the organization with the view that the Corporate
Secretary, by the position, is already a center for compliance
with the regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the Port
Authority of Thailand, which creates the highest efficiency

appropriate for corporate structure.

Currently, the Corporate Secretary has the responsibility to
promote a strict compliance conducted by the employees
and to report changes of regulations of the relevant

authorities to the Board of Directors every quarter, as well

0.

as to encourage the high level managements to manage

compliance risk effectively.

In 2020, 99% of employees and managements have taken
the summary of Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562
(2019) with its case studies whereby must be impacted
and complied with their works as the specified by law and
Personal Data Protection Policy.

Although the Free Float of the Company is less than 40
percent of the total paid-up shares, the Company always
values and respects the right of the minority shareholders as
well as always discloses material information to the minority
shareholders and gives opportunity to the minority shareholders
to propose agendas of the meeting and nominate persons

to be directors in advance.

The 2020 Annual General shareholders’ Meeting was
recognized for full compliance with the AGM Checklist
Assessment conducted by the Thai Investors Association
and the Company has successfully scored 100 percent for

5 consecutive years.

10. The Board of Directors has delayed to set a policy on

the minimum quorum of not less than two-third of the total
directors (the interested directors are not included) to pass
resolutions. However, in the past 3 years, more than two-third
of the directors of the Company attended in every meeting
and prior to the vote casting, the Chairman gave opportunity
to all the directors to question and discuss openly to ensure
that the Board of Directors exercised prudent discretion to

make a decision.

11. The Company has not set a policy requiring the Directors

and the high-level management to inform the Board of
Directors or the person appointed by the Board of Directors
at least 1 day prior to the trading the Company's shares as

the price of the share varies on the market condition.

However, the Company has set a policy on prevention of
insider trading to prevent the exploitation of such information
by the directors, the high-level management and the
employees either for their own or third party’'s benefit. The

Company also has the policy requiring each share trading
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to be reported to the Board of Directors as well as set the
black-out period where certain material information will be
disclosed to the public.Moreover, the Corporate Secretary
has made reports on the Company's securities held by the
directors and the management and quarterly submitted to
the Board of Directors for acknowledgement.

12. According to the Articles of Association of the Company

Bt

P

which specifies that the directors shall be appointed by the
majority vote of the shareholders, each shareholder hold the
voting right equal to the number of shares held; therefore,
the Company has not set the cumulative voting method.
However, the Company has set other methods to protect the
right of the minority shareholders, e.g., allowing the minority

shareholders to propose persons to be elected as directors

of the Company.
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Overseeing of the Operation of the Subsidiary and

Management Policy in the Subsidiary Company

The Company will set out business policies that the Company
considers to be conducive to the achievement of the Company's
objectives and long-term goals for the subsidiary through
approval of the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors.
The Company will designate representatives from the Executive
Director level or the Senior Management level to take the
position of directors in the subsidiary and to set the business
strategies for the subsidiary, as well as to monitor whether
the subsidiary conducts its businesses within the business

framework set by the Company.

The directors who are representative of the Company in the
subsidiary shall use their discretion for the best interest of the
Company as a whole. As for matters which are significant to
the business of the subsidiary, the directors who are representative
of the Company in the subsidiary will provide the performance
progress report or propose the matters to the Executive
Committee or the Board of Directors, as the case may be,

for consideration.

Mechanisms for the Supervision of Subsidiaries

and Associates

* The executive committee has authority to appoint and

remove directors, managements and employees to be the
representatives of each of the subsidiary companies and
the associated companies and report such appointment
and removal to the Company's Board of Directors for
acknowledgement.

* The scope of authorities, duties, and responsibilities of the
directors and managements who are the representatives of
the Company, whereby the directors, who are the representative
of the Company have the duty to consider and approve
the material matters, e.g., policies, strategies, as well as to
supervise and monitor the managements to ensure that

the operation is in compliance with the specified policies

the Associated Companies

and plans. The managements who are the representative
of the Company shall participate in stipulating strategy and
plan for the operation in order to achieve the specified target
by following-up, inspecting, and supervising the operation
of the subsidiary and affiliated companies through meetings
of the subsidiary's or affiliated companies' board of directors
or the managements.

* The operation and direction of the subsidiary companies
and the associated companies, as well as, the engagement
between the subsidiary companies or the associated companies
with the third parties shall be directed by the Board of Directors
of the Company, by having reliable financial report system
and audit, appropriate risk management and internal control
and mitigation of conflict of interests.

* The subsidiary companies’ and affiliated companies' operation
shall be reported to the Company'’s Board of Directors or the

Chief Executive Officer within the specified period.

Management Policy in the Associated Company
When the Company acquires shares of the associated company,
the Company will designate representatives to take the position
of directors inthe associated company, based on the proportion
of the shares held by the Company, in order to monitor and
ensure that the associated company carries out its business
operation in accordance with the Company'’s guidelines and

expectation.

The Shareholders’ Agreement onthe Management
of the Subsidiary and the Associated Companies
Subsidiary Company

-None-

Associated Company

-None-
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Overseeing of Insider Information

Overseeing of the Use of Insider Information

In the meeting of the Board of Directors No. 9/2019 held
on 8 November 2019, the Board of Directors approved the
amendment of Confidentiality of Information, Protection of
Information and Insider trading Policy for the compliance
with the Securities and Exchange Act. B.E. 2535 (1992) of
which Chapter 8, Unfair Securities Trading Practices and the
Acquisition of Securities for Business Take-overs, Division 1,
Prevention of Unfair Securities Trading Practices. The definition
of “inside information” has been amended, as well as the
scope of the assumption of the person possessing inside
information (Section 243) has been extended. In this regard,
Confidentiality of Information, Protection of Information and
Insider trading Policy have been integrated as they are related.
Such policy has been published on the Company's website:
www.namyongterminal.com. In 2020, trainings thereof was

held to 99% of the employees and the executives.

Confidentiality of Information, Protection of

Information and Insider trading Policy

Definition

“Executive” shall mean

1. The executive pursuant to Section 89/1 of the Securities and
Exchange Act B.E 2535 (1992), as amended; and

2. The person holding top position of each line, the manager
or the head of the line and so on.

“Confidential Information” shall mean non-public information
of the Company including the personal information that the
employees, staff, business partners or customers disclose to
the Company which if disclosed to the public or any person
shall cause effect to the Company whether it is monetary
or not.

“Inside Information" shall mean any information including
but not limited to financial documents, financial information,
agreements, non-public material legal disputes which cause
Effect to the Price of the Securities.

"“Effect to the Price of the Securities” shall mean effect to
the price of the securities which may be higher, lower, stable
or maintain the price of the securities.

Policy and Treatment

1. The directors, Executives, auditors, financial advisors, legal
advisors, asset appraisers, employees or staff are responsible
for the confidentiality of the Confidential Information. Each
oftheresponsible persons shall be not disclose the Confidential
Information in his/her possession to any other person. In
this regard, the Company has classified the information and
determined the access to each of the classified information,
as well as the keeping of the Confidential Information.
The exemption is provided in case required to be disclosed
by the law or approved to be disclosed by the Chief Executive
Officer, the person holding top position of the line or any
person authorized by the Executive Committee or the Board
of Directors.

2. The person responsible for the human resource shall
ensure that any employment of the person who worked
for the competitors, customers or business partners does
not violate the agreement with the competitors, customers,
or business partners which leads to a legal dispute with
the Company.

3. Within 2 years after the termination of the directorship for
whatsoever reason or the termination of employment or hire
of the Executives, financial advisors, legal advisors,
employees or staff of the Company for whatsoever reason,
such persons shall not disclose the Confidential Information.

4. The directors, Executives, auditors, financial advisors, legal
advisors, asset appraisers or any other person responsible
for the Inside Information, employees or staff possessing
or knowing the Inside Information or being in the title or
theline that is responsible for the Inside Information or able
to access to the Inside Information which causes Effect to
the Price of the Securities are prohibited to trade the securities
of the Company 1 month prior to the announcement of the
financial statement and within 24 hours after the publication
through the portal of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

5. The directors, Executives, auditors, financial advisors, legal
advisors, asset appraisers or any other person responsible
for the Inside Information, employees or staff possessing
or knowing the Inside Information or being in the title or
theline that is responsible for the Inside Information or able
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to access to the Inside Information which causes Effect to
the Price of the Securities are prohibited to, directly or
indirectly, in any manner use or disclose the Inside Information
to any other person knowing or should know that such
person will exploit such information for trading the securities
for his/her own or other's interest.

6. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or any
other authorized person is responsible for investor relation
including domestic and international shareholders, investors
and analysts.

7. The corporate secretary or the authorized person is responsible
for the notification and promotion of the refraining from
usage of Inside Information at least 1 month prior through
the channels specified by the Company, such as email or
any other communication which allows the stakeholders
to promptly and fairly receive the information.

8. The directors and the managements must notify any purchase

and sale of their own securities within the period specified

by the law, as well as report the holding of securities to the
Board of Directors. The corporate secretary shall prepare a
summary of the alteration of securities holding of the directors
and managements for the Board of Directors every quarter. This
is to prevent the directors and the managements to use the

Inside Information in a manner of conflict of interest.

In 2020, the Corporate secretary sent the notification and
promotion of the refraining from usage of Inside Information
at least 1 month prior to the announcement of the financial
statements via quarterly email and official group LINE including
providing in-house training refreshment at least once a year
to directors, managements and employees. In this regards,
the Corporate secretary has prepared a summary of the
alteration of securities holding of the directors and managements
for the Board of Directors every quarter and no any purchase
and sale of their own securities within the period as the
Company specified.
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Whistle Blowing Policy

he Board of Directors approved the whistle blowing policy
Tto encourage employees and stakeholders of the Company
to report fraud, corruption or malpractice, misconduct and
other inappropriate acts in the work place or operation of the
Company through credible channels provided by the Company;
and to build confidence to its employees and stakeholders
that such report shall be properly pursued, independently

investigated and shall remain confidential.

Methods, Procedures, and Protection Measures
The Company has provided channels and procedures in order
for stakeholders to report or file complaints through various
channels as provided, in case the Company is inrisk of damages
including cases of violation of rights. The Corporate Secretary
shall be the central agency which receives the reports and
complaints which the Company may be in risk of damages
and shall then submit the information received to the Executive
Committee. The Executive Committee shall screen and propose
to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors for

acknowledgement.

For employees or whistle blowers who report unfair treatment
by the Company; violation of the law; unethical actions; or is
harassed, threatened, or disciplinary sanctioned such as being
suspended, expelled or discriminated by ways in violation of
the conditions of employment, the Company has provided
protection measures the employees or whistle blowers who
reports such acts by not disclosing the name, address or any
information that could identify the complainant and keeping
this information confidential. After receiving such complaint,
the Executive Committee will examine and investigate the

facts of the complaint; provide an appropriate solution; and
follow up with the results from periodically. The person who is
assigned by the Executive Committee will notify the results of

investigation to the employees and whistle blowers accordingly.

In 2020, the corporate secretary, comliance as the position,
has provided in-house training refreshment of complaint
channels to managements and employees of the Company
and its subsidiary.

In the past 3 years, no any stakeholders reported complaints
through various channels as provided, the corporate secretary
has annually reported to the Board of Directors Meeting for

acknowledgement.

In 2021, the Executive Committee has set Treatment on
Whistle Blowing and sent email to managements and em-
ployees of the Company and its subsidiary for acknowledge-
ment including posting it at menu sustainability on www.

namyongterminal.com

The Company held training sessions for 100 percent of its
managements and employees to create a better understanding
of the policy. The Company has not violated any labor law,
consumers protection law and environmental law, nor has it
been prosecuted by the regulators for not disclosing material
information within the specified period. Furthermore, the
Company has not received any complaint of fraud, unethical
conduct, negative reputation caused by the management of
the Board of Directors nor resignation by non-executive directors
due to the Company'’s issues in relation to the corporate

governance.
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Complaint Channels

The Company's website

Contact details of the Corporate Secretary
Email
Postal Mail

www.namyongterminal.com under the icon “Complaint” ;and
www.namyongterminal.com under the icon
“Chairman of the Board of Directors contact”

csnyt@namyongterminal.com

Corporate Secretary

Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited
168/52 (Lumpini Tower 19th Floor) Rama IV Road,
Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120

he Board of Directors approved the Anti-Corruption
TPolicy to oppose all forms of corruption and to encourage
and educate its employees to recognize all forms of bribery
whether engaged by themselves or others in order for its
employees to avoid such acts, as well as to prescribe punishment
measures against any parties involved in the bribery and
corruption.

Fraud Risk Assessment Process

The Company has arranged a risk management system for
fraud and corruption which suits the business nature and
operation of the Company, in order to prevent and suppress
corruption. The management shall be the assessor of the risk

and consequences.

Guidelines on the supervision and control for

preventing and monitoring the corruption risk

1. Organizing training sessions to educate the employees on
the anti-corruption policy.

2. Arrange communication channels to encourage the
employees to be more vigilant and to report suspicion of
bribery and corruption. Reports can be made through
www. namyongterminal.com under the icon “Complaint”

3. Review the internal control system

4. Arrange a monitoring system to ensure that the policy is

effective.

Anti-Corruption Policy

Guidelines on monitoring and evaluating the
compliance with the guidelines on the prevention
of involvement in the corruption

The Internal Audit shall oversee the internal control system
and continuously provides recommendations by conducting
audits in accordance with the annual audit plan approved by
the Audit Committee and reporting significant results of the
audit with recommendations to the Audit Committee.

The Corporate Secretary has provided in-house training and
orientation session to 100 percent of its managements and
employees to be aware of Code of Conduct (amendment)
and to review this policy. Case studies have been given as a
guideline for avoidance of any anti-corruption cases since 2016.
They have taken Code of Conduct's Pretest and Posttest to
recheck the level of knowledge and understanding about
Code of Conduct, regulations and Anti-Corruption policy
of the Company including posting the policy on the Company’s
website www.namyongterminal.com.

In 2019, the Company has extended the training in business
ethics and anti-corruption policy to the business partners
of the Company. The Corporate secretary ,compliance as
the position, annually sent the notification and promotion of
anti-corruption via email and official group LINE to directors,
managements and employees. During 2020-2021, the executive
committee has set Treatment on Gift and Hospitality and sent
email to managements and employees of the Company and its
subsidiary for acknowledgement including posting it at menu

sustainability on www. namyongterminal.com
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Internal Controls and Audit Fee

Internal Controls

The Company has the policy to enhance the work quality
andimprove management towards professionalism and
leadership in managing Ro/Ro terminal services with
efficiency, transparency and good corporate governance
principles. In this regards, the Board of Directors assigns
the Audit Committee to review and audit the management
system, internal control system, risk management system
in order to ensure that all operations of each unit within the
Company operates efficiently and legally under relevant
rules, regulations, and laws. Moreover, the Audit Committee
also supervises and verifies the preparation of the financial
statements to ensure that the Company has prepared high
quality financial statements containing correct, complete,
transparent, and reliable information as well as conforming
to the relevant accounting standards and regulations and to
create confidence and credibility among the shareholders

and all stakeholders.

With regards to the internal audit, the Company has used the
service of outside counsel, i.e., JS Pro (Thailand) Company
Limited ("JS Pro"), having Ms. Pranee Wonglertsiri as an
audit team leader and also approved the criteria of 2020 the
Company's internal audit framework. The Audit Committee
has considered the qualifications of JS Pro and the audit team
leader to be suitable and sufficient in terms of experience to
perform the duty. JS Pro is required to present internal audit

report directly to Audit Committee, whereby the Company

has assigned the secretary of the Audit Committee to coordinate
with JS Pro.

Apart from the aforementioned audit of internal control systems
conducted by JS Pro, EY Office Limited, the Company's auditor
has assessed internal control systems of the Company and
its subsidiary's financial statements and presented the audit
results to the Audit Committee. In 2020, the Company's auditor
did not detect any material control weaknesses which may

cause damages to the Company'’s operations.

The Board of Directors has considered and evaluated the
adequacy of internal control systems currently used by the
Company by acknowledging the Company's internal control
systems in the following aspects:

1. Internal control;

2. Risk assessment;

3. Operational control;

4. Information technology and data communication systems; and

5. Tracking systems.

The Board of Directors has rendered the opinion that at
present, the Company has adequate internal control system
with regard to transaction concluded with major shareholders,
directors, managements or parties related to such person.
For other aspects of internal control system, the Board of
Directors has an opinion that the Company’s internal control
is sufficient and in line with the adequacy assessment form
for the internal control of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
In this regard, the Audit Committee holds the same opinion

as that of the Board of Directors.
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Head of Internal Audit Department

Internal audit (Department) (engage with outside counsel)

Name-Surname
Position

Age

Highest Education

Training Record

shareholding in the Company (percent)
Family Relations with the directors and the management

Professional Experience

Ms. Pranee Wonglertsiri

Internal Audit

63 years

Master of Accountancy Program, Thammasart University
* Data Analytic for Internal Audit

* Fraud related to Information Technology

* Fraud of companies listed in Stock Exchange of Thailand
* Changes of Thai Financial & Reporting Standard and keys issues
« Audit Observation of reviewing the Balance sheet

* Quality Audit

-None-

-None-

* Director of Internal Audit, AIA Group Limited

* Auditor, SAM NAK-NGAN A.M.C. Co., Ltd

Auditor Remuneration

The Audit Committee is responsible to initially select the
auditor by taking into consideration the qualifications,
independency, capability in reviewing and auditing within the
specified time, knowledge, expertise in auditing, as well as
the understanding in the Company's business and to propose
the Company's Board of Directors for consideration which
shall then be proposed to the shareholder’'s meeting for the

appointment.

Audit firm and affiliated companies mean the auditor, the

audit firm where the auditor is employed and the person or

—a

P

=

business which is related to the auditor and the audit firm.

In the fiscal year 2020, the Company has paid the audit fee
to EY Office Limited in the amount of THB 1,360,000 and
the subsidiary's audit fee in 2020 (Brd and 41" quarter) toEY
Office Limited in the amount of THB 100,000.

In this regard, the Company did not pay any non-audit fee
to the audit firm and the affiliated companies. There are no

contingent expenses incurring from an incomplete service

under the agreement from the preceding fiscal year.
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O%
for non-compliance with

environmental, health and

safety laws and regulations

0%
work-related injuries

for employees and key

outsourcing

0]

cases of corruption or unethical

behavior

Sustainability Disclosure

) |
Acknowledgement Award by
Thaipat Institute

The 5" consecutive year of
“Sustainable Stock” award, a
CGR score of 5 stars Award
and a perfect score of AGM
Checklist of 100 Award

1 5 trees cleansing the air

for a year by Carbon footprint

reduction

100%

Projected energy savings from
the replacement of lightings
with LED fittings

COVID-19

Employees
Health and Safety Meas-

ures, temperature screening

cleaning and disinfection, '

social distancing and work

from home

COVID-19

Service area users and Visitors
Deep-cleaning of areas should suspected
cases arise, implemented temperature
screening, enforced social distancing in
the form of tape markings which were

put up at relevant common areas

Working closely communications, updates
on mitigation measure, awareness of all
visitors through posters and regular
announcements to practice good hygiene,

social distancing and wearing of masks
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As of 31 December 2020, the management structure of the Company comprised of the Board of Directors and its sub-
Committees, the Audit Committee, the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee and the Executive
Committee. For the Board of Directors Charter is posted at menu Sustainability on www. namyongterminal.com

The Board of Directors

As of 31 December 2020, the Company comprised 12 qualified directors as follows:
* 7 independent directors, or 58 percent;

= 2 non-executive directors, or 17 percent of the total number of directors; and

* 3 executive directors or 25 percent of the total number of directors.

Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Professor Emeritus Chairman of the Board of Directors

Independent Director

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan Director
Chairman of the Executive Committee
Executive Director
Authorized Director

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan Director

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan Director
Non-Executive Director

Authorized Director

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan Director
Member of the Executive Committee
Executive Director
Authorized Director
Chief Financial Officer
Investor relations (Acting)
The person taking the highest responsibility in finance and

accounting

Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk Director
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Independent Director

Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon Director

Independent Director
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Information of Directors
and Managements

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra Director
Chairman of the Nomination, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee
Member of the Audit Committee

Independent Director

Mrs. Sunee Pongpud Director
Member of the Audit Committee

Independent Director

Mr. Vallop Tiasiri Director
Member of the Nomination, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee

Independent Director

Dr. Vichya Kreangam Director
Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Nomination, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee

Independent Director

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan Director
Member of the Executive Committee
Executive Director
Authorized Director
Chief Administrative Officer
(Acting) Director of Human Resources

(Acting) Director of Legal Affairs

Remark:
« Terms of office of the Board of Directors is 3 years subject to date of appointment or rotation. Ms. Sopana Paraphuti, the Corporate Secretary is the secretary of the

Board of Directors.

Authorized Directors who may sign to bind the Company

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan, Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan, Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan, any two of four
to jointly sign and affix the Company’s seal.

Authorities, Duties, and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

1. The Board of Directors has competence and responsibility either directly and indirectly, in the Company or its subsidiary,
according to the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 shall have no rights to vote in such agenda in a meeting of
(1992), as amended. Any director who has conflict of interest, the Board of Directors
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2. Consider for approval or consent to significant transaction,
such as, investment in new business, or the acquisition or
disposition of assets of the company and its subsidiaries
in accordance with the relevant notifications, regulations
and rules of practices of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand for the
benefit of the Company and the shareholders, whereby the
director who has a conflict of interest shall not be entitled
to vote.

3. Consider for approval or consent to the related party transaction
of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with
the relevant notifications, regulations and rules of practices
of the SEC and the SET for the benefit of the Company and
the shareholders, whereby the director who has a conflict
of interest shall not be entitled to vote.

4. The Board of Directors has authorities and duties to supervise
the Company's operations to conduct in accordance with
the Company'’s objectives and Articles of Association, as
well as, the legitimate resolutions of the shareholders’
meetings, in an honest and prudent manner to protect the
interests of the Company.

5. Establish credible accounting systems, financial report and
auditing systems, as well as maintain effective internal
control, internal audit, and risk management.

6. Determine the Company’s goal, guidelines, policies, and
business operation plans and supervise the management
of the Executive Committee to efficiently and effectively
adhere to the determined policies and plans and to determine
the Company s policies on good corporate governance and
corporate social responsibility.

7. Ensure the continuous succession plan of the Company'’s
senior management.

8. Consider for approval of interim dividend payment to the
shareholders, and consider annual dividend payment to be
proposed to the shareholders' meeting for further consideration

The Management

for approval.

9. Consider and determine management structure, designate

the Executive Committee, Chief Executive Officer and other
sub-committees as deemed appropriate, such as, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee, as well as, designate the competence
of the Executive Committee, the Chief Executive Officer
and the sub-committees.
In this regard, the designation within the scope of determined
duties shall not include the authorities that may allow
the such Executive Committee, Chief Executive Officer and
sub-committees to consider and approve any transactions
which may cause any conflict of interest against the Company
orits subsidiary (if any), unless it is the approval for normal
business transactions which are in accordance with general
commercial terms, or policies and rules considered and
approved by the Board of Directors.

10. The Board of Directors may appoint any one director or

more, or any other person to perform any acts on their
behalf under the control of the Board of Directors; or may
appoint the aforementioned directors/persons with an
authorities under the scope and period specified by the
Board of Directors may cancel, revoke, and amend such
appointment as deemed appropriate.
In this regard, such appointment shall not include the au
thorities that may allow the authorized directors or persons
to consider and approve any transactions which such persons
may have conflict, interest, or any other conflict of benefit
with the Company or its subsidiary or its associate, except
for normal business transactions under general commercial
terms or policies and rules considered and approved by the
Board of Directors.

1. Ensurethat the Company's general information and financial
statements are reported to shareholders and stakeholders
with accuracy, promptness and in compliance with the laws.

As of 31 December 2020, the Management of the Company comprised 5 persons namely as listed below:

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan

Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

Chief Financial Officer

Investor relations (Acting)

The person taking the highest responsibility in finance and
accounting

Mr. Amornnat Janyong

Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

Chief Administrative Officer
(Acting) Director of Human Resources
(Acting) Director of Legal Affairs

Mr. Pravit Anankusri

Assistant Director of Accounting and Finance

Remark:

* The Management means a Chief Executive Officer or the next four executives succeeding the Chief Executive Officer, a person holding equivalent position to the

fourth executive, including a person holding the position of manager or equivalent in accounting or finance departments.
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Chief Executive Officer or (“CEQO")

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, the Chief Executive Officer or “CEQ" of the Company having the duties and responsibilities as follows:

1. Supervise, manage, perform and operate business as normal
for the Company's benefits in accordance with the policies,
visions, goals, annual business operation plans determined
by the Board of Directors’ Meetings or assigned by the
Executive Committee.

2. Manage the Company's operations according to the missions
determined by the Executive Committee in order that they
are in correlation with the Company'’s business operation
plan as well as related business strategies determined by
the Board of Directors.

3. Monitor and supervise overall operations related to finance,
marketing, personnel management and other operations
and ensure that they are in accordance with the Company's
policies and operation plans determined by the Board of
Directors within the limitation, however, of not over THB
10 million per business transaction, except for expenses
occurred from the Company’'s normal operations required to
be paid to government offices or state enterprises such as
PAT, IEAT, the Customs and the Revenue Department that
the permission of THB 200 million per business transaction
is given.

4. Employ, appoint, transfer, dismiss, terminate and determine
both monetary and non-monetary remuneration for employees
with ability to appoint power of attorney's substitute to
perform the aforementioned duties.

5.Determine rewards, salary increasing, monetary and
non-monetary remuneration and special bonuses aside
the employees’ bonuses upon the consent of the Executive
Committee.

6. Enter into any agreement or business transactions related to
the normal business operations by that the financial amount
of each transaction adhere to authority of operations
approved by the Board of Directors.

7.1ssue internal orders, regulations, announcements and
memos of the Company so that the operations of the
Company are in accordance with the policies and at the
Company's benefits, including maintain the organization’s
disciplines.

8. Perform other tasks assigned by the Board of Directors or
the Executive Committee, including other necessary actions

to perform such tasks.

However, CEO does not have any authority to approve any operations
which the CEO or the attorney of the CEO or persons that may
have any conflict of interest with the Company, its subsidiary
orits associate. Instead, the aforementioned operations shall
be presented to the Executive Committee’s Meetings or the
Board of Directors’ Meetings or the Shareholders’ Meetings
as the case may be to consider and approve, except for the
operations according to normal business transaction and
general trade conditions which the Board of Directors has

approved in principle to proceed.

Corporate Secretary

The Company secretary shall provide legal advice concerning
rules and regulations which the Board of Directors required
to acknowledge and to organize the meeting as well as other
activities of the Board of Directors. This is to enable the Board
of Directors to perform their duties efficiently and effectively
and making the utmost benefits to the Company. Their duties
also includes arrangement of and keeping documents such
as registrar of directors, notices of the Board of Directors
meetings, minutes of the Board of Directors meetings, Annual
report, notices of the shareholders’ meetings, minutes of the
shareholders’ meetings and conflict of interest report made by
directors or managements. Please refer to “Details on Directors,
Managements, The person supervising accounting and

Corporate Secretary” chapter for profiles’ details.

Head of Compliance

The Company does not establish a Compliance Unit within

the organization as it views that the center of compliance shall

be under the supervision of the Corporate Secretary whose
main task is to supervise business operation to comply with
the Regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the Port Authority of

Thailand. Main duties of compliance unit as follows:

1. Primarily suggest and communicate some guidance on the
compliance with laws, rules and regulations to our management
and employees

2. Liaise with monitoring agencies of the Company such as
the Stock Exchange of Thailand, the Securities and Exchange

Commission and other related organizations.
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Sub-committees of the Company comprises of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, the Nomination, Compensation

and Corporate Governance Committee, and the Executive Committee. Sub-committees’ charters were posted at menu

sustainability on www.namyongtermonal.com

The Audit Committee

The Board of Directors has approved the establishment of the Audit Committee by appointing the Company's directors

who possess the qualifications prescribed by the Capital Market Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee must comprise

of at least 3 members and at least 1 of whom must have an experience in accounting and finance.

As of 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee of the Company comprises of 4 members who are independent directors.

The details of the independent directors are as follows:

Chairwoman of the Audit Committee

Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra

Member of the Audit Committee

Mrs. Sunee Pongpud

Member of the Audit Committee

Dr. Vichya Kreangam

Member of the Audit Committee

Remark:

« Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk is an expert who has adequate knowledge and experience to review the credibility of the financial statements.

« The term of office of the Audit Committee is 3 years from the date of appointment or subject to retirement by rotation. Mr. Pravit Anankusri is the secretary of the

Audit Committee.

Duties and Responsibility of the Audit Committee

1. Review the Company’s financial report to ensure accuracy
and adequacy.

2.Review the Company's internal control systems and internal
audit systems to ensure appropriateness and effectiveness,
and consider the independence of the internal auditor, as
well as approve the appointment, transfer, or employment
termination of the internal auditor or other units which
is tasked with internal audit duties.

3. Review the Company'’s operation to ensure compliance with
the laws governing the Securities and Exchanges, the regulations
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and the relevant laws
applicable to the Company’s business.

4.Consider, select and nominate an independent person to
carry out duties as the Company's auditor, and propose
remuneration for the auditor, as well as meet the auditor at
least once a year without participation of the management.

5. Consider related party transactions or transactions which

might have conflict of interest in order to ensure compliance

with the laws and regulations of the Stock Exchange of

Thailand and that the transaction is reasonable for the best

interest of the Company.

6.Prepare and disclose the report of the Audit Committee,
which must be signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
inan annual report, and it shall comprise of the information
as follows:

6.1. Opinion on correctness, completeness, and credibility
of the Company’s financial report;

6.2. Opinion on sufficiency of the Company’s internal control
systems;

6.3. Opinion with regards to the compliance with the laws
governing the Securities and Exchanges, the regulations
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and the relevant
laws applicable to the Company's business;

6.4. Opinion on the appropriateness of the auditor;

6.5. Opinion on the transactions which might have conflict
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Information of Sub-Committees

of interest;

6.6. Number of the Audit Committee's meeting, and
attendance of each member of Audit Committee;

6.7. Overall opinion or recommendation to the Audit Committee
for its duties carried out under the Charter.

6.8. Other transactions which the Audit Committee deems
that the shareholders and investors should acknowledge,
subject to the scope of duties and responsibility assigned
by the Company's Board of Directors.

7. Carry out other task assigned by the Company's Board of

Directors and with approval of the Audit Committee.

Qualification of an Independent Director
The Company's has specified the qualification of an independent
director in the equivalence of the qualification prescribed
by the regulations of the Capital Market Supervisory Board,
whereby the member of the Auditor Committee shall be an
independent director who comply with the qualification
as follows:

1. Holding shares not exceeding 1 per cent of the total number
of shares with voting rights of the Company, its parent
company, subsidiary company, associate company, major
shareholder or controlling person, including shares held by
related persons of such independent director;

2.Neither being nor used to be an executive director, employee,
staff, advisor who receives salary, or controlling person of
the Company, its parent company, subsidiary company,
associate company, same-level subsidiary company, major
shareholder or controlling person, unless the foregoing
status has ended not less than two years prior to the date
of filing an application with the Office. Such prohibited
characteristic shall not include the case where the independent
director used to be a government official or advisor of a
government unit which is a major shareholder or controlling
person of the Company;

3. Not being a person related by blood or legal registration as

father, mother, spouse, sibling, and child, including spouse
of child, executive, major shareholder, controlling person,
or person to be nominated as management or controlling
person of the Company or its subsidiary company;

4. Neither having nor used to have a business relationship
with the Company, its parent company, subsidiary company,
associate company, major shareholder or controlling person,
in the manner which may interfere with his independent
judgment, and neither being nor used to be a significant
shareholder or controlling person of any person having a
business relationship with the Company, its parent company,
subsidiary company, associate company, major shareholder
or controlling person, unless the foregoing relationship has

ended not less than 2 years.

The term ‘business relationship’ under the first paragraph
shall include any normal business transaction, rental or
lease of immovable property, transaction relating to assets
or services or granting or receipt of financial assistance
through receiving or extending loans, guarantee, providing
assets as collateral, and any other similar actions, which
result in the Company or his counterparty being subject to
indebtedness payable to the other party in the amount of
3 percent or more of the net tangible assets of the Company
or THB 20 million or more, whichever is lower. The amount
of such indebtedness shall be calculated according to the
method for calculation of value of connected transactions
under the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory
Board governing rules on connected transactions mutatis
mutandis. The consideration of such indebtedness shall
include indebtedness occurred during the period of 1year
prior to the date on which the business relationship with
the person commences

5. Neither being nor used to be an auditor of the Company,
its parent company, subsidiary company, associate company,

major shareholder or controlling person, and not being a
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significant shareholder, controlling person, or partner of an
audit firm which employs auditors of the Company, its parent
company, subsidiary company, associate company, major
shareholder or controlling person, unless the foregoing
relationship has ended not less than 2 years.

6. Neither being nor used to be a provider of any professional
services including those as legal advisor or financial advisor
who receives service fees exceeding THB 2 million per year
from the Company, its parent company, subsidiary company,
associate company, major shareholder or controlling
person, and not being a significant shareholder, controlling
person or partner of the provider of professional services,
unless the foregoing relationship has ended not less than
two years.

7.Not being a director appointed as representative of directors

of the Company, major shareholder or shareholder who is

8 Not undertaking any business in the same nature and in
competition to the business of the Company or its subsidiary
company or not being a significant partner in a partnership

or being an executive director, employee, staff, advisor who
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The Executive Committee

The Board of Directors has approved the establishment of the Executive Committee. As of 31 December 2020, the Executive

Committee comprises of 4 members as follows:

receives salary or holding shares exceeding 1 per cent of the
total number of shares with voting rights of other company
which undertakes business in the same nature and in
competition to the business of the Company or its subsidiary

company; and

9.Not having any other characteristics which cause the inability

to express independent opinions with regard to the Company's

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan Chairman of the Executive Committee

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan Member of the Executive Committee

Mr. Amornnat Janyong Member of the Executive Committee

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan Member of the Executive Committee

Remark:

* Ms. Bhawinee Roopiantham is the secretary of the Executive Committee.

Duties and Responsibilities of the Executive Committee 7. Consider salary adjustment, and bonus and other remuneration

business operations.
The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee
As of 31 December 2020, the Nomination, Compensation and

Corporate Governance Committee comprises of 3 independent

1. To be Risk Management Committee, as the position, for

overall controlling the Company's risk management process
to be within an appropriate level and must take action to
ensure that the Company has an effective risk management,

whichincludes the determination, assessment, prevention,

payment for the Company’s managers and employees, except
for the Chief Executive Officer, and consider to approve a

manpower plan.

8. Have the authority to appoint or hire consultant to maximize

the efficiency of the Company's internal management.

directors as follows:

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra Chairwoman of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. Vallop Tiasiri
Dr. Vichya Kreangam

related to major shareholder;

Member of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee

Member of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee

Remark:
* Term of office of the member of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee is subject to retirement by rotation. Ms. Sopana Paraphuti,

the Corporate Secretary, is the secretary of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee.

Duties and Responsibility of the Nomination, 4.With respect to the employment of the Chief Executive
Compensationand Corporate Governance Committee ~ Officer, determine annual remuneration, annual salary rate

1. Determine policy, criteria, and procedures on nomination  adjustment, salary and other benefits adjustment as necessary

reduction, and monitor of risks and shall report directly to 9. Consider the Company's profits and losses, and propose interim
the Board of Directors at once when the risk level reaches dividend payment to the Board of Directors for approval.
a significant level. 10. Appoint any one person or more to perform any acts under
2. To be in charge of Data Controller as specified by the the control of the Executive Committee, or may appoint
Personal Data Protection Act B.E. 2562 (2019) ("PDPA").  such person with an authority under the scope and period
3. Propose goals, visions, policies and business plans, including  specified by the Board of Directors as deemed appropriate,
business strategies to the Board of Directors for consideration. whereby the Board of Directors may cancel, revoke, change
4. Supervise the business operations to be in accordance with or amend the appointed person or the appointment as
the Company’s policies, goals and business plans. deemed appropriate.
5. By the appointment from the Board of Directors, act on 11. Carry out other tasked as from time to time assigned by the

behalf of the Company to a third person, within the scope Board of Directors of the Company. Inthis regard, the designation

and remuneration of members of the Board of Directors
and sub-committees, and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

2. Select a qualified person to hold the position as a member
of the Board of Directors, a member of sub-committees
and the Chief Executive Officer, and propose to the Board
of Directors.

3. Set up types and rates for determination of the remuneration,
both monetary and non-monetary, of the Board of Directors
and sub-committees for the Board of Directors’ approval,
which to be appropriate with the responsibilities and current

market practice of the industry.

and appropriate, either monetary or non-monetary for the
Board of Directors’ approval.

5. Determine the method to evaluate the performance of the
Board of Directors, sub-committees and the Chief Executive
Officer in order to propose to the Board of Directors.

6. Review operation plan and criteria of the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee.

7. Encourage the Board of Directors and sub-committees to
operate in compliance with the good corporate governance
principles.

8. Carry out other task assigned by the Board of Directors.

of relevant businesses and for the benefit of the Company’s

business.

6. Consider and approve operations which are considered as

normal business transactions of the Company. The financial
limit of each transactionis in accordance with the operation
authority approved by the Board of Directors, but shall
not exceed THB 100 million for each transaction, except
for expenses of the Company's normal business operations
to be paid to government agencies or state enterprises, such
as, the Port Authority of Thailand (PAT), the Industrial Estate
Authority of Thailand (IEAT), the Customs Department,

and the Revenue Department, which has no financial limit.

of duties and responsibilities by the Executive Committee
shall not include the appointment or sub-appointment
which allow the persons authorized by the Executive Committee
to approve any transactions which such persons may have
conflict, conflict of interest, or other conflict of benefit with
the Company or its subsidiary or its associate. The Executive
Committee does not have authorities to approve such matter,
whereby it must be proposed to the Board of Directors’
meetings or the shareholders’ meetings (as the case may
be) to consider for further approval, unless such matter is
the consideration of normal business transactions and

general commercial terms.
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The Board of Directors and
Committees’ meetings

Name - Surname Meeting Attendance / Total Meeting
Shareholders The Board of The Audit The Nomination,
Directors Committee Compensation
and Corporate
Governance
Committee
Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Professor Emeritus 1/1 7/7 - -
Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan 1/1 7/7 _ _
Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan 1/1 7/7 - -
Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan 1/1 6/7 - -
Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan 1/1 7/7 - -
Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk 11 7/7 4/4 -
Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon 1/1 7/7 - -
Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra 1/1 7/7 4/4 2/2
Mrs. Sunee Pongpud 1/1 7/7 4/4 -
Mr. Vallop Tiasiri 1/1 7/7 - 2/2
Dr. Vichya Kreangam 1/1 7/7 4/4 2/2
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan 1/1 7/7 - -

dy
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Remunerations of Directors and Managements

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and its sub-committees
The 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders resolved to approve remuneration of the Board of Directors and its

sub-committees as follows:

Name of Committee Chairman Director
Meeting allowance Meeting allowance
(THB/Meeting) (THB/Meeting)
The Board of Directors 57,000 26,000
The Audit Committee 32,000 21,000
The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance 27,000 16,000
Committee

Remuneration of the Board of Directors for the year 2020

Name - Surname The Board of The Audit The Nomination, Total
Director Committee Compensation
(THB) (THB) and Corporate
Governance
Committee
(THB)
Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Professor 399,000 - - 399,000
Emeritus
Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan 182,000 - - 182,000
Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan 182,000 - - 182,000
Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan 156,000 - - 156,000
Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan 182,000 - - 182,000
Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk 182,000 128,000 - 310,000
Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon 182,000 - - 182,000
Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra 182,000 84,000 54,000 320,000
Mrs. Sunee Pongpud 182,000 84,000 - 266,000
Mr. Vallop Tiasiri 182,000 - 32,000 214,000
Dr. Vichya Kreangam 182,000 84,000 32,000 298,000
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan 182,000 - - 182,000
Total 2,375,000 380,000 118,000 2,873,000
Remark:

» Adjacent Prof. Kemchai Chutiwong who is the Board of Directors’ advisor, has received remuneration as the meeting allowance. In 2020, he attended 4 meetings,

therefore, he has received THB 104,000.
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Monetary Remuneration
= Determination and structure

The Company has determined the remuneration of the directors
in a reasonable rate and in consistent with other listed
companies in the Stock Exchange of Thailand of the same
business. The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee is responsible for consideration of
the policy and remuneration rate of the Board of Directors
and the sub-committees to be proposed to the Board of
Directors for approval which shall be further proposed to the
annual general meeting of shareholder for approval. In this
regard, the consideration shall be based on the consistency
with the Company's strategies and long-term targets, as well
as the knowledge and experience of the directors, together
with the duty, role, and responsibility. The directors who
have been assigned with additional duty and responsibility,
i.e., being appointed in a sub-committee, will receive reasonable
remuneration. In addition, the remuneration of the directors
is comparable with other listed companies in the Stock
Exchange of Thailand of the same business with similar size
in order to persuade and maintain the qualified directors as
the company preferred by referencing the information from
the survey report of the directors and managements of listed
companies of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

= Opinion of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee
The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee has considered the 2020 remuneration of the
Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, and the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee to
be proposed to the Board of Directors and the shareholders'’

” -

meeting for approval. In addition, the Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee has considered the
2020 remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to
be appropriate with the responsibility, success in operation
relating to the operational result and other elements along
with the comparison of the remuneration with other companies

of the same or similar industry.

* The remuneration of the Board of directors received from
the subsidiary
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan is the Company's representative
inthe subsidiary’s Board of Directors. He received remunerations
of the Company'’s subsidiary in amount of THB 0.72 million.

» The accrued remuneration or benefit owned to the Board of
Directors of the Company
-None-

Other remuneration
-none-

Remuneration of the management

Monetary remuneration

The Management of the Company comprised 5 persons: Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, Assistant Director of
Accounting and Finance. The 2020 managements' remuneration
comprising salaries, bonuses, provident fund and other benefit
were made at THB 39.79 million.

Other Remuneration

-None-

“ﬁﬂdﬁmﬂi‘fjﬂﬂﬂuﬂﬁ*m
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Nomination and Appointment of Director

Board of Directors

In the nomination of directors, the Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee considers various aspects
of appropriateness by emphasizing on those who have skills,
experiences and expertise which are in line with the policies
and strategies of the Company, as well as possess all qualifications
required for the Company'’s directors according to the Public
Limited Company Act B.E. 2535 (as amended), the Securities
and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (as amended), the relevant Notifications
of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, and the relevant
Notifications of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The appointment
of the Company'’s directors shall be approved by the Board
of Directors’ meetings or the Shareholders’ meetings, as the
case may be.

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee nominates the qualified directors who have skills,
experiences and expertise which are in line with the requirement
of the Company, and are also able to devote their times to
fully perform their duties. The Nomination, Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee proposes the qualified
director tothe Board of Directors and Shareholding's for appointment
of such persons, as the case may be, as follows:

1. Appointment of directors to replace the retiring directors
upon expiry of a directorship term or to re-elect for another
term shall be approved by the Annual General Shareholders’
Meeting in accordance with the following procedures:

1.1 Each shareholder shall have one vote per share.

1.2 Each shareholder may cast all his/ her vote according
to (1) to elect one or several individuals as directors, but
could not allot his/ her votes to any person at any number.

1.3 The candidates receiving the highest numbers of votes,
ranked in descending order, shall be appointed as directors
in equivalent to the numbers of required directors at
such time. In the event that the numbers of candidates,
inthe next descending order, receiving the equal numbers
of votes exceed the numbers of directors required at the
time, the Chairman of the meeting shall have a casting vote.

2. For appointment of a director in the case of vacancy in the
Board of Directors for reasons other than retiring upon expiry

and Top Management

of a directorship term, the Board of Directors, by a vote of
not less than three-fourths of the numbers of the remaining
directors, may appoint a director to fill up the vacant. However,
the person so appointed as substitute director shall retain
office only for the remaining term of office of the director
who was replaced.

Audit Committee

1. The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee considers various aspects of appropriateness
and proposes to the Board of Directors or the Shareholders’
Meetings to appoint the members of Audit Committee.

2. The Board of Directors or the Shareholders’ Meetings appointed
the Company's independent directors as a member of the
Audit Committee.

3. The Audit Committee selects amember of the Audit Committee
to be the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Qualifications of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee shall have qualifications as specified
in the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board.
The Audit Committee shall serve a term of office of 3 years
provided that at least a member of Audit Committee shall
have knowledge, understanding or experiences in accounting
or finance.

Independent Director

In the nomination of the Company’s independent directors,
the candidates must be qualified for the Company's definition
of an independent director which corresponds to the criteria
of the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

Top Management

In nomination of the Chief Executive Officer, the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee nominates
and appoints persons who has appropriate abilities and
qualifications as top management by considering qualifications
based on knowledge, experiences and professions, which are
essential and highly beneficial to the Company’s business, for
consideration of the Board of Directors.
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Summary Schedule of Changes in Securities Holding of Directors and managements including their spouse and minor

children (if any)

Name - Surname

Number of Shares

1January 2020

31 December 2020  Number of increased/

(decreased) Shares

Directors

Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno,Professor Emeritus

Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan
Spouse

Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan
Spouse

Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan
Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk
Spouse

Minor Children

Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon
Spouse

Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra
Spouse

Mrs. Sunee Pongpud
Spouse

Mr. Vallop Tiasiri

Spouse

Dr. Vichya Kreangam

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

1,336,000
133,649,800
60,000
19,250,000
147,200
19,250,200
19,450,200

o o o o O o o o o o o o o

1,336,000
133,649,800
60,000
19,250,000
147,200
19,250,200
19,450,200

O O O O O O O O O O O o o o o oo o o o o

o o o o o o o o o o o o o
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Shareholding of the Board
of Directors and Managements

Name - Surname

Number of Shares

1January 2020 31 December 2020  Number of increased/
(decreased) Shares

Managements
Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan 133,649,800 133,649,800 0
Spouse 60,000 60,000 0
Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan 19,450,200 19,450,200 0
Mr. Amornnat Janyong 200 200 0
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan 0 0 0
Mr. Pravit Anankusri 0 0 0
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urrently, the Company has the entire and individual self

assessment forms for the Board of Directors, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee and the Executives Committee
which will be annually evaluated by the Board of Directors
and its sub-committee.

Progress

The Corporate Secretary will submit both entire and individual
self-assessment forms to all directors to self-evaluate. After
each individual director completed self-assessment form,

Results
The Board of Directors
The result of (entire) the Board of Directors is averaged at

9511 %

Criteria (%)
Board structure and qualifications 97.22
The Board of Directors’ meeting 96.88
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 93.94
Relationship between the Board of 93.75

Directors and the management

Directors’ self-development 93.75

the Corporate Secretary gather assessments’ concludes the
result of the assessment of the entire Board of Directors and
the individual director informs in the next Board meeting.

Criteria

Our criteria of self-assessment forms based on guideline of
the Stock Exchange of Thailand. Self - Assessment forms
are made to each director for review problems and obstacles
through the year so as to correct and improve performance
in next year.

The result of (individual) director is averaged at 94.02 %

Criteria (%)
Board structure and qualifications 95.83
The Board of Directors’ meeting 94.27
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 92.50
The Contribution of useful opinions, 93.75

suggestions, or other guidelines to
the Management

The independent of opinion 93.75

The Audit Committee
The result of (entire) the Audit Committee is averaged at
9952 %

Criteria (%)
Committee structure and qualifications 100.00
The Committee's meeting 98.96
Roles Duties and Responsibilities CEAN
Relationship with Internal Audit, 100.00

Auditor and the Management

The result of (individual) Member of the Audit Committee
99.48 %

Criteria (%)
Committee structure and qualifications 100.00
The Committee's meeting 100.00
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 9792
The independent of opinion 100.00

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

The Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee
The result of (entire) the Nomination, Compensation and

Corporate Governance Committee is averaged at 93.85 %

Committee structure and qualifications 100.00
The Committee's meeting 92.71
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 89.06
Encouragement the Board of Directors 93.75

and the Management to operate business with

good governance

Self- Assessment

The result of (individual) the Nomination, Compensation and

Corporate Governance Committee is averaged at 99.31 %

Committee structure and qualifications 100.00
The Committee's meeting 100.00
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 97.22
The independent of opinion 100.00

The Executive Committee

The result of (entire) the Executive Committee is averaged

at 93.85 %

Committee structure and qualifications 100.00
The Committee's meeting 92.71
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 89.06
Encouragement to operate business with 93.75

concerning on environmental, social and

governance

Encouragement the main executive person 93.75
and employees to operate business with

good governance

The result of (individual) the Executive Committee is averaged

at 93.85 %

Committee structure and qualifications 87.50
The Committee's meeting 98.44
Roles Duties and Responsibilities 95.83
Encouragement to operate business with 93.75

concerning on environmental, social and

governance

Encouragement the main executive person 93.75
and employees to operate business with

good governance
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Total number of employees of the Company (excluding managements)
Managements are Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan, Mr. Amornnat Janyong, Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

and Mr. Pravit Anankusri

As of 31 December 2020, our employees are 79 persons
Divided by field and gender

Field Man Woman Total
Office of Executives 5 2 7
Operations Department 16 5 21
Warehouse Department 6 1
Construction & Maintenance Department 4 1
Accounting and Finance Department 1 15 16
Purchasing Department 0 1 1
Information Technology Department 1 1 2
Human Resources Department 3 2 5
Payroll & Administrative Department 5 3 8
Safety Health and Environment Department 4 1 5
CO Office 2 0 2
Total 47 32 79
Divided by office location
Location Man Woman Total
Laemchabang 35 19 54
CO Office 2 0 2
Bangkok 10 13 23
Total 47 32 79

Total number of employees of the subsidiary company (excluding managements)
As of 31 December 2020, our employees are 17 persons
Divided by field and gender

Field Man Woman Total
Office of Executives 1 0 1
Operations Department 5 3 8
Accounting and Finance Department 1 3 4
Sale and Marketing Department 0 4 4
Total 7 10 17

Number of employees’ resignation

In 2020, number of resigned employees is 5 persons which is equivalent to a turn over rate of 6.25%

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Significant change the number of employees
occurring in last 3 years

--None-

Labor dispute occurring in the last 3 years

-None-

Relations between managements and labor union

-None of labor union-

Policy on the remuneration of employees.

The Company pays full attention to employees' salary, benefits

including provident fund to the following guideline:

1. Providing equal opportunity and fair benefits to its employees
in accordance with the Company operational results both
on a short-term basis and on a long-term basis. In addition
to the basic salary, employees are rewarded with an annual
bonus paid in accordance with their work accomplishment
and their achieved by performance evaluate.

2. Promotion, transfer, reward and punishment are made on
fair justifications and based on employee's capability, knowledge,

qualification and the company regulations.

Total remuneration of employees (excluding
managements)

In 2020, The Company and its subsidiary paid employees’
remuneration comprising salaries, bonuses, provident fund
and other benefit were at THB 73.38 million.

Provident fund
The Company supports the participation on the fund management
which is called ‘Employee Choice’ that gives employees an

opportunity to choose the investment policy in the provident

Provident Funds as of 31 December 2020

Information of Employees

fund by themselves and adjust the policy according to the
terms specified in the fund to ensure the financial security of
the employees who leave or retire from the Company and to
help the employees, to a certain level, be able to financially
support themselves in a long term in accordance with the
principle in Clause 4.4.2 of the CG Code, the Company currently
offers a provident fund with the maximum contribution made
by the Company at 12 percent for the employees who have
worked over 10 years. The provident fund comprise of 6
investment plans in which the employees can choose including
investment in debt instruments for 100% or mixed investment
in debt instruments and equity instruments according to their

risk tolerance.

In 2018, before the commencement of the Employee Choice
project, the Company has provided trainings to build basic
skills, knowledges, and understanding in finance, accounting,
and finance for non-finance in order for the employees of all
professions to understand more about the Company's business

and adapt such knowledge in living.

The Company'’s Provident Fund Committee has selected the
investment in the registered Ayudhya Master Fund of Krungsri
Asset Management Co., Ltd., which is in the announced list of
the | Code of Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC").
In addition, the representative of such asset management
company shall report the progress of the investment and
analyze the economy and the capital markets’ situation that
may affect the change of the direction of the investment plan
of the executives and employees once a year. The asset
management company also submits the capital market

situation and investment perspective report every month.

Company Provident fund Ratio of the employees  Value of the net

participated in asset

provident funds (THB)
(percentage)

Namyong Terminal Plc. Yes 100% 101,692,644.93
Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd.(Subsidiary) None 0% 0
Remark:

* Krungsri Asset Management Co., Ltd.
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Details on Directors, Managements,
The Person supervising accounting
and Corporate Secretary

The Person supervising accounting

Dr. Borwornsak Uwanno, Education Period Position Companies/Other entities

Professor Emeritus * Doctorate Degree in Public Law, Université de Paris X (Nanterre)(mention tres bien) Present Advisor Thailand Science Research and

@ Al A ter tele Bl erei e * D.E.A. public Law, Université de Paris X (Nanterre) (mention bien) innovation

* Independent Director + D.5S.U. Administrative Law, Universite” de Paris |l Present Member Council of Silpakorn University
* Barrister At Law, The Thai Bar Under The Royal Patronage Present Member Chiang Mai University Council

First appointment date * Bachelor of Law, Chulalongkorn University (First Class Honor) Present President of the Associations Songkhla Rajabhat university

25 February 2016 Training Present Member of Higher Education,Science, Science, Research and Innovation

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D) Research and Innovation Reform

A G i o Y 11:01d * Director Accreditation Program (DAP), (2004) Past Professional Experience

2014 - 2015 First Vice Chairman of the National ~ The National Reform Council Royal

2020) Other
4 years 10 months * Diplomain National Defense College The State, Private sector and Political sector Reform Council
course, class 4111, National Defense College 2014 -2015 Chairman of the Constitution
Age (years) « Certificate of Senior Executives course, class 8 ,Capital Market Academy Drafting Committee
66 * Certificate of Senior Executives on Justice Administration, Class 15, Office of the 2006 - 2014 Secretary General King Prajadhipok’s Institute
Nationality Judicial Training Institute 2003 - 2014 Member Bank of Thailand
Thai * Jurisprudence on democracy Program, class 4, Institute of Constitution Studies Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan Education
Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by S Bl « D.B.A., Business Administration, Chiangrai Rajabhat University
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020 N aar oS etV @ o aa i+ Bachelor of Science Marine Transport, Philippines Maritime Institute
1,336,000 shares or equivalent to 0.11% 5 Exeeaniive Diee s Training
Legal offense record in the past 10 years’ « Authorized Director Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)
-None- « Chief Executive Officer * Director Certification Program (DCP) Class 151/2011
Family Relations among directors and management Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
-None- I e R G R R Il 13d spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020
Experience 2020) 133,709,800 shares or equivalent to 10.78%
Period Position Companies/Other entities 18 years 9 months Legal offense record in the past 10 years1
Present Chairman of the Board of Directors  Namyong Terminal PLC. -None-
Present Independent director Namyong Terminal PLC. First appointment date Family Relations among directors and management
Other present positions 19 March 2002 Older brother of Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan, Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan, Ms. Pimkarn
Listed Companies Leungsuwan and father of Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan
Present Chairman of the Board of Directors General Engineering PLC. .
Present Chairman of the Board of Directors Eternal Energy PLC. Age (years) Exp.erlence o . o
69 Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Independent Director Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Companies/Other entities Nationalit Present Chairman of the Executive Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Independent Director Glow Energy PLC. = y Committee
Present Member King Prajadhipok’s Institute Council - Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member Royal Institute of Thailand Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present The chairperson of the 13t Office of the Council of State Present Chief Executive Officer Namyong Terminal PLC.

law committee

Present Member of Law Reform Office of the Council of State

Commission
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Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan

* Director

* Non - Executive Director

First appointment date
13 September 2011

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities Experience

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position

Companies/Other entities

2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director

2012 - Present Director
2001-Present Director
1996 - Present Executive Director
1993 - Present Executive Director

1991 - Present Executive Director
1990 - Present Director

1987 - Present Executive Director
1986 - Present Executive Director

1983 - Present Executive Director

1983 - Present Chief Executive Officer

1982 - Present Director
1972 - Present Director
1972 - Present Executive Director
1971 - Present  Executive Director

Past Professional Experience

1998 - 2020 Executive Director
1990 - 2019 Director

1999 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors

1999 - 2018 Executive Director

2011 - 2019 Director
2011 - 2019 Director

2010 - 2019 Chairman of the Board of Directors

2010 - 2019 Executive Director

2012 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd.
Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd.
Lueungkosin Co., Ltd.

Klinbua Co., Ltd.

Sumittaya sakornasset Co., Ltd.
Thaihow wellness and Travel
Group Co.,Ltd

Beer Tsingtao (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Tri-Med (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

N & B Cranage Co., Ltd.
COSCO SHIPPING Lines
(Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd.
Dear Power Co., Ltd.

Cots shipping Co., Ltd.

Vescon Tugboat and Marine
Service Co., Ltd.

Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co., Ltd.
Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co,, Ltd.
T.Con. Co,, Ltd.

Pornchareon Estate Co., Ltd.
Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd

The Leungsuwan Estate Co,, Ltd.

Gold ship Co., Ltd.

March Shippping Co., Ltd.
Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)
Co,, Ltd.

Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.

Panmarine Shipping Co., Ltd.
TCITV Co.,, Ltd.

Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand) Co.,
Ltd.

Education

* Barrister-at-Law, Institute of Legal Education, Thai Bar Association

* Bachelor Degree in Laws, Ramkhamhaeng University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Family Business Governance (FBG), Class 12/2018
* Anti-Corruption : The practical Guide (ACPG), Class 14/2014

R G B Y i 511 ¢ * Financial Statements for Directors (FSD), Class 21/2013
2020) * Director Accreditation Program (DAP), Class 90,2011
* Director Certification Program (DCP), Class 151/ 2011

9 years 3 months

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
Age (years) spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

&7 19,397,200 shares or equivalent to 1.56%

Nationality Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

Thai -None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Younger brother of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan and older brother of Ms. Pensri

Leungsuwan and Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Non-executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions

Listed Companies
-None-
Companies/Other entities

2018 - Present Director Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present Director Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd.
2018 - Present Director Lueungkosin Co., Ltd.
2018 - Present Director Klinbua Co., Ltd.
2018 - Present Director Sumittaya sakornasset Co., Ltd.
2017 - Present Managing Director Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd.
N & B Cranage Co., Ltd.
COSCO SHIPPING Lines

(Thailand) Co., Ltd.

1996 - Present Executive Director

1993 - Present Director

1993 - Present Director Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd.

1990 - Present Director Dear Power Co., Ltd.
1983 - Present Director Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co., Ltd.
1972 - Present Executive Director Pornchareon Estate Co., Ltd.
1972 - Present Managing Director Pornchareon Estate Co., Ltd.

1971 - Present Director
Past Professional Experience
1998 - 2020 Director

2011 - 2019 Director
2010 - 2019 Director

The Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd.

Gold Ship Co., Ltd.
Panmarine Shipping Co., Ltd.
Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
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Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan
* Director
* Non - Executive Director

» Authorized Director

First appointment date
19 March 2002

Tenure (as of (31 December

2020)
18 years 9 months

Age (years)
65
Nationality
Thai

Education

E.D.A. (Management), Bangkok Business College

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Director Accreditation Program (DAP), Class 92/2011

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

19,250,200 shares or equivalent to 1.55%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Younger sister of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan and older
sister of Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Present Non-executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Other present positions

Listed Companies
-None-

Companies/Other entities
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director

Sumit and Malee Co., Ltd.
Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd.
Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd.
Lueungkosin Co., Ltd.

Klinbua Co., Ltd.

Sumittaya sakornasset Co., Ltd.
N & B Cranage Co., Ltd.

Dear Power Co.,, Ltd.

Cots shipping Co., Ltd.

Vescon Tugboat and Marine
Service Co., Ltd.

1996 - Present Executive Director
1990 - Present Director
1987 - Present Executive Director
1986 - Present Executive Director
1983 - Present Executive Director Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co,, Ltd.
1983 - Present Managing Director Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co., Ltd.
(Main job)
1982 - Present Director
1972 - Present Director
1972 - Present Director

1971 - Present Director
Past Professional Experience
2001 - 2019 Executive Director

1998 - 2019 Executive Director
1998 - 2019 Managing Director

T.Con. Co,, Ltd.

Pornchareon Estate Co., Ltd.
Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd.

The Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd.

C.S.B. Transport Co., Ltd.
China Shipping (Bangkok) Co,, Ltd.
China Shipping (Bangkok) Co,, Ltd.

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan

* Director

* Member of the Executive
Committee

» Executive Director

* Authorized Director

» Chief Financial Officer

* Investor Relations (Acting)

* The person taking the highest
responsibility in finance and

accounting

First appointment date
19 March 2002

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)

18 years 9 months

Age (years)
60

Nationality
Thai

Education

* M.B.A. (Executive), Sasin Graduate Institute of Business Administration,
Chulalongkorn University

* B.B.A., Marketing, Ramkamhaeng University

* Bachelor of Science, Mahidol University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Anti - Corruption the Practical Guide (ACPG), class 25/2016

» Audit Committee Program (ACP), class 37/2011

* Director Certification Program (DCP), class 136/ 2010

Other

* The Executive Program in Energy Literacy class 13/2019

* Strategic CFO in Capital Markets Class 3/2016, The Stock Exchange of Thailand

* Intermediate Certificate Courses in Good Governance for Executives Level Class
3/2014, King Prajadhipok’s Institute

* National Defence Course in private sector (2012), National Defence College

* Top executive program in commerce and trade: TEPCOT, class 5/2012
(Commerce Academy)

* Capital market academy course Class 10/2010, Capital Market Academy

Training and continuously develop the knowledge in accounting as Notification

of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, Tor Jor.39/2016 and TorJor. 3/2556

* Related party transaction and impairment issues, TLCA CFO (CPD 2.00 hours)

* Capital structure and funding strategy ,TLCA CFO (CPD 2.00 hours)

* CFO refresher Course 1/2020, the Stock Exchange of Thailand (CPD 6.00 hours)

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

19,450,200 shares or equivalent to 1.57%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Younger sister of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan and Ms.

Pensri LeungsuwanExperience

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Executive Committee Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Chief Financial Officer (Main job)  Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies
-None-

Companies/Other entities
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NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position

Companies/Other entities

2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director
2018 - Present Director

2017 - Present Associate Justice

2012 - Present Director
2008-Present Director

2002-Present Director
2002-Present Director
1996 - Present Director
1995 - Present Director
1994 - Present Director

1991 - Present Director
1987 - Present Director
1986 - Present Director

Past Professional Experience
2013 - 2020 Director
1998 - 2020 Director
2015 - 2019 Director

2011 - 2019 Director

2011 - 2019 Director
2009 - 2019 Director
1988 - 2019 Director
2014 - 2018 Mediator

2012 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors

2004 - 2018 Director

Sumit and Malee Co., Ltd.
Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd.
Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd.
Leungkosin Co., Ltd.

Klinbua Co., Ltd.

Sumittaya sakorn asset Co., Ltd
The Central Intellectual Property
and International Trade Court
Beer Tsingtao (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Polycube Co., Ltd.

(Former name DCC Co,, Ltd.)
Dear Power Co., Ltd.

Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd.

N & B Cranage Co., Ltd.

The Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd.
COSCO SHIPPING Lines
(Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd.
Cots shipping Co., Ltd.

Vescon Tugboat and Marine
Service Co., Ltd.

Verted plus Co., Ltd

Gold Ship Co., Ltd.

Maharaj Home for Boys
Foundation
Meechai-Khunying Amporn
Ruchupan Foundation
Panmarine Shipping Co., Ltd.
Dhamma-Narai Co., Ltd.
Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
The Central Intellectual Property
and International Trade Court
Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand) Co.,
Ltd.

N. Y. Intergroup Co., Ltd.

Dr. Sunee Sornchaitanasuk

* Director

* Chairwoman of the Audit Committee
* Independent Director

First appointment date
23 August 2016

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)

4 years 4 months

Age (years)
58

Nationality
Thai

Education

* Doctor, Communication Management Program,Suan Dusit University

* Master of Science Technical Education in Industrial Business, King Mongkut's
Institute of Technology North Bangkok

* Bachelor of Accounting, Thammasart University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Role of the Chairman Program (RCP), class 18/2008

* Monitoring the Internal Audit Function (MIA), class 2/2008

* Monitoring the System of Internal Control and Risk Management (MIR), class
3/2008

* Improving the Quality of Financial Reporting (QFR), class 5/2007

» Director Certification Program (DCP), class 53/2005

» Audit Committee Program (ACP), class 5/2005

* Director Accreditation Program (DAP) class 28/2004

Other

* Certified Public Accountant

* Courses for Medical governance for senior Executives Class 3/2015,
King Prajadhipok’s Institute

* Certificate of The Executive Program in Energy Literacy for a Sustainable Future,
Thailand Energy Academy (TEA),Class 4 2014

* National Defence Course in private sector (2011), National Defence College

* Capital market academy course Class 11/2010, Capital Market Academy

* Politics and Governance in Democratic-Systems for Executive Class 10/2007,
King Prajadhipok’s Institute

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Chairwoman of the Audit Committee Namyong Terminal PLC.

Present Independent Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
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Other present positions

Listed Companies

Period Position

Companies/Other entities

Present Chairwoman of the Audit Committee
Present Independent Director

Present Member of the Audit Committee
Present Independent Director
Companies/Other entities

Present Executive Director (Main job)

Present Certified Public Accountant

Present Certified Public Accountant

Present Committee of Experts

Past Professional Experience

2018 Advisor to Board of Directors

2015 Insist on the physical side,
consultants Use of space
and the environment

2015 Chairman of the Subcommittee
to examine the Education Fund
Senior Director of Accounting
Education Fund Committee

2015 Senior Director of Accounting
Education Fund Committee

2014 Commissioner, Tourism and Sports

2013 Advisor to the Deputy Minister
of Education

201 Association of Parents and Teachers

20M Director of Program HRH Princess
Maha Chakri Sirindhorn Medical

Center
20M Director and Secretary
20M Committee of experts on the operating

committee HRH Princess Maha

Chakri Sirindhorn Medical Center

Siam City Cement PLC.
Siam City Cement PLC.
B.Grimm Power PLC.
B.Grimm Power PLC.

AMC Medical Center (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.

CPA Associate (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.

SS Four D Co., Ltd.

Scout Thailand

JSSR Machinery
The National Legislative

Assembly

The Ministry of Finance

The Ministry of Finance

The House of Representatives

Minister of Education

Mater Dei School

Srinakharinwirot University

Maha Chakri Sirindhorn Royal
Fund for Under privileged
patients

Srinakharinwirot University

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

* Director

* Independent Director

First appointment date
11 November 2015

Tenure (as of (31 December

2020)

5 years 1 month

Age (years)
72

Nationality
Thai

Mr. Chaisawasd Kittipornpaiboon [N

Bachelor of Engineering, Chulalongkorn University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (10D)

Director Certification Program (DCP) Class 77/2006

Other

* Top executive program in commerce and trade: TEPCOT, class 2/2009 (Com
merce Academy)

* Capital market academy course Class 7/2007, Capital Market Academy

* Diplomain National Defense College The State, Private sector and Political sector
course, Class 1/2003 National Defense College

* Public administration and Law for executive, Class 1/2002, King Prajadhipok’s
Institute

* The Civil service executive development program, Class 34/2001, Office of
the civil service commission

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Independent Directorindependent Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities
-None-

Past Professional Experience
October 2008 Retirement

2006 - 2008 Permanent Secretary
2005 - 2006 Director General

2003 - 2005 Deputy Director General
20071 - 2003 Director

2000 - 2001 Director

Ministry of Transport
Department of Highways
Department of Highways
Office of Highways 11 (Bangkok)

Inter City Motorway Division
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Mrs. Benchawan Srangnitra

* Director

» Chairwoman of the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee

* Independent Director

First appointment date
13 September 2011

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)
9 years 3 months

Age (years)
70

Nationality
Thai

Education

* Doctor of Public Administration, Bangkokthonburi University

* Master of Science (HRD), University of Manchester, United Kingdom

* Bachelor of Education, Chulalongkorn University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

» Audit Committee Program (ACP) Class 37/2011

* Successful Formulation & Execution of Strategy Program (SFE) Class 12/2011
* Director Certification Program (DCP) Class 136,/2010

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Present Chairwoman of the Nomination, Namyong Terminal PLC.
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee

Present Member of the Audit Committee Namyong Terminal PLC.

Present Independent Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies
-None-

Companies/Other entities

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Member of National Reform Steering The House of Representatives
Assembly

Present Member Office of the Council State

Past Professional Experience

2015-2017 Member of National Development The house of Representatives
Steering Assembly

2014 -2015  Member of National Reform Steering The house of Representatives
Assembly

2010-2011  Assistant Minister

2009 -2010 Secretary

Office of the Prime Minister
Office of the civil service

commission

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Mrs. Sunee Pongpud

* Director
* Member of the Audit Committee

* Independent Director

First appointment date
26 February 2014

First appointment date
26 February 2014

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)
6 years 10 months

Age (years)
67

Nationality
Thai

Mr. Vallop Tiasiri

* Director

* Member of the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee

* Independent Director

First appointment date
6 August 2014

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)

6 years 4 months

Education

* M.B.A.(Finance) South East Asia University

* B.B.A. (Accounting) Srinakharinwirot University (Prasarnmitr)

* Bachelor of Education (Accounting) Srinakharinwirot University (Prasarnmitr)
Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 111/2014

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Audit Committee  Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Independent Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions

Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities

-None-

Past Professional Experience

2013 - 2019 Account - Finance Manager
2011 - 2019 Account - Finance Manager
2009 - 2012 Office Manager (Finance)

Brighton Development Co,, Ltd.
Villa Della Co., Ltd.
Thai Rung Union Cars PLC.

Education

* Master of Management, Sasin Graduate Institute of Business Administration of
Chulalongkorn University

* Bachelor of Engineering Chulalongkorn University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 113/2014

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-
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Age (years)
66

Nationality
Thai

Dr. Vichya Kreangam

* Director

* Independent Director

* Member of the Audit Committee

* Member of the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate

Governance Committee

First appointment date
12 November 2014

Tenure (as of (31 December
2020)

6 years 1 month

Age (years)
39

Nationality
Thai

Experience

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Nomination, Namyong Terminal PLC.
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee
Present Independent Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Other present positions

Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities

-None-

Past Professional Experience

2000 - 2012 Director Industrial Development
Foundation for Thailand

Automotive Institute

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%
Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Education

* Doctor of the Science of Laws (J.S.D.), University of California, Berkeley, School
of Law, U.S.A.

* Master of Laws (LL.M.), University of California, Berkeley, School of Law, U.S.A.

* Barrister-at-Law, Institute of Legal Education, Thai Bar Association

* Bachelor of Laws (LL.B.) (Honors), Chulalongkorn University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Role of Chairman Program (RCP), class 42 / 2018

« Corporate Governance for Executives (CGE), class 6/2016

* Advanced Audit Committee Program (AACP), class 22/2016

* Director Accreditation Program (DAP), class 116,/2015

» Corporate Governance for Capital Market Intermediaries (CGI), class 8/2015

Other

* Certificate of Rule of law for democracy (Nor.Tor.Por.) Class 7, College of the
Constitutional Court

* Certificate of Administrative Justice Administration,(Bor.Yor.Sor.) Class 16, Office
of the Judicial Training Institute

» Certificate of senior management of Administrative justice (Nor.Yor.Por.), Class
6, Office of Administrative Court

* Certificate of New Era Leadership in the Democratic Systems, Class 1King
Prajadhipok’s Institute

* Diploma of Advocacy and Lawyer License, Lawyers Council of Thailand

-None-
Experience
Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Audit Committee Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Nomination, Namyong Terminal PLC.
Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee
Present Independent Director

Other present positions
Listed Companies
2019 - Present Member of the Audit Committee  Sikarin PLC.
2016 - Present Member of the Compensation  Sikarin PLC.
Committee
2014 - Present  Chairman of Corporate Governance General Engineering PLC.
Committee
2014 - Present Member of the Audit Committee  General Engineering PLC.
2014 - Present Member of the Nominating and  General Engineering PLC.
Remuneration Committee
2014 - Present Independent Director General Engineering PLC.
2014 - Present Independent Director Sikarin PLC.
2010 - Present Head of Legal Counsel (Property / True Corporation PLC.
Leasing)/ Business Development
Executive (Main job)
Companies/Other entities
2020 - Present Honorary Director The Office of Law Reform
Commission of Thailand
2020 -Present Sub - Committee The Senate’s sub - Committee
on education, to recommend
and solve under privileged
problems, and inequitable
treatment on economy
2019 - Present Professor Institute of Legal Education,

Thai Bar Association
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Period

Position

Companies/Other entities

2019 - 2020

2019 - 2020

2019 - 2020

2017 - 2019

2017 - 2019

2010 - 2019
2016 - 2017

2016 - 2017

2016 - 2017

2016 - 2017

2016 - 2017

2015 - 2017

2014 - 2017
2013-2014

2013 -2014

2018 - Present Sub - Committee

2018 - Present Sub - Committee

2013 - Present Executive Director

Past Professional Experience

Independent Director

Member of the Audit Committee

Chairman of the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee

Director

Chairman of the Sub- Committee

Visiting Lecturer, Faculty of Law
Member of Risk Management

Committee

Member of Corporate Governance

Sub - Committee on
scrutinization Laws relating to
energy business operations,
Energy Regulatory Commission
Sub - Committee on
Participation, Follow - up,
examination, evaluation Law
on the National Reform

The Badminton Association of
Thailand under Royal Patronage
of His Majesty the King

AEC Securities
AEC Securities
AEC Securities

The Office of Law Reform
Commission of Thailand
Public Relations and Hearing
Sub- Committee

Khon Kaen University

AEC Securities PLC

AEC Securities PLC

and Corporate Social Responsibility

Committee
Member of Nomination and

Compensation Committee

Scholar Committee for the Sports,

Arts, Cultures,Religion, Ethics and

Morals

Advisor of the Sub - committee of the

National Reform
Steering Assembly
Member of the Board

Independent Director

Sub-Committee on ICT and Public

Media

Advisor to Sub-committee on

Research for Regulation,

Order and Laws relating to ICT and

Telecommunications

AEC Securities PLC

National Reform Steering

Assembly

National Reform Steering

Assembly

Chulalongkorn Law School
Alumni Association

AEC Securities PLC

The Senate

The House of Representatives

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position Companies/Other entities
2010 - 2014 Visiting Lecturer, School of Law Bangkok University

2010 - 2014 Visiting Lecturer, School of Law Nakhorn Sri Thamarat Rajabhat

University

2006 - 2010 Associate Lawyer White & Case (Thailand) Limited

Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan Education
- Director Bachelor of Law (LL.B.) Assumption University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (10D)

* Family Business Governance Class 14,/2019

« [T-Governance (ITG) Class 4/2017

* Anti-Corruption : The practical Guide (ACPG) Class 28/2016
* Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 84,/2010

Resources Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

* Member of the Executive Committee
* Executive Director

* Authorized Director

* Chief Administrative Officer

» (Acting) Director of Human

* (Acting) Director of Legal Affairs spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020
0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

First appointment date

9 February 2012 “None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Son of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan
Tenure (as of (31 December

2020)

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
8 years 10 months Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Executive Committee  Namyong Terminal PLC.
Age (years) Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
38 Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Chief Administrative Officer Namyong Terminal PLC.
. . Present (Acting) Director of Human Namyong Terminal PLC.
Nationality
. Resources
el Present (Acting) Director of Legal Affairs  Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities
2018 - Present  Director NYKT International Terminal
Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present  Director Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd.
2016 - Present  Director Port Development and Service
Co., Ltd.

2012 - Present  Director Laemchabang International
Ro-Ro Terminal Limited
Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)

Co., Ltd.

2005 - Present  Director
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Past Professional Experience Period Position Companies/Other entities
Period Position Companies/Other entities 2012 - Present Director Beer Tsingtao (Thailand) Co,, Ltd.
2012 - 2015 Director Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand) 2001 - Present Director Tri-Med (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Limited 1996 - Present Executive Director N & B Cranage Co., Ltd.
1993 - Present Executive Director COSCO SHIPPING Lines
2012 - 2015 Director Port Development and Service (Thailand) Co., Ltd
Co,, Ltd. 1991 - Present Executive Director Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd.
2012 - 2015 Director PTP Energy Co., Ltd. 1990 - Present Director Dear Power Co., Ltd.
1987 - Present Executive Director Cots shipping Co., Ltd.
. 1986 - Present Executive Director Vescon Tugboat and Marine
Details on Managements Service Co., Ltd.
Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan Education 1983 - Present Exgcutlve Dlrector . Nam Yuen YongSh?pp!ngCo., Ltd.
o : - “ DB.A. Business Administration. Chianarai Raiabhat Universit 1983 - Present Chief Executive Officer Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co,, Ltd.
» Chief Executive Officer R ' & : Y 1982 - Present Director T.Con. Co., Ltd.
* Bachelor of Science Marine Transport, Philippines Maritime Institute 1972 - Present Director Pornchareon Estate Co. Ltd.
First appointment date Training 1972 - Present Executive Director Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd
19 March 2002 Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D) 1971 - Present Executive Director The Leungsuwan Estate Co,, Ltd.
« Director Certification Program (DCP) Class 151/2011 Past Professional Experience
Age (years) Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by 1998 - 2020 E%ecutive Director Gold ship.Co.,.Ltd.
69 spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020 1990 = 2019 D|ref:tor ) March Shlpppmg Co. Ltfj'
1999 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)
133,709,800 shares or equivalent to 10.78% Co. Ltd.
Nationality Legal offense record in the past 10 years' 1999 - 2018 Executive Director Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)
Thai -None- Co., Ltd.
Family Relations among directors and management 2011 - 2019 Director Panmarine Shipping Co., Ltd.
Older brother of Mr. Dh il Ms. P L Ms. Pimk 2011 - 2019 Director TCITV Co,, Ltd.
erorother ofr. Lhananant Leungsuwan, Vis. FensriLeungsuwan, vis. Fimkarn 2010 - 2019 Chairman of the Board of Directors Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
Leungsuwan and father of Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan 2010 - 2019 Executive Director Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
Experience 2012 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand)
Period Position Companies/Other entities Co, Ltd.
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC. Ms. Pimk L Educati
S. FImKarn Leungsuwan ucation
Present Chairman of the Executive Namyong Terminal PLC. g ] ) } ) o }
c - « Chief Financial Officer * M.B.A. (Executive), Sasin Graduate Institute of Business Administration,
ommittee
.| tor Relati Acti Chulalongkorn University
Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC. nk:/es SRR |kons <h Cl’:ngh) BBA. Marketing Ramkarmh Universit
. T taking t i t * B.B.A., Marketing, Ramkamhaeng University
Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC. - perS(;nl - mfg S ZS Bachelor of Sci Mahidol Universit
responsibility in finance an * bacnelor or >cience, Vianidol University
Present Chief Executive Officer Namyong Terminal PLC. s J o
accounting Training
Other present positions Thai Institute of Directors Association (10D)
Listed Companies First appointment date * Anti - Corruption the Practical Guide (ACPG), class 25/2016
-None- 19 March 2002 * Audit Committee Program (ACP), class 37/2011
Companies/Other entities Experience « Director Certification Program (DCP), class 136/ 2010
Period Position Companies/Other entities Other
2018 - Present  Director Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd. * The Executive Program in Energy Literacy class 13/2019
2018 - Present Dfrector Sabholdmg and Land Co,, Ltd. » Strategic CFO in Capital Markets Class 3/2016, The Stock Exchange of Thailand
2018 - Present  Director Lueungkosin Co., Ltd.
2078 - Present  Director Klinbua Co., Ltd, * Intermediate Certificate Courses in Good Governance for Executives Level Class
2018 - Present Director Sumittaya sakornasset Co., Ltd. 3/2014, King Prajadhipok’s Institute
2018 - Present Director Thaihow wellness and Travel * National Defence Course in private sector (2012), National Defence College

Group Co.,Ltd

* Top executive program in commerce and trade: TEPCOT, class 5/2012

(Commerce Academy)

* Capital market academy course Class 10/2010, Capital Market Academy
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Age (years) Training and continuously develop the knowledge in accounting as Notification Past Professional Experience
0] of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, Tor Jor.39/2016 and TorJor. 3/2556 Period Position Companies/Other entities
* Related party transaction and impairment issues, TLCA CFO (CPD 2.00 hours) 2013 - 2020 Director Verted plus Co., Ltd
Nationality « Capital structure and funding strategy ,TLCA CFO (CPD 2.00 hours) 1998 - 2020 Director Gold Ship Co.,, Ltd.
Thai * CFO refresher Course 1/2020, the Stock Exchange of Thailand (CPD 6.00 hours) 2015 - 2019 Director Maharaj Home for Boys
Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by Foundation
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020 2011 - 2019 Director Meechai-Khunying Amporn

19,450,200 shares or equivalent to 1.57% Ruchupan Foundation

Legal offense record in the past 10 years' 2011 - 2019 Director Panmarine Shipping Co., Ltd.
-None- 2009 - 2019 Director Dhamma-Narai Co., Ltd.
Family Relations among directors and management 1988 - 2019 Director Namyong Maritime Co., Ltd.
Younger sister of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan, Mr. Dhananant Leungsuwan and Ms. 2014 - 2018 Mediator The Central Intellectual Property

Pensri LeungsuwanExperience and International Trade Court

Experience 2012 - 2018 Chairman of the Board of Directors Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand)
Period Position Companies/Other entities Co.,, Ltd.

Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC. 2004 - 2018 Director N. Y. Intergroup Co., Ltd.
Present Member of the Executive Committee  Namyong Terminal PLC.

Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC. Mr. Amornnat Janyong Education

Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC. » Chief Operating Officer * Highest Degree Certificate Merchant Marine Training Centre Marine Department

Present Chief Financial Officer (Main job) ~ Namyong Terminal PLC. Ministry of Transport

Training
Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

Other present positions

First appointment date

Listed Companies
19 March 2002

-None- » Anti-Corruption : The practical Guide (ACPG) Class 28/2016

Companies/Other entities * Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 84,/2010

2018 - Present  Director Sumit and Malee Co., Ltd. Age (years) Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

2018-Present  Director Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd. 52 spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

2018 - Present  Director Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd. 200 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

2018 - Present  Director Leungkosin Co., Ltd. Nationality Legal offense record in the past 10 years'

2018 -Present  Director Klinbua Co., Ltd. Thai -None-

2018 - Present  Director Sumittaya sakorn asset Co., Ltd Family Relations among directors and management

2017 -Present  Associate Justice The Central Intellectual Property -None-
and International Trade Court Experience

2012 -Present  Director Beer Tsingtao (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Period Position Companies/Other entities

2008 - Present Director Polycube Co., Ltd. Present Member of the Executive Committee  Namyong Terminal PLC.
(Former name DCC Co., Ltd.) Present Chief Operating Officer Namyong Terminal PLC.

2002 - Present  Director Dear Power Co., Ltd. Other present positions

2002 - Present  Director Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd. Listed Companies

1996 - Present  Director N & B Cranage Co., Ltd. -None-

1995 - Present  Director The Leungsuwan Estate Co,, Ltd. Companies/Other entities

1994 - Present  Director COSCO SHIPPING Lines Period Position Companies/Other entities
(Thailand) Co., Ltd. 2018 - Present Director NYKT International Terminal

1991- Present  Director Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd. Co., Ltd.

1987 - Present  Director Cots shipping Co., Ltd. 2012 - Present  Director Laemchabang International

1986 - Present  Director Vescon Tugboat and Marine Ro-Ro Terminal Limited

Service Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan

* Chief Administrative Officer

* (Acting) Director of Human
Resources

* (Acting) Director of Legal Affairs

First appointment date
9 February 2012

Past Professional Experience

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position Companies/Other entities

2012 - 2018  Director Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand)
Limited

2003 - 2014 Director Namyong Terminal PLC.

Education

Bachelor of Law (LL.B.) Assumption University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

* Family Business Governance Class 14,/2019

* IT-Governance (ITG) Class 4/2017

» Anti-Corruption : The practical Guide (ACPG) Class 28/2016
* Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 84,/2010
Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

Son of Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Member of the Executive Committee  Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Executive Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Authorized Director Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Chief Administrative Officer Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present (Acting) Director of Human Namyong Terminal PLC.

Resources
Present (Acting) Director of Legal Affairs  Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities
2018 -Present Director NYKT International Terminal
Co., Ltd.

2017 -Present Director Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd.
2016 -Present  Director Port Development and Service
Co,, Ltd.

2012 -Present Director Laemchabang International
Ro-Ro Terminal Limited
Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand)

Co., Ltd.

2005-Present  Director

Past Professional Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities

2012 - 2018 Director Sapphire Ro-Ro (Thailand)
Limited

2012 - 2015 Director Port Development and Service
Co,, Ltd.

2012 - 2015 Director PTP Energy Co., Ltd.

Mr. Pravit Anankusri Education

« Assistant Director of Accounting * Master of Business Administration, Thammasat University

el Bligree (Einstl Comellr) * Bachelor of Business Administration, Major in Accounting, Thammasat University

Training

. . Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)
First appointment date

-None-
9 October 2017 Other

* Risk Management and Internal Control Program, Thai Listed Companies
Age (years) Association
39 « Passed CFA Level |

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by

spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

Nationality

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Thai

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Assistant Director of Accounting  Namyong Terminal PLC.
and Finance

Present Secretary of the Audit Committee Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities
-None-

Past Professional Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities

2016 - 2017 Associate Director
2015 - 2016 Financial Controller
2002 - 2015 Audit Manager

EY Corporate Services Limited
Laguna Holiday Club Limited
EY Office Limited
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Detail on the person supervising accounting

Ms. Darika Ittipronkungwan
* The person supervising accounting

* Accounting and Finance Manager

First appointment date

1January 2013

Age (years)
43

Nationality
Thai

Education

* Master of Accounting, Chulalongkorn University

* Bachelor of Accounting, Chiang mai University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (I0D)

-None-

Other

-None-

Training and continuously develop the knowledge in accounting (refresh) as
Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, TorJor.39/2016 and
TorJor. 3/2556

* Risk management “COSO ERM” 2017, (CPD 12.00 hours)

* Risk management “Anti Corruption” (CPD 18.00 hours)

Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

40,000 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years1

-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Period Position Companies/Other entities

Present Accounting and Finance Manager Namyong Terminal PLC.

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities

-None-
Past Professional Experience

2006 - 2012 Assistant manager of Accounting Autolift Asia ROH Co,, Ltd.
and Finance

2003 - 2006 Assistant accountant

2000 - 2003 Semi-Senior Assistant Auditor

1999 - 2000 Junior Assistant Auditor

Thai Nakanishi Co., Ltd.

SGV Na Talang Co., Ltd.
KPMG Phoomchai Audit
(Thailand) Ltd.

1999 Accounting officer Papop Co., Ltd.

Detail on Corporate Secretary

Ms. Sopana Paraphuti
* Corporate Secretary
* Head of Compliance (Cas the

position)

First appointment date
11 August 2015

Age (years)

43

Nationality
Thai

Remark:

Education

* Barrister-at-Law, Institute of Legal Education, Thai Bar Association

* Bachelor of Accounting, Bangkok University

* Bachelor of Laws, Thammasat University

Training

Thai Institute of Directors Association (10D)

-None-

Other

« Corporate Sustainability Course, The Stock Exchange of Thailand

* Finance for Non- Finance Executives Class 13/2016

* Finance for the General Manager Class 3/2016

* Diploma of Advocacy and Lawyer License, Lawyers Council of Thailand
Training of Corporate Secretary's role and responsibility

* PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION LAW & PRACTICAL ACTIONS

« Company Secretary Program 2020, Thai Listed Companies Association

* Company Secretary Program class 2/2018, Thai Listed Companies Association
Percent of shares held in the Company including the number of shares held by
spouse and minor children, as of 31 December 2020

0 shares or equivalent to 0.00%

Legal offense record in the past 10 years'
-None-

Family Relations among directors and management

-None-

Experience

Period Position Companies/Other entities
Present Corporate Secretary Namyong Terminal PLC.
Present Secretary of the Nomination, Namyong Terminal PLC.

Compensation and Corporate

Governance Committee

Other present positions
Listed Companies

-None-

Companies/Other entities

-None-

Past Professional Experience

2014 - 2015 Compliance Manager
2007 - 2014 Corporate Affairs Officer
2002 - 2007 Legal Officer

Univentures PCL.
Glow Energy PLC.
Natural Park PLC.

» For Duties and Responsibility of Corporate Secretary, Please refer to “Information of Directors and Managements” chapter for further details.

1Vio\ating the provision of the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992) or Derivatives Act B.E. 2546 (2003) as specified the following against:

1) Act without good faith or with gross negligence.

2) Disclose or Distribute a false statement or conceals material facts which should have been stated affecting decision making of shareholders, investors or other parties.

3) Act any unfair practice or take advantage of investors in trading securities or derivatives or aided or abetted thereof.



158 56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020 NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 1 59

Details on the Directors, Managements and Controller
of the Subsidiary Company, the Associate Company
or Related Company

Company / s - Company / § § - £ °g° -
c © =4 s ., 3 S IS > g
Juristic Person 5, : 3 go S |% Juristic Person 33 & %lss|s g |= g 5 | £
2 x = £ x5 £ 8| 8 S g o B 8
Director | < £ . | g 21 B8 |5 |8 |8 |. |5 |B Director |82 | 55| Bg|3 |cg| 5|55|2 |€ |F |2 |B5|E |2
Management guEJ Eﬁ %g = gg § §§ %m 3 : ﬁ -gg § 2 Management §§ §§ 5; g i; §%‘ '_:E“E 5-‘2 § § -E ?=°§ g 2
25083535 |23|85|%582|5 |2 |§ |Z:|2 |3 g§|c2jgg|s 12 3T 0L URG |5 |5 |£81< &
and Controller 3% |_Eb§o ebgo t t%o 5'1§ t*% eg p ? 5 tbgo i t and Controller 8153|253 g 353|381 58| £ g 5 3| & g
58|53 |38|s |s3|&88|s€|s5|S | = 5 | S8l |=
aa | o o =~ i - The Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd, B,C B B B
ong > A BCD B B BCD B : R 3 : B BCD D »
Sumit and Malee Co., Ltd. B B
0 0 a B )
Sumittaya sabmai Co., Ltd. B B B B
= - : Sumittaya sakornasset Co., Ltd. B B B B
bane Internations AMC Medical Center D
-Ra " o 3 3 (Thailand) Co.,Ltd.
Klinbua Co., Ltd. B B B B N & B Cranage Co., Ltd. B,C| BC| BC B
Cots shipping Co., Ltd. B.C BC | B Lueungkosin Co., Ltd. B B B B
COSCO Shipping Lines (Thailand) B.C,D| B.C B,D Glow Energy PLC. B
Co.,Ltd. General Engineering PLC. A B
Cosiam Transport Co., Ltd. B,D [B,C,D B B.Grimm Power Plc. B
Tsingtao Marketing (Thailand) B Siam City Cement PLC. B
Co.Ltd. Sikarin PLC. B
Dear Power Co., Ltd. B B B B Etermiel Ereia BIE. A
Tri-Med (Thailand) Co., Ltd. B Scout Thailand B
Sabholding and Land Co., Ltd. B B B B e Biaarc pelds [nstiufie B
T.Con. Co,, Ltd. B B Council
Thaihow wellness and travel B Council of Silpakorn University| B
Co., td. Chiang Mai University Council| B
Nam Yuen Yong Shipping Co, Ltd. BCD| B |BCD The Badminton Association of B,C
Beer Tsingtao (Thailand) Co., Ltd. B B Thailand under Royal Patronage
Pornchareon Estate Co., Ltd B |BCD| B @110 WEeEiiy e [Sing
. Office of the Council of State B B
Port Development and Services B
Co., Ltd. Ministry of Higher Education, B
bolveube Co. Ltd 5 Science, Research and Innovation
olycube Co., Ltd.
Sahamit Hotel Co., Ltd. B,C B B
VVescon Tugboat and Marinel B,C B,C B - The Company - Subsidiary Company - Associated Company Related Company
Service Co., Ltd. A = Chairman B = Director C = Executive Director D = Management

The Company'’s subsidiary revenues is more than 10 percent of the total revenues as the statements of financial
position and statements of income of the Company for the fiscal year ended 2020.
--None-
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GRI102:

General Disclosures 2016

1. Organizational profile

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure
Disclosure
Disclosure
Disclosure

Disclosure

102-1

102-2

102-3
102-4
102-5
102-6

102-7

Name of the organization
Activities, brands, products,
and services

Location of headquarters
Location of operations
Ownership and legal form
Markets served

Scale of the organization

Reference Page in the 56-1 One Report/
Annual Report 2020 / Explanations

e “General Information of the Company” on page 67

e “Nature of Business and its performance” on page 40-59

“General Information of the Company” on page 67

“General Information of the Company” on page 67

e “General Information of the Company” on page 67

“Nature of Business and its performance” on page 40-59

“Information of Employees” on page 132

“Operational highlights” on page 14-15

“Nature of Business and its performance” on page 40-59

2. Strategy

Disclosure 102-8 Information on employees and e “Information of Employees” on page 132
other workers
Disclosure  102-9 Supply chain e “Corporate Sustainability Drive” on page 81-83.
Disclosure  102-10  Significant changes to the e “Message from the Chief Executive Officer” on page 24-25
organization and its supply chain e “Company Background and Key Success” on page 16-19
Disclosure 102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach e “Risk management” on page 70-75
e “Report of the Executive Commitee” on page 30-31
Disclosure  102-12  External initiatives e “Corporate Sustainability Drive” on page 81.
Disclosure 102-13 Membership of associations The Company is a member of United States Coast Guard
(“U.S. Coast Guard”)
Disclosure  102-14  Statement from senior decision-maker e “Chairman Statement” on page 22-23
e “Message from the Chief Executive Officer” on page 24-25.
Disclosure 102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities e “Message from the Chief Executive Officer” on page 24-25

e “Risk management” on page 70-75

e “Report of the Executive Committee” on page 30-31

3. Ethics and integrity

Disclosure 102-16  Values, principles, standards, e “Vision & Mission” on page 10-11
and norms of behavior e “Corporate core value” on page 12-13
e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 101-102
Disclosure 102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concems e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 101-102

about ethics e “Whistle blowing Policy” on page 108
e “Anti-Corruption Policy” on page 109
e “Internal Controls and Audit Fee” on page 110

e “Risk Management” on page 73

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 163

GRI102:

General Disclosures 2016

4. Governance

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

102-18

102-19

102-20

102-21

102-22

Governance structure

Delegating authority

Executive-level responsibility for
economic, environmental,

and social topics

GRI Standard Index

Reference Page in the 56-1 One Report/

Annual Report 2020 / Explanations

e “Organization Chart” on page 88
e “Information of Directors and Managements” on page 116-117

e “Information of Sub-Commitee” on page 122

“Information of Directors and Managements” on page 117-118
e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 89-104

e |In accordance with the Company’s long-term plan, the Executive
Committee has resolved to approve the appointment of Corporate
Sustainability Management Committee or “CSM” which is directly
reported to the Executive Committee. CSM aims to enhance a
sustainable knowledge and understanding for executives and
employees, to set sustainability’s frame work and strategies by
taking into account the nature of business and to integrate our

corporate management reaching global sustainability standards

Please refer to “Report of the Corporate Sustainability Management

Committee” on page 32-33

Consulting stakeholders on economic, The Company focuses on feedback from stakeholders reflecting our

environmental, and social topics

Composition of the highest

service. The Company pays close attention to societal views, works
to identify opportunities and risks in their early stages and

provides a variety of opportunities for dialogue with stakeholders.

For examples of the Company’s dialogue with stakeholders
are such as customer survey, Whistle blowing system, intranet,
intemnal events with employees, websites, direct contact with the Company
The Executive Committee is handling of Whistle blowing cases,
Corporate secretary and Investor Relations are handling of shareholders
and investors’ information and to convene the Annual General

Meeting of Shareholder, etc.

Please refer to:

e “Corporate Sustainability Drive” on page 76-83

o “Report of the Corporate Sustainabitity Management™ on page 32-33
e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 91-94

e “Whistle Blowing Policy” on page 108

e “Information of Directors and Managements” on page 116-117
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GRI102: General Disclosures 2016 Reference Page in the 56-1 One Report/Annual

Report 2020 / Explanations

governance body and its committees e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 102
e “Chairman Statement” on page 22-23

Disclosure 102-23  Chair of the highest governance body e “Chairman Statement” on page 22-23

“Information of Directors and Managements” on page 116-117
Disclosure  102-24  Nominating and selecting the highest e “Nomination and appointment of Director and Top Management”

governance body on page 127

“Corporate Governance Policy” on page 101

Disclosure 102-25  Conflicts of interest “Related Party Transactions” on page 174-178
Disclosure 102-26 Role of highest governance body e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 99
in setting purpose, values, and strategy
Disclosure 102-27 Disclosure Collective knowledge of e “Details on Directors, Managements, The person Supervising
highest governance body accounting and Corporate Secretary” on page 134-157
e “The Board of Directors and Committees’ meetings” on page 124
Disclosure 102-28 Evaluating the highest governance e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 100
body’s performance e “Self Assessment” on page 130-131
Disclosure ~ 102-29 Identifying and managing economic, In accordance with the Company’s long-term plan, the Executive
environmental, and social impacts Committee has resolved to approve the appointment of Corporate
Sustainability Management Committee or “CSM” which is directly
reported to the Executive Committee. CSM aims to enhance a
sustainable knowledge and understanding for executives and
employees, to set sustainability’s frame work and strategies by
taking into account the nature of business and to integrate our

corporate management reaching global sustainability standards

Please refer to “Corporate Sustainability Drive” on page 77-78
Disclosure 102-30  Effectiveness of risk management e “Report of the Executive Committee” on page 30-31
processes e “Risk Management” on page 70
Disclosure 102-31 Review of economic, environmental, e “Report of the Corporate Sustainability Management Committee”
and social topics on page 32-33
e “Corporate Sustainability Drive” on page 77-78
Disclosure 102-32  Highest governance body’s role Not applicable because the Company have not yet prepared sustainability
in sustainability reporting report, however this Company’s 56-1 One report/Annual Report
has been prepared in accordance with mostly required criteria of

GRI 102 : General Disclosure base on “Core Option” disclosure.

The Board of Directors have been reviews this Company’s 56-1

One report/Annual Report to ensure that all material topics are

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

GRI 102 :

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

General Disclosures 2016

102-33

102-34

102-35

102-36

102-37

102-38

102-39

Communicating critical concerns

Nature and total number of
critical concerns

Remuneration policies

Process for determining remuneration

Stakeholders’ involvement in

remuneration

Annual total compensation ratio

Percentage increase in annual

total compensation ratio

Reference Page in the 56-1 One Report/

Annual Report 2020 / Explanations

disclosure to all stakeholders accurately and completely aligned
with rule and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
Thailand.

e “Internal Controls and Audit Fee” on page 110-111

e “Risk management” on page 70

e “Report of the Executive Committee” on page 30-31

e “Risk management” on page 70

e “Corporate Governance Policy” on page 100-101

e “Remuneration of Directors and Managements” on page 126

e “Report of the Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee” on page 28-29

e “Remuneration of Directors and Managements” on page 126

Not applicable, the Company don’t take into account stakeholders’

views.

Not applicable, However, information of remunerations of directors,

executives is stated as the following:

e “Remunerations of Directors and Managements” on page 125-126

e “Information of Employees” on page 133.

Not applicable, However, information of remunerations of directors,

executives is stated as the following:

¢ “Remunerations of Directors and Managements” on page 125-126

e “Information of Employees” on page 133.

5. Stakeholder engagement

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

Disclosure

102-40

102-41

102-42

102-43

List of stakeholder groups

Collective bargaining agreements

Identifying and selecting stakeholders

Approach to stakeholder engagement

e “Corporate sustainbility Drive” on page 77-78

Not applicable because the Company and its subsidiaries do not
establish Labor Unions and have not any collective bargaining
agreement with employees.

e “Corporate Sustainbility Drive” on page 77-78

The Company focuses on feedback from stakeholders reflecting
our service. The Company pays close attention to societal views,
works to identify opportunities and risks in their early stages and
provides a variety of opportunities for dialogue with stakeholders.
For examples of the Company’s dialogue with stakeholders are
such as customer survey, Whistle blowing system, intranet,
internal events with employees, websites, direct contact with

the Company.
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56-1 One report Index

GRI102: General Disclosures 2016 Reference Page in the 56-1 One Report/Annual Clause Detail

Report 2020 / Explanations

The Executive Committee is handling of Whistle blowing cases,

Section 1 Nature of Business and performance

11 Policy and business overview 40
Corporate secretary and Investor Relations are handling of 11 Vision Mission Strat 10-1
1. ision Mission Strategy -
shareholders and investors’ information and to convene the 112 Company Background and Key Success 1619
Annual General Meeting of Shareholder, etc. 11.3 Is use of fund from offering raised as the informed objective? N/A
Disclosure  102-44 Key topics and concerns Not applicable because key topics of this 56-1 One report/ 114 The Company's commitments or other conditions are stated in prospectus (if any) N/A
Annual Report aligned with rules and regulation of the 115 The Company's name, Head office address, Type of business, Registration Number, 67
Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand. Tel., Fax, Website (if any), Registered and Paid-up capital
6. Reporting practice 1.2 Nature of Business 40-59
) e ) ) B ) ” 1.21 Revenue Structure 41
Disclosure 102-45 Entities included in the consolidated e “General Information of the Company” on page 67
] ] ] ) ) ) 12.2 Products 4
financial statements Not applicable because material topics, content and topic
m Nature of product and service 41-47, 49, 50
Disclosure 102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries of this 56-1 One report/Annual Report aligned ) ) g
2 Marketing and competition 52-57,58-59
Boundaries with rules and regulation of the Securities and Exchange 3) S v of duct and ) 47-49 45-50, 52
upply of product and service -49,49-50,
Commission, Thailand. . . .
(&) Assets Used in Business Operations 60-65
Disclosure 102-47 List of material topics Not applicable because material topics, content and topic 5) Tasks have not been submitted N/A
boundaries of this 56-1 One report/Annual Report aligned 13 Group of the Company’ s shareholders’ structure 66
with rules and regulation of the Securities and Exchange 131 Shareholders' structure of the Company 66
Commission, Thailand. 1.3.2 Reason of the conflict of interest persons hold more than 10 percentage of rights of 66
Disclosure  102-48 Restatements of information None entitled votes of shares in the Company's subsidiaries or the associated companies
Disclosure  102-49  Changes in reporting None 13.3 Major shareholders’ agreement 40, 69
Disclosure 102-50  Reporting period 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 134 Shareholders 68
Disclosure 102-51 Date of most recent report This is the first report of organization 14 Amounting of registered and Paid-up capital 67,69
Disclosure  102-52 Reporting cycle Annual 141 Number of registered shares and Paid-up capital shares 67,69
i u - I % ually
14.2 Other shares which rights or conditions are different from ordinary shares 40, 67,172
Disclosure 102-53 Contact point for questions regarding  “Other Significant Information and Legal disputes” on page 84.
14.3 Shares or Convertible securities 172
the report
1.5 Other Securities Issuance 40,172
Disclosure 102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance This 56-1 One report/Annual Report has been prepared in 151 | havi bl it N/A
5. n case having convertible securities
Disclosure 102-55 with the GRI Standards accordance with mostly required criteria of GRI Standard - GRI 152 In case having debt instruments N/A
102 : General Disclosure base on “Core Option” disclosure. 16 Dividend policy 172
Disclosure ~ 102-56  GRI content index Please refer to this table (GRI STANDARD INDEX).

External assurance

For this report, the Company has not yet sought to obtain

external assurance for the report.
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21 Policy and risk management 70
2.2 Risk factors 71-75
2.21 Risk factors of business operation 71-74
2.2.2 Risk factors of securities holders 71-75
223 Risk factors of foreign securities investment N/A
31 Sustainability’s policy and target 32
3.2 Value chain of business 76
3.21 Value chain 76
3.2.2 Stakeholders analysis 77-78
33 Sustainability for environmental aspect 79-81
3.31 Policy and guidelines on business operation under the environmental standards 79
3.3.2 Key achievements of environmental aspect 80-81
34 Sustainability for social aspect 81-83
341 Policy and Treatment on Society 81
342 Key achievements of social aspect 81

4] Business operations and financial analysis 179-182
4.2 Forward looking factors 182-183
43 Key financial information and ratios 173,184-189
5 Generalinformation and Other Significantinformation

51 General Information 84

52 Other Significant information 84
521 Other Significant information affect investments decision N/A
522 The limited of foreign shareholders 69

53 Legal disputes 85

54 Secondary market N/A

55 Underwriter N/A

Corporate Governance

6.1 Policy and treatment on corporate governance 89-96
611 Policy and treatment on directors 96-101
6.1.2 Policy and treatment on shareholders and stakeholders 90-91
6.2 Code of Conduct 101-102

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Clause Detail Page

6.3 Key Success of corporate governance in the last year 1n2-113

6.3 Key Success of reviewing of policy, guideline and measures of corporate governance 102-104,112-113

or Board of directors charter in the last year

6.3.2 Other Issues on Good Corporate Governance Principles Compliance 12-114

71 Corporate governance structure 1n6-117

7.2 Board of directors’ information ne-1n7

7.2 Board of directors structure 16-117

7.2.2 Directors and controllers of the Company’s information 1e-17,
134-157,158-159

7.2.3 Duties and responsibilities of directors 1n7-118

7.3 Sub-committees’ information 120-123

731 Directors’ structure 16

732 Members of sub-committees 120-123

74 Managements' information 18

7.4 Managements' names and titles 18

74.2 Remunerations of Directors and Managements 100-101,125-126

74.3 Total of remunerations for the executives directors and managements 125-126

7.5 Employees information 132-133

7.6 Other significant information 84

7.6.1 Corporate secretary, The person supervising accounting, Head of internal auditor 19

and Head of compliance

7.6.2 Head of investor relations 84
76.3 Auditors’ fee M
764 In case of foreign company or Thai holding company, please specify the nominee's N/A

name and any contact’s channels in Thailand

8.1 Report of the Board of directors and sub-committees in the last year 22-23,28-29,112-113
811 Nomination and appointment of director, independent directors, Top Managements 28-29,127

and self- assessment
812 The Board of Directors and Committees’ meetings 28-29, 124
813 Overseeing of the Operation of the Subsidiary and the Associated Companies and 105

the shareholders' agreement on the management of the subsidiary and the associated
companies (if any)

814 Overseeing of complying policy and treatment on good governance 28-29,106-107,108, 109
m The Use of Conflict of interest 100, 106-107
) The Use of Insider Information 100, 106-107,

128-129
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Detail Page
3 Anti- Corruption 109
4) Whistle blowing 108
8.2 Report of the Audit Committee 26-27
8.2 Number of meetings 26
8272 Performance of the Audit Committee 26-27
8.3 Report of other sub-committee 28-29, 30-31
8.31 Number of meetings 28
83.2 Performance of other sub-committee 28-29
9.1 Internal controls 110-111
911 Internal control systems of the Company is enough and suitable 110
912 Any material control weaknesses of Internal controls 110
913 Opinions of the Audit Committee having differing opinions from the Board of Directors 26
914 The Audit committees opinion of the qualifications of Internal audit team leader to 26

be suitable and sufficient terms of experience to perform the duty
915 The Audit committee has duties and responsibility to approve the appointment, 26
transfer, or employment termination of the internal auditor

9.2 Related party transactions (if any) 174178
9.2 Related party transactions 174177
9.2.2 Necessity and Reasonableness of Transaction 174-177
9.2.3 Policy or Trend of Future Related Party Transactions 178
9.2.4 Reasons of conflict of interest persons holds more than 10 percentage of rights of 64, 66

entitled votes of shares in the Company's subsidiaries or the associated companies

Section Financial statements 190-263
3
Section Certified information For non-listed company
4 only
Attach- - Details on Directors, Managements,The person supervising accounting and 134-157
ments1  Corporate Secretary

- Details on the Director, Management and Controller of the Subsidiary Company, 158 -159

the Associate Company or Related Company
Attach- Details on the director of the subsidiary company having revenue more than 10 percentage 159
ments 2 of total revenue as stated in the last year of consolidated financial statements
Attach- Head of internal auditor and Head of compliance information M, 119,157
ments 3
Attach- Assets appraisal N/A
ments 4
Attach- Full version of policy and treatment on corporate governance policy and treatment, Referred to menu
ments 5 code of conduct and Board of directors and sub-committees’ charter sustainability on www.
namyongterminal.com

Remark:

N/A means there is not aligned with the Company.

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Responsibilities of the Board of
Directors for the Financial Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial report of Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited (the “Company")
including consolidated financial statements and its subsidiary, which has been compiled in accordance with the financial
reporting standards stipulated in the Accounting Professions Act, B.E.2547 (2004) and their presentation has been made
in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development issued under the
Accounting Act, B.E. 2543 (2000). The Board of Directors has selected an appropriate accounting policy and has consistently
applied such policy, including sufficiently and properly disclosing important information in the notes to financial statement.
The financial statement has been audited and the auditor’s opinion is unqualified. Moreover, the Company has explained
and analyzed its consolidated financial position and performance within this 56-1 One Report/Annual Report 2020 for the
benefit of all the shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board of Directors has overseen that the Company has a good internal control system and complies with the relevant
regulations including making annual assessments of the sufficiency of the internal control system. Additionally, the Board
of Directors has appointed the Audit Committee, which comprises of only independent members, to examine the accuracy
of the financial statements and whether the information was sufficiently and properly disclosed including assessing the
efficiency of the internal control system and independence of the internal audit system. The Audit Committee’s opinion
shall appear in the report of the Audit Committee which is already comprised in this 56-1 One Report/Annual Report 2020.

In conclusion, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the internal control system of the Company is in a good level
which is satisfying. Therefore, it is reasonable to believe that the financial position of the Company and its subsidiary as
at 31 December 2020; and the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 2020 are present fairly in all
material respects, in accordance with the financial reporting standards.

Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan Dr. Theparak Leungsuwan

Director and Chief Finance Officer Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Securities Issuance and Dividend

Payment Policy

Securities Issuance

-None-

Dividend Payment Policy

The Company has the policy to pay the dividend at the rate
of not less than 40 percent of net profits after legal reserve,
next year capital expenditure, and other reserves (if any) of
the Company's separated financial statements. The Company
shall take into consideration for the dividend payment by its

cash flow, performance, financial structure, investment plans,

conditions in any agreements bound by the Company, other
forthcoming necessity and suitability, and dividend payment

consistency.

However, the Board of Directors’ resolution of dividend
payment shall be proposed to consider and approve by the
Shareholders’ Meeting, except for interim dividend payment
that the Board of Directors is authorized to approve after
having considered that the Company has enough profits and
cash flow to pay the interim dividend. The interim dividend

shall be informed in the next Shareholders’ Meeting.

Details

Operational Results of Year

2018 2019 2020'

Net Profit of the Separated Financial Statements (THB)
Net Profit of the the statement of financial position is
applied by equity method / the Consolidated Financial
Statements (THB)

Dividend payment

* Year-ended dividend (THB per share)

* Interim dividend (THB per share)

Number of Shares (shares)

Par value at (THB per share)

Legal reserve (THB)

Total dividend payment (THB)

Dividends payout ratio (%)2

402,447,720
404,935,087

495,460,570 252,576,360
376,509,483 227,406,221

0.30

1,240,000,000

0.50
1,240,000,000

0.20

1,240,000,000

0.50 0.50 0.50
62,000,000 62,000,000 62,000,000
372,000,000 620,000,000 248,000,000
9243 12514 98.19

Remark:

1
2020 Operational results and year-ended dividend were considered by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2021 and shall be approved by 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

which will be held on 28 April 2021.

2
Dividends payout ratio calculated from Total dividend payment / Net Profit of the Separated Financial Statements.
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Key Financial Ratios

Consolidated Financial statements
for the fiscal year
ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Liquidity Ratio
Current ratio (times) 7.36 6.08 3.72
Quick ratio (times) 7.22 596 3.65
Current liabilities coverage ratio (times) 191 1.91 1.96
Receivable turnover (times) 17.66 17.55 14.47
Average collection period (days) 20.39 20.51 24.88
Payable turnover (times) 19.38 18.01 2517
Payment period (days) 18.58 19.99 14.30
Cash cycle (days) 1.81 0.52 10.58
Profitability Ratio
Gross profit margin (%) 44.36 4491 48.04
Operating profit margin (%) 35.59 36.60 33.84
Other profit (loss) ratio (%) 0.84 (1.33) (5.45)
Cash flow - flow to profit ratio (%) 119.49 15.23 162.32
Net profit margin (%) 2757 25.76 18.96
Return on equity (%) 10.74 994 6.42
Return on Equity attribute to owner of the Company (%) 10.74 9.94 6.49
Efficiency Ratio
Return on assets (%) 9.23 8.58 3.99
Return on fixed assets (%) 461 47.60 2245
Total asset turnover (times) 0.33 0.33 0.42
Financial Policy Ratio
Debt to equity ratio (times) 0.17 0.15 0.73
Interest coverage ratio (times) 6,144.01 1,207.20 10.31
Interest on debt to profit before interest expenses, 0.08 0.02 2.50
income tax (times)
Interest bearing debt to EBITDA ratio (times)
Obligation coverage ratio (times) 149 145 0.63
Dividend payout ratio (%)W 92.43 12514 9819

Remark:

1
Dividends payout ratio calculated from Total dividend payment / Net Profit of the Separated Financial Statements.



174 56-10ne report / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The related transaction with relating entities

Name and Relation

Type of

Transaction

Fiscal Year Ended

31 December

Necessity and

Reasonableness of Transaction

Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd.
("Seahorse or the Company'’s
subsidiary”)

Relationship:

The Company's subsidiary as
having control, setting policies
and making decisions in Sea-
horse, the Company holds 51
percent of shares. The Company
and Seahorse have one mutual
director and management, namely,
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan.

The Company
charges guarantee
fee

On 13 November 2020, The Company
entered into guarantee in proportion of
the interested shareholding in Seahorse
Ferries Co., Ltd., guarantee in amounting
to THB 97.41 million or 51% of total credit
facilities of the Company’'s subsidiary
with the bank. (Loan agreement was THB
163 million and working capital facilities
agreement was THB 28 million).

The Company has charged guarantee
fee from Seahorse at the rate of 0.75%
per year as the resolution of the Board
of Directors Meeting no. 7/2563 dated 9
November 2020. (The Company had fee
expenses from Letter of Guarantee issuance
that the bank charged fee from the Company
at the rate of 0.6% per year).

Laemchabang International Ro-Ro
Terminal Limited ("LRT")
Relationship:

LRT is the Company's associated
company as NYKT International
Terminal Co., Ltd., which is the
Company's associated company,
holds 100 percent of shares in
LRT (the equivalent of LRT's
shares was 49 percent by indirect
holding of the Company). The
Company and LRT have two mu-
tual directors and managements,
namely, Mr. Pongthep Leungsu-
wan and Mr. Amornnat Janyong.

The Company
c harges LRT
a service fee
for sending the
Company's em-
ployees to work
at LRT.

Dividend income

The Company needs to station its employees
to work at LRT in order to enable LRT to
operate efficiently. The Company charges
LRT a service fee at the same rate as the
other shareholder (NYK Group) charges
LRT. The Audit Committee considered
and had an opinion that this transaction
is reasonable.

On 13 August 2019, the Board of Directors
Meeting of LRT has resolved to approve
the distribution of interim dividend payment
at THB 85.68 per share as dividend income
of the Company in amounting of THB
153.88 million.

Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha
group ("NYK")

Relationship:

NYK is a major shareholder of
N.Y.K. (Thailand) Co., Ltd. and
N.Y.K. (Thailand) Co., Ltd. has
acquired shares of 18.34 percent
of the paid-up registered capital
of the Company.

Revenue from
terminal service
for NYK's ships
docking at A5
Terminal at the
rate specified by
the PAT

2018 2019 2020
(THB million)

- - 0.08
0.99 0.99 0.99
- 153.88 -
15076 15173 10870

NYK operates a liner shipping. Normally,
there are ships docking at A5 Terminal of
the Company toload cars from automobile
manufacturers and deliver to various
destinations whereby the Company
charges NYK a service fee at the rate
specified by the PAT which equally applies
to other shipping lines. In this regard,
the Company provides a credit term for
15-20 days which is equivalent to those
provided to other shipping lines. The
Audit Committee considered and had an
opinion that this transaction is reasonable
according to general business practice.
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Related Party Transactions

Name and Relation

Type of

Transaction

Fiscal Year Ended

31 December

Necessity and

Reasonableness of Transaction

Revenue from
area service fee
for office at A5
Terminal

Since NYK's ships regularly dock at A5
Terminal, it is necessary to station its
employees at the terminal to facilitate
coordination. Therefore, the Company
is requested to provide an area of 91.68
square meters as office at A5 Terminal
whereby the Company charges a service
fee at the same rate applicable to other
shipping lines. The Audit Committee
considered and had an opinion that this
transaction is reasonable

Port Development and Services
Co,, Ltd. ("PDS")

Relationship:

The Company and PDS have
one mutual director, namely, Mr.
Pongthep Leungsuwan. In addition,
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan holds
20 percent of PDS shares.

Area service fee
from PDS

The Company uses area services from
PDS to provide warehouse services to
customers. The agreement is valid for 3
years (expiring on 31 December 2018)
the Company is entitled to extend the
term of the agreement for another 3 years.
PDS charges the Company for such area
services in the amount of THB 240,000
per month.

The leasing agreement between PDS and
PAT expired in July 2018. PDS is currently
negotiating the renewal of the lease
with PAT. The Company has recorded
estimated accrued service fees from the
cost which PAT expected to charge PDS
and PDS will consequently charge the
Company. The cost used in the estimate is
based on the rental fee which PAT charges
in the nearby areas.

The Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd.
Relationship:

The Company and the Leungsuwan
Estate Co., Ltd. have four mutual
directors, namely, Mr. Theparak
Leungsuwan, Ms. Pensri Leungsuwan,
Ms. Pimkarn Leungsuwan and
Mr. Pongthep Leungsuwan.

Area service fee
from Seahorse

2018 2019 2020

(THB million)
0.15 0.15 0.15
216 1118 11.18
- - 0.04

Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. (“Seahorse or
the Company'’s subsidiary”) leased office
space area of 101.14 square meters from
the Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd. for 1
year staring from 1 September 2020 until
31 August 2021. Rental fee rate included
service fee is THB 407 per square weters/
month or THB 41,570.98 per month, the
rate of whichis market price almost at the
same rental fee rate as other tenants of
the Leungsuwan Estate Co., Ltd. are given.
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Outstanding balance between the Company and relating entities

Name and Relation Type of

Transaction

Fiscal Year Ended
31 December
2018

2019 2020
(THB million)

Necessity and

Reasonableness of Transaction

Seahorse Ferries Co,, Ltd. ("Seahorse  Other receivables -
or the Company's subsidiary”)

0.08

At the end of the year, Outstanding balance
of the guarantee for Seahorse's credit
facilities is a guarantee fee for the year
2020. However, the Company will annually
provide invoice in advance and also
provides a credit term for 30 days of
payment.

Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha Accountreceivable  12.21
group ("NYK")

Unbilledreceivable  9.67

Guaranteedeposit  21.00

16.83

3.78

21.00

14.08

3.69

21.00

NYK operates a liner shipping. Normally,
there are ships docking at A5 Terminal of
the Company to load cars from automobile
manufacturers and deliver to various
destinations whereby the Company
charges NYK a service fee at the rate
specified by the PAT which equally applies
to other shipping lines. In this regard, the
Company provides a credit term for 15-20
days whichis equivalent to those provided
to other shipping lines. The Audit Committee
considered and had an opinion that this
transaction is reasonable according to
general business practice.

Since 5 main shipping lines need to regularly
dock their ships at A5 Terminal, they
jointly signed the Car Terminal Facility and
Service Agreement with the Company for
1 years, starting from 1 May 2019 until 30
April 2030. The shipping lines also placed
a guarantee deposit to the Company for
the use of A5 Terminal. The Company
handed over the letter of guarantee received
from the financial institution to the shipping
lines as a guarantee that the Company will
return such guarantee deposit to them
upon the expiration of the agreements.
The Audit Committee considered and
had an opinion that this transaction is
reasonable.

NAMYONG TERMINAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED 177

Name and Relation Type of
Transaction

2018

Fiscal Year Ended

31 December

Necessity and
Reasonableness of Transaction
2019 2020

(THB million)

Port Development and Services Co., Accrued service 6.47
Ltd. ("PDS") fees

Lease liabilities -

Security deposit  0.24

18.50 - The leasing agreement between PDS
and PAT expired in July 2018. PDS is currently
negotiating the renewal of the lease with
PAT. The Company has recorded estimated
accrued service fees from the cost which
PAT expected to charge PDS and PDS
will consequently charge the Company.
The cost used in the estimate is based
on the rental fee which PAT charges in

the nearby areas.

- 22734 The Company used and complied with,
TFRS 16 Leases, Starting from 1 January
2020 which resulted in the Company
must be required to recognize “Lease li-
abilities” from measurement approach for
leases as referred by market prices and
utilization terms estimated.

0.24 0.24  The Company uses area services from
PDS to provide warehousing services to
customers. The Company is required,
under the conditions of the agreement,
to place THB 240,000 to PDS as security
deposit. PDS will return the amount upon
the expiration of the agreement. The Audit
Committee considered and had an opinion
that this transaction is reasonable.

Approval Measures or Procedures of Related Party
Transactions

The Company has determined approval measures and
procedures of related party transactions. Any related party
transactions which may be in conflict shall be considered and
assessed, in terms of appropriateness of such transactions,
by the Audit Committee and, importantly, the best interests
of the Company shall be taken into account. In the event that
the Audit Committee lacks expertise to consider any related
party transactions, the Company may assign independent
professionals or the Company's auditors to give an opinion
on such related party transactions to be used as a reference
to hold an opinion or make a decision of the Audit Committee
and/or the Board of Directors and/or the shareholders as the
case may be. Details of transactions including the directors
who have conflict of interest shall be disclosed to the Board
of Directors and if any transaction which is deemed as a
significant transaction according to the Notification on Related
Party Transactions, such transaction must be approved by
the Board of Directors and/or shareholders as the case may be. In

approving a related party transaction, a person who may have
conflict of interest or stake in such transaction cannot vote
to approve such related party transaction. In this regard, the
Company will disclose a concluded related party transaction
inthe Company's notes to financial statements audited by the
Company's auditor and the 56-1 One report/Annual Report.

Policy or Trend of Future Related Party Transactions

Policy on Related Party Transactions

1. The Company's directors and management shall prepare a
report and inform the Company on their own and their
respective related person any conflict of interest so that
the Company may use as reference for internal usage in
order to comply with the relevant regulations on related
party transaction.

2. Refraining from engaging in related party transactions where
conflict of interest may arise.

3.Incase it is necessary to engage any related party transactions,
every related party transaction of the Company must be
proposed to the Board of Directors or Shareholders’ Meetings
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for approval, as the case may be, unless the transactions
are commercial agreement with commercial terms, generally
accepted, which the Board of Directors has given approval
in principle.

4. Following the Company's operating procedures in engaging
related party transactions and comply with the regulations
prescribed by SEC and SET.

5. Determining prices and conditions of related party transactions
in the same manner as engaging into a transaction with a
third party based on arm’s length basis, which must be fair,
reasonable, and provide the best interest for the Company.
In case there is no comparable price available, the Company
may compare the price with market price of products or
services of the same or similar condition.

6. A person who has a conflict of interest in any related party
transaction cannot approve or cast vote in such transaction.

7. 1n considering related party transactions, the Company
may appoint an independent appraiser to assess and compare
prices of related party transactions to ensure that the
transactions are reasonable and provide the best interest
of the Company.

Trend of Related Party Transactions with Related Persons/
Parties

The Company may continue making related party transactions
with related parties and/or persons in the future as the engaged
related party transactions were deemed necessary and
beneficial to the Company. The Trend of the related party
transactions can be summarized as follows:

1. Normal business transactions: revenue from a collection of
service fees from NYK Group, which uses the Company’s A5
Terminal to dock ships for loading cars from the automobile
manufacturers to be delivered to destination terminals. This
is anormal business transaction, and the Company foresees
this transaction to be continued.

2. Normal business supporting transactions: revenue from a
collection of service fee for stationing employees to work
at LRT to enable LRT to operate efficiently; revenue from a
collection of area service fee for providing office space to
NYK Group to facilitate coordination, transaction on area
service fee from PDS which is necessary and support the
Company's normal business. The Company foresees this
transaction to be continued.

3. Financial supporting transactions: currently, the Company
has made financial support to the Company's subsidiary
by entered into the guarantee facilities agreement with the
bank, the such transaction is genoral business.

In this regard, the Board of Directors will operate in compliance
with the laws governing securities and exchange, and the
relevant regulations, notifications, orders and rules, as well
as the regulations relating to related party transactions and
acquisition or disposal of the Company's significant assets
to ensure that the engagement of the transactions does not
cause conflict of interest and provide the utmost benefit to
the shareholders. The Company will disclose related party
transactions in the 56-1One report/Annual Report and notes
to financial statements audited by the Company’s auditor.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company operates a full service terminal for the exporta-
tion and importation of cars (Ro/Ro). The Company’ services
include terminal services, storage area and preparation prior
exportation services, and other services in relation to the main
services, as well as the warehousing services in the terminal
located at Laemchabang Port, Sriracha District, Chonburi
Province. The Company's main customers are the exporters
and importers of the cars and the world class shipping lines.
Furthermore, the Company is the leading terminal service
provider for Thailand's car exports and has the highest market

share for years.

Overview of the Company's Business Operation
In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the total revenue of the Company
amounted to THB 1,437.40 million, THB 1,435.31 million and
THB 1,199.47 million, respectively, which shrinkat 0.15 percent
in 2019 and 16.43 percent in 2020. The main reason is the
decrease of cargos shipped through the terminal due to the
spread of COVID-19 causing the main revenue from the terminal

service to be reduced.

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the cost for providing services
amounted to THB 794.53 million, THB 781.53 million and
THB 620.77 million, respectively, which decreased by 1.64
percent and 20.57 percent, respectively. In 2020, the cost for
providing services decresed as a result of direct cost, such as
additional concession fee and wharf handling cost pursuant
to the volume. In addition, the amendment of the Thailand
financial report standard No. 16 Re: Lease Agreement (TFRS 16)
has caused the service cost relating to lease agreement to

decrease (it is moved to the increase the financial cost).

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company's total sale and
administration expenses amounted to THB 166.20 million,
THB 160.93 million, and THB 159.65 million, respectively,

which decreased from 2019 as a result of the reduction of

expensesrelating to employment which is in accordance

with the economic situation and the operational result.

The Company's net profits in 2018, 2019 and 2020 amounted
to THB 404.94 million, THB 376.51 million, and THB 227.41
million, respectively which can be computed to be net profit
attherate of 27.57 percent, 25.76 percent, and 18.96 percent,
respectively. In 2020, the Company’s net profits decreased
by THB 149.10 million from the previous year because of the
following reasons:

1. the decrease of revenue from the terminal service and related
services due to the decreased volume of cars exported from
the previous year at approximately 26.32 percent, the main
reason of which is the slowdown of the economy and the
sales of cars worldwide impacted by the spread of COVID-19;

2.theincrease of revenue from the warehouse service as
there are new customers that occupy almost all of the area;

3. the decrease of service cost of which the main reason is
the decrease of direct cost of the terminal service, such as
the concession fee and wharf handling fee which is in
accordance with the decrease number of the cars shipped
through the terminal;

4. the decrease of sale and administration expenses because
in 2019, there was a reduction of expense in relation to the
employment which is in accordance with the economic
situation and operational result. However, in 2020, the expense
has increased because of the allowance of the doubtful

account of one of the debtors.

The Company and Its Subsidiary's Performance
Analysis Categorized into Sectors

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company’s total revenue
amounted to THB 1,437.40 million, THB 1,435.31 million and
THB1,199.47 million, respectively. The source of revenue can

be categorized by the type of services provided as follows:
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Fiscal Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Details Million percent Million percent Million percent
(THB) (THB) (THB)

Service Revenues

Terminal service and related services 1,180.29 821 1128.70 78.64 878.00 73.20
Warehouse services 247.60 17.23 28993 20.20 316.61 26.40
Total service revenue 1,427.89 99.34 1,418.63 98.84 1,194.61 99.60
others revenues 9.51 0.66 16.68 116 4.86 0.40
Total revenues 1,437.40 100.00 1,435.31 100.00 1199.47 100.00

Service Revenues

In 2018, 2019, and 2020 the service revenue amounted to
THB 1,427.89 million, THB 1,418.63 million and THB 1,194.61
million, respectively. This can be categorized into to (1)
revenue from terminal services and related services; and (2)
revenue from the warehouse services, the details of which

are as follows:

1. Revenue from Terminal Service and Related Services
In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the revenue from terminal service
amounted to THB 1,180.29 million, THB 1,128.70 million
and, THB 878.00 million or equivalent to 82.11 percent,
78.64 percent and 73.20 percent of the total revnue,
respectively. In this regard, the revenue received from cargo
terminal service and related services comprises two parts,
namely the revenue from terminal service and the revenue
from the services of car storage area for for preparation

before exportation.

Revenue from terminal service is collected from automotive
manufacturers and shipping lines. The revenue collected

from the automotive manufacturers includes revneue from

wharf handling services which is calculated based on RT
(Revenue Ton) (RT unit is the weight in metric ton or volume
in cubic meter whichever is higher shall be used to calculate
the tariff). The revenue from receiving area to receive
goods and cars storage area service for car preparing prior
to exportation or importation shall be collected on a daily
basis if exceeding the free time. The revenue collected from
shipping lines comprises revenue from berth hire services
which is collected when vessels are docked at the terminal
on an hourly rate and the revenue from wharfage when
loading/unloading cargos at terminal, the tariff rate of which

shall be calculated per RT.

Revenue from the service of car storage area for preparation
before exportation within the terminal proximity area is
collected from customers on a monthly fixed rate. The car
storage area for preparation before exportation is an
important service related to the cargo terminal service since
car exporters express demand to transport cars into the
area nearest to the terminal for the convenience and rapidity

of car loading.

Number of Cars Shipped through the Company’s Terminal in 2018, 2019, and 2020

Unit:One car

Number of the Cars Shipped through the Company's Terminal 2018 2019 2020
Export 868,307 795,038 579,363
Import 43,071 53,345 29,338

Transhipment and Shifting

62,476 61,108 61,393

Total Number of Cars Shipped through the Company’s Terminal 973,854 909,491 670,094
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The Company's revenue from cargo terminal service and
related services decreased by 4.37 percent in 2019, and
22.21 percent in 2020. The reduction resulted from the
volume of cars shipped through the Company's terminal,
which was a decrease from 909,491 units in 2019 to
670,094 units in 2020, or equivalent to the decrease of
26.32 percent.

2. Revenue from Warehouse Services

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the revenue from warehouse
services amounted to THB 247.60 million, THB 289.93
million, and THB 316.61 million, respectively, or equivalent
to 17.23 percent, 20.20 percent and 26.40 percent of the
total revenue, respectively. In this regard, the Company
provides warehousing services in the area of Port Authority
of Thailand ("PAT"), Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand
("IEAT™), and Eastern Seaboard Industrial Estate, comprising
two types of service categories by the nature of areas under
the service, including the outdoor storages and the warehouse
buildings. The Company collects the service fees on a
monthly fixed rate basis.

In 2020, the revenue from warehouse service increased as
a result of almost full occupancy in the area.

Other revenue

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, other revenue amounted to THB 9.51
million, THB 16.68 million, and THB 4.86 million, respectively.

Liquidity and Significant Ratio

In 2019, the Company has profit from the investment in the
amount of THB 9.46 million, but in 2020, the Company has
defitcit in the amount of THB 9.29 million which is indicated
in the expenses.

Analysis of the Company's and its Subsidiary's
Financial Position

The Company's and the subsidiary's total assets as of 31December
2018, 2019, and 2020 are THB 4,418.03 million, THB 4,355.19
million, and THB 5,693.47 million, respectively. In 2020, the
total assets increased by 30.73 percent as a result of the
application of the Thailand financial report standard No. 16 Re:
Lease Agreement. As of 31 December 2020, the Company
has the assets of right to use of leased lands, buildings and
equipments in an amount of THB 1,685.99 million.

The Company's total liabilities as of 31 December 2018, 2019,
and 2020 are THB 630.96 million, THB 563.48 million, and
THB 2,400.18 million, respectively. The total liabilities as of 31
December 2020 increased from the previous year as a result
of the application of the Thailand financial report standard No.
16 Re: Lease Agreement in an amount of THB 1,887.67 million.

The shareholders’ equity as of 31 December 2018, 2019, and
20201is THB 3,787.07 million, THB 3,791.71 million, and THB
3,293.29 million, respectively, which is a decrease as a result
of dividend payment and the application of the Thailand
financial report standard No. 16 Re: Lease Agreement.

End of the Accounting Year on 31 December

Details 2018 2019 2020
THB Million THB Million THB Million

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in assets and 701.60 709.73 853.30
liabilities used for business operation

Change in assets and liabilities used for business operation (132.03) (141.83) (197.19)
Net cash received from (spent on) operating activities 569.57 56790 656.11
Net cash received from (spent on) investing activities 806.83 (1136.65) 206.49
Net cash received from (spent on) financing activities (375.00) (374.00) (701.49)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,001.40 (942.75) 161.11
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 35.18 1,036.58 93.83
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,036.58 93.83 25494
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The Company's cash flow from operation are equivalent to
THB569.57 million, THB 567.90 million, and THB 656.11 million
in 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively. The main reason of the
increase in 2020 is the application of the Thailand financial
report standard No. 16 Re: Lease Agreement causing rental

expenses as a part of the cash flow in financing activities.

The Company's net cash flow generated from investment
activities equivalent to THB 806.83 million, and THB 206.49
million in 2018, and 2020, respectively. It was spent in an
amount of THB 1,136.65 million in 2019. In this regard, in
2020, the Company has a positive cash flow generated from
investment activities because the Company sold certain

short-term investments.

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company'’s net cash flow spent
on financing activities are equivalent to THB 375.00 million,
THB 374.00 million, and THB 701.49 million, respectively.
Most of the cash flow was spent on shareholders’ dividend

payment.

Financial Ratios

The Company has a liquidity ratio of 7.36, 6.08, and 3.72
as of 31 December 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively. The
decrease in 2020 was the result of the reduction of current
temporary investment/financial assets as a result of dividend
payment and the increase of the current liabilities from the
lease agreement that is due in one year recorded in accordance

with Thailand financial report standard No. 16.

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company's debt payment period
was 18.58 days, 19.99 days, and 14.30 days, respectively. On
the other hand, the debt collection period debt was 20.39
days, 20.51 days, and 24.88 days, respectively.

The Company’s gross profit margin was 44.36 percent,
4491 percent and 48.04 percent in 2018, 2019, and 2020,
respectively. The Company's net profit margin was 27.57
percent, 25.76 percent, and 18.96 percent, respectively. The
gross profit margin has slightly increased as a result of the
application of the Thailand financial report standard No. 16
from the previous year which considers certain lease fees as
financial cost. However, the Company's net profit margin has
decreased as a result of the decline of revenue from terminal

service and related services due to the slowdown of the

global economy and car sale during the spread of COVID-19,

whereby the costs and expenses are fixed cost.

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the return on assets equals to 9.23
percent, 8.58 percent, and 3.99 percent, respectively. The return
on fixed asset equals to 46.11 percent, 47.60 percent, and
22.45 percent in 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively. These
returns have decreased signifincantly in 2020 as a result of
the application of the Thailand financial report standard No.
16. However, the mentioned returns are comparatively high
which incidcate that the Company’s investment is consistent
with its business operations and the Company is able to

efficiently utilize its assets.

In 2018, 2019, and 2020, the return on equity equals to 10.74
percent, 9.94 percent, and 6.42 percent, respectively. In

2020, the return significantly declined as mentioned above.

In the year 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company's debt to
equity ratio equals to 0.17, 0.15 and 0.73, respectively. In
2020, it hasincreased significantly as a result of the application
of the Thailand financial report standard No. 16. However,
the ratio is still not considered high which indicates that the
Company has a very stable financial situation. The details of

which are in “Key Financial Ratios"”

Key Factors or Events Which May Affect the Business
Operation or the Financial Position of the Company
in the Future (Forword looking)

1. The renewal of Concession Agreement for Investment in
Construction, Management and Operation for Bulk Cargo
of A5 Terminal with Port Authority of Thailand
The Company conducts its business under the Agreement
for Investment in Construction, Management and
Operation for Bulk Cargo of A5 Terminal at Laemchabang
Port signed with PAT, which is a long-term agreement expiring
on 30 April 2021 with the right to extend the agreement
for another period of 5 years. The Company was notified
by the Director of Laemchabang Port according to the letter
No. TorLorChor. 25/790 that the PAT resolved to approve
the agreement renewal in the meeting No. 15/2563 dated
24 November 2020 by amending the joint investment
agreement to be continued for another 5 years or until 30
April 2026 according to the Public Private Partnership
Act B.E. 2562 (2019). Currently, the implementation of the

relevant parts are being proceeded in accordance with the
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Public Private Partnership Act B.E. 2562 (2019).

2.The Auction of the Concession in Management and
Operation of A5 Terminal in 2026
The Company estimates that under Public-Private Partnership
Act B.E. 2562 (2019), PAT shall open for an auction of the
new concession in management and operation of A5
Terminal before the termination of the current concession
agreement on 30 April 2026. Therefore, the Company has

the risk in participating such auction.

However, the Company believes that the provision of terminal
service for car exportation requires knowledge, expertise,
and experience in terminal management, including a good
relationship with shipping lines and car manufacturers of
which the Company's major shareholders and executives
have expertise and experience for over 30 years. In addition,
the Company has a good relationship with and has been
trusted by PAT. Further, the Company has strictly complied
with all conditions in the agreement though out the operation
and has never received any warning letter or penalty notice
forabreach of conditions in the agreement. Thus, the Company
is confident there is a chane that the Company will be able
to participate and win the auction on the new concession

in management and operation of A5 Terminal.

3. The Ongoing Legal Dispute: the Company as the Plaintiff
and Bangkok Metropolitan Administration (“BMA") as
the Defendant
The Company has an ongoing legal dispute. On 26 July
2017, the Company, as a plaintiff, filed a complaint against
BMA with the Central Intellectual Property and International
Trade Court, with the accusations in relation to international
trade, carriage of goods by sea, and deposit of goods for
the amount of THB 1,041 million. The Company requested
the Court to order BMA to pay the Company the said
amount together with the interest of 7.5 percent per annum
and the daily storage charge inclusive of value-added tax
in the amount of THB 0.27 million per day from the date
following the date of complaint until BMA removes all fire

trucks out of the terminals of the Company.

Later on 18 December 2017, BMA by a public prosecutor
submitted the statement of defense and also a counter-claim

for wrongful acts claiming for compensation totaling THB

110 million and a daily compensation of THB 0.82 million
from the date of the complaint is filed until the Company
returns the trucks in dispute to BMA or a total compensation
of THB 2,679 million to BMA, and concurrently, filed an
interim injunction petition. Whereby the Court rendered an
interim injunction on 14 February 2019 but with a condition
that BMA must place a guarantee having value of THB
200 million. However, BMA appealed such interim injunction

order.

On 26 December 2019, the Court rendered a judgment that
the embankment of fire trucks at the Company’s terminal
who is a service provider is considered as delivery to the
Company for BMA as the buyer under the sale and purchase
agreement to take the goods from the Company's terminal.
When the Company is served with a lawful order to return
the fire trucks to a person, the Company will return such fire
trucks to such person and be demand for any consideration.
However, in this case, BMA did not deliver such goods to
the Company, but a shipping agent did such delivery for the
Company to keep the goods to further deliver to the holder
of the bill of lading and invoice. The BMA is, therefore, not a
party to the goods depository agreement with the Company.
As such, the Court dismissed the case filed by the Company.
The Company has already submitted the appeal on 26
March 2020.

With respect to the counterclaim of BMA that the Company
does not have the right of retention over the fire trucks
which are armaments because the Company is not
permitted to possess the armaments, the Court dismissed
such counterclaim and revoked the injection order
requested by BMA. The BMA appealed and filed a
petition for interim injunction on 25 May 2020, but the
Court dismissed the petition of the BMA. Therefore, the
BMA has appealed the order of the Court of First Instance
on 14 July 2020.

The Company has filed a response to the appeal of BMA
regarding the petition for interim injunction during the
consideration of the Appeal Court on 17 September 2020
and submitted the statement of defense against the appeal
of the BMA on 27 September 2020.
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Significant Financial Infomation

Consolidated Financial Statement / The Statement of Financial Position is Consolidated Financial Statement / The Statement of Financial Position is
Financial Statement applied by equity method Financial Statement applied by equity method
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
THB million percent THB million percent THB million percent THB million percent THBmillion percent THBmillion percent

Nom-current abltie

Current Assets

Long term loan - net portion due in one - - - - 156.39 275
Cash and cash equivalents 1,036.58 23.46 93.83 215 25494 4.48 Jear
Current investment 108688 24.60 148908 3419 i i Reserve remuneration of terminal 53.71 1.22 10.33 0.24 - -
Trade and other receivable 18.16 2.67 124.31 2.86 9451 1.66 . )
concession agreement - net portion due
Inventories - - - - 3.34 0.06 in one year
Prepaid expenses 3465 0.79 2746 063 1546 0.2/ Liabilities from financal lease - net 014 - 0.05 - - -
Other financial current assets - - - - 1,046.90 18.39 portion due in one year
Other current assets 8.70 0.20 2.80 0.06 472 0.08 Liabilities from loan agreement - net ) ) ) ) 169878 2084
Total Current Assets 2,284.97 51.72 1,737.48 39.89 1,419.87 2494 ) )
portion due in one year
Non-Current Assets
‘ Accrued land rental expense 90.60 2.05 84.43 194 - -
Long term investment 175.77 3.98 174.56 4.01 - -
. . Security deposits 123.56 2.80 12519 2.87 7872 138
Other financial non-current assets - - - - 188.57 3.31
Provision of decommissioning costs 28.21 0.64 29.21 0.67 30.20 0.53
Investment in associated companies 510.71 11.56 1146.05 26.31 1,071.86 18.83
‘ ) Provision for long-term employee
Right under port service concesstion 209.56 4.74 126.21 290 36.33 0.64
benefits 2442 0.55 28.53 0.66 39.24 0.69
agreement
. . Other non-current liabilties - - - - 14.66 0.26
Land, Leasehold improvements, build- 1,087.07 24.61 1,028.57 23.62 1,202.02 211 —
. . Total non - current liabilities 320.64 7.26 277.74 6.38 2,017.99 35.45
ings, and equipment Net liabilities 2,400.18
Intangible assets 93.28 211 87.35 2.01 1.66 0.03 Shareholders’ equity
Right-to-use assets - - - - 168599 29.61 Registered capital 620.00 - 620.00 - 620.00 -
Deferred tax assets 41.69 0.94 37.79 0.87 81.92 144 Issued and fully paid up shares 620.00 14.03 620.00 14.24 620.00 10.89
Other non-current assets 14.98 0.34 1718 0.39 525 0.09 Share premium 2178.41 49 37 217841 50.02 217841 3826
Total non-current assets 2,133.06 48.28 2,617.71 60.11 4,273.60 75.06 Retained earnings: 62.00 140 6200 142 62.00 109
Net assets 4,418.03 4,355.19 100.00  5,693.47 Appropriated - statutory reserve
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity )
C ¢ liabilti Unappropriated 926.66 20.98 931.30 21.38 393.29 6.91
rrent liabilties
drrent abit Shareholders’ equity 3.787.07 8572 379171 8706 3.253.70 5715
Trade and other payables 61.52 1.39 25.29 0.58 24.04 0.42 Equity of the stakehold ith 3959 0.60
quity of the stakeholders with no - - - - . .
Long term loan due in one year - - - - 6.61 0.12 ) o
authority over subsidiaries
Debt from lease agreement due in 193 0.04 oV - - - Total Shareholders’ equity 3,787.07 3,791.71 3,293.29
one year Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ~ 4,418.03 4,355.19 5,693.47
Part of debt from lease agreement due - - - - 188.89 3.32
in one year
Security deposits 8.84 0.20 18.95 0.44 43.37 0.76
Accrued expenses 19812 448 198.52 456 80.40 1.41
Accrued income tax 27.33 0.62 27.32 0.63 23.98 042
Other current liabilites 12.58 0.29 15.49 0.35 14.90 0.26

Total current liabilities 310.32 7.02 285.74 6.56 382.19 6.71
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Consolidated Financial Statement / The Statement of Financial Position is Consolidated Financial Statement / The Statement of
Comprehensive Profit and Loss applied by equity method Cash Flow Statement Financial Position is applied by equity method
Statement 2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
THB million percent THB million percent THB million percent THB million THB million THB million
Revenue Cash flow from the operation
Service revenue 1,180.29 821 1,128.70 78.64 878.00 73.20 Profit before income tax expense 504.71 478.74 296.23
Other service income 247.60 17.23 289.93 20.20 316.61 26.40 Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash
Capital gains - - 946 0.66 - - provided by (paid from) operating activities:
Other incomes 9.51 0.66 7.22 0.50 4.86 0.40 Share of loss (profit) from investments in associates (2.57) 35.80 5545
Net revenue 1,437.40 100.00 1,435.31 100.00 1199.47 100.00 Unrealised loss (gain) from investment in trading securities 0.62 (0.40) 11.40
Doubtful debts / bad debts 8.43 0.67 7.07
Cost of services 794.53 55.28 781.53 54.45 620.77 51.75 Depreciation and amortisation 21894 206.97 42896
Selling expenses 357 0.25 387 0.27 133 0.1 Loss (profit) on sales of equipment and vehicles 4.97) 0.02 (1.00)
Administrative expenses 162.63 11.31 157.06 10.94 158.32 13.20 Long term employee benefit expense 191 4.09 266
Loss from investment . i ) i 9.29 0.78 Financial incomes (31.52) (20.89) (22.08)
Loss from changes in financial investment - - - - 554 0.46 Financial costs 6.05 473 74 61
Net expenses 960.73 66.84 942.46 65.66 795.25 66.30 . . . . .
Profit from operating activities before changes in operating 701.60 709.73 853.30
Profit of operation 476.67 33.16 492.85 34.34 404.22 33.70
assets and liabilities
Share of profit (loss) in investment in 2.57 0.18 (35.80) (2.50) (55.46) (4.62)
) Operating assets (increase) decrease
associates
Trade and other receivables (7.37) (1.48) 17.34
Financial income 31.52 219 26.42 1.84 22.08 1.84
Inventories - - (3.34)
Financial cost (6.05) (0.42) (4.73) (0.33) (74.61) (6.22) _
Profit before income tax expenses 504.71 35.11 478.74 33.35 296.23 24.70 Prepaid expenses (1284) /20 212
Income tax expenses (99.77) (694)  (102.23) (712) (68.82) (5.74) Other current assets (1.05) 0.57 (1.92)
Profit for the year 404.94 28117 376.51 26.23 227.41 18.96 Other non-current assets (4.00) (5.43) (2.00)
Other comprehensive profit and loss - - 012 0.01 (6.28) (0.52) Operating liabilities increase (decrease)
for the year Account payables and other payables 13.60 (6.31) (8.43)
Comprehensive profit and loss for the 404.94 376.63 22113 Accrued expenses (31.33) (45.80) (mas)
year Accrued land expenses (3.39) (617) 0.00
Profit (Loss) Insurance received 18.17 1n.73 (7.56)
For the Company's shareholders 404.94 2817 376.51 26.23 228.57 19.06 Long term reserved employee benefits (0.43) (0.68) (0.26)
For non-controling persons of the - - - - (116) (0.10) Other current liabilties (3.26) 292 (2.34)
subsidiaries Cash from operating activities 669.70 666.28 735.76
404.94 28.17 376.51 26.23 22741 18.96 Income tax paid (10013) (98.38) (79.65)
Total comprehensive profit and loss Net cash from operating activities
sharing
For the Company'’s shareholders 404.94 2817 376.63 26.24 222.29 18.54
For non-controling persons of the - - - - (116) (0.10)
subsidiaries

404.94 28.17 376.63 26.24 22113 18.44
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Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease (increase) in current investments

Financial assets in other non-current assets decrease
Cash received (paid) from the investment in subsidiaries
Long term investment (increase) decrease

Cash for investment in associates

Cash from dividends

Cash from sale of equipments and vehicles

Cash paid for the construction of the terminal vessels,
buildings, and equipments

Cash paid for intangible assets

Interest income

Net cash from (spent on)investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash receieved from long term loans
Cash paid for financing lease agreement

Cash paid for dividends

Cash received from non-controlling shareholders in subsidiaries

Cash paid for interest

Net cash spent on financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Additional declared information regarding cash flow
Non-cash elements
Predicted profit (loss) according to actuarial science
Purchase of assets under financial lease
Other current asset from pay off debt
Accrued payment from purchase of equipments and construction
Increased right-to-use assets

Consolidated Financial Statement / The Statement of

Financial Position is applied by equity method

2018 2019 2020

THB miillion THB million THB miillion

88294 (401.81 430.77

- . 0.05

(0.12) - 49.80

(45.52) - -

- (907.10) (20.00)

- 235.95 -

498 0.01 112

(70.54) (84.55) (283.44)

(4.05) (1.25) (0.53)

3914 2210 28.72
(1136.65)

- - 163.00

(2.89) (1.94) (184.90)

(372.00) (372.00) (620.00)

- - 11.80

(01 (0.06) (71.39)
(375.00) (374.00)

1,001.40 (942.75) 161.11

3518 1,036.58 93.83

1,036.58 93.83 254.94

- 016 (7.84)

3.50 0.10 -

- 176 -

30.97 1.05 9.44

- - 0.4
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Policies on Credit Term and Impact from the
COVID-19 Outbreak

In 2020, there has been a spread of COVID-19 since the
beginning of the year. The full and strict disease control
measures of many countries, including Thailand, such as the
lockdown measure, social distancing measure and restrictions
on international travel have been implemented which affect
the export industry, decrease the employment rate in many
industries, and severely impact the domestic production and
consumption. Car manufacturers have temporary halted their
production in the 2nd quarter and resumed production in the
3rd quarter resulting in the domestic car productionin 2020
amounted to 1,426,970 which was decreased by 586,740 or
equivalent to 29.14 percent from 2019. Car export in 2020
was decreased in an amount of 318,261 or equivalent to 30.19

percent.

The management has assessed and found that the COVID-19
outbreak tends to be prolonged which will consequently affect
the potential economic growth for a long-term even after the
pandemic is over. It has also been expected that the export

volume of cars in 2020 would decrease. Hence, the excutive

has stipulated a concise working plan by strictly controlling

costs and expenses in order to overcome this situation and

carry on the operating results through this crisis.

The effect from the COVID-19 outbreak has impacted the
customers of the warehousing service causing a delay in
payments in the 2" and 3™ quarters. However, in the 4™

quarter, the customers have made payments as usual.

For The Company's credit term for 14-30 days which will

subject to our servives catagories are as follows:

* Terminal services and other services related to the core
business: credit term for 14-30 days and average debt
collection period is 27 days

* Warehouse services: credit term for 30 days and average

debt collection period is 20 days

The management expects that Thailand's and global economy
will be recovered in the next year as a result of the short-term
and long-term measures implemented by many countries.
It is also expected that the efficient COVID-19 vaccination
will help lessen the impact to customers of the warehouse
service which will enable the Company to maintain the
efficientcy in service fee payment collection from the

customers.
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Indapandent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited

Opinion

| have audited the accompanying consclidated financial statements of Namyong Terminal Public
Company Limited and its subsidiary (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the related consolidated statemants of
comprahansive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
palicies, and have also audited the separate financial statements of Namyong Terminal Public
Company Limited for the same period.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited and its subsidiary and of
Mamyong Terminal Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2020, their financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under
thosa standards are further described in the Awdifor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report. | am independent of the Company in accordance
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountanls as issued by the Federalion of Accounting
Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statemanis, and | have fulfillad my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Coda. | believe that the audit evidence | have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Emphasis of Matters

| draw attention to Note 1.2, Note 3 and Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements,
Currently, the COVID-19 Pandemic continuas to significantly affect the Group's business
activities, and this is significantly impacting the Group's financial position, operating results,

and cash fiows. Tha Company’s management has continuously monitored ongeing developments
and is evaluating the impact on the financial statements. However, due to the current situation,

in which thers are still significant uncertainties in many areas, the financial impacts cannot be
reasonably estimated at this stage, particularly the valuation of investments in an associate with
net book value as at 31 Dacember 2020 of Baht 1,241 million in the separate financial statement
which may be significantly affected in the separate financial statements following the expiration of
the temporary relief measuras.

In prepanng the consclidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020, the Company has elected to continue to apply the relief measures relating to impaiment of
asset and lease modification Accounting Guidance on Tempeorary Relief Measures for
Accounting Alternatives in Response to the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic issued by

the Federation of Accounting Professions. The Company will consider recording the impact on
the financial statements after the temporary relief measures expire.

In addition, the Group has adopted Thai Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases which was
effective in the cument year.

Ny opinion is not modified in respect of these matiers.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matlers that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance
in my audit of the financial statements of the current pericd. These matters were addressed in tha
context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and
| do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

| have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Stalements section of my repor, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,

my audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of my audit procedures,
including the procedura parformed to address the matters below, provide the basis for my audit
epinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond for each matter are described below.
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Revenue recognition

I consider that the recognition of revenue from port services is a significant risk because the
revenue that the Company recognises is a material amount and it Is the key indicator of operating
results. There is therefore a risk of revenue being recognised at an inappropriate period or earfier
than appropriate

| have examined the recognition of revenue from port services of the Company by assessing and
testing the Company’s IT gerenal controls and its internal controls with respect to the revanus
cycle by making enquiry of responsible executives gaining an understanding of the contrals and
selecting representation samples to test the operation of the designed controls, and with special
consideration giving to expanding the scope of the testing of the internal controls which response
to above risks and applying a sampling method to select transactions to assess whether
recognition revenue of port services, was consistent with the conditions agreed by the parties,
and whether it was in compliance with the Company's policy. On a sampling basis, | examined
supporting documents for those transactions occurring during the year and naar the end of the
accounting period and reviewing credit notes that the Company issued after the period-end.
Moreover, | performed analytical procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible
irregularities in service fransactions throughout the period, particularly for accounting entries
made through journal vouchers,

Allowance for impairment of investments in an associate

| have fecused on the determination of the impairment of investments in an associale as
discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, because the impairment
assessment on investment in an associale is a significant accounting estimate requiring the
management to exercise a high degree of judgement in estimating the cash inflows that are
expected to be generated from an associate in the future, and setting an appropriate discount
rate and growth rate by not considering the COVID-19 situation as an impairment indicator as
disciosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. There is thus a risk with respect to
the valuation of investment in an associate.
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Revenue recognition

I consider that the recognition of revenue fram part services is a significant risk because the
revenue that the Company recognises is a material amount and it is the key indicator of operating
results. There is therefore a risk of revenue being recognised at an nappropriate period or earfier
than appropriate

| have examined the recognition of revenue from port services of the Company by assessing and
testing the Company’s IT gerenal controls and its internal controls with respect to the revenue
cycle by making enquiry of responsible executives gaining an understanding of the contrals and
selecting representation samples to test the operation of the designed controls, and with special
cansideration giving to expanding the scope of the testing of the internal controls which responsa
te above risks and applying a sampling method to select transactions to assess whether
recognition revenue of port services, was consistent with the conditions agreed by the parties,
and whether it was in compliance with the Company's policy. On a sampling basis, | examined
supporting documents for those transactions occurring during the year and near the end of the
accounting penod and reviewing credit notes that the Company issued after the period-end.
Moreover, | performed analytical procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible
irmegularnties in service fransactions throughout the period, particularly for accounting entries
made through joumal vouchers,

Allowance for impairment of investments in an associate

| have fecused on the determination of the impairment of investments in an associale as
discussed in Mote 15 to the consolidated financial statements, because the impairment
assessment on investment in an associate is a significant accounting estimate requiring the
management to exercise a high degree of judgement in estimating the cash inflows that are
expected to be generated from an associate in the future, and seftting an appropriate discount
rate and growth rate by not considering the COVID-19 situation as an impairment indicator as
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statemants. There is thus a risk with respect to
the valuation of investment in an associate.
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| have assessed the financial model selected by management by testing the significant
assumplions applied by management in preparing estimates of the cash flows expected to be
realised from the associate in the future by comparing such assumptions with outside and inside
sources and, reviewing the accuracy of past cash flow projections in comparison with actual
operating resulls in order to assess the reliability of the cash flow projections. | also considered
the appropriateness of management's assumptions through analysis of the weighted-average
cost of discouni rate and tesled the calculation of the realisable value of investment In this
associate using the selacted financial model.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the
information included in annual repor of the Group, but does not include the financial statements
and my auditor's report thereon. The annual report of the Group is expected to be made available
to me after the date of this auditor's report.

My opinicn on the financial statements does nol cover the other information and | do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whather the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated,

When | read the annual report of the Group, if | conclude that there is a material misetalemeant
therein, | am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction
of the misstatement

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statemanis in
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management delermines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statemenis that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to centinue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicabla, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management sither intends to liquidate the
Group or 1o cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My abjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial stalemenis as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes my opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing will
always delect a material misstatement when it exisis. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected
to influsnce the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

» |dentify and assess the risks of malerial misslatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and parform audit proceduras responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from arror, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrapresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
proceduras that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinian on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concam. If | conclude that a material uncertainly exists, | am required to
draw aftention in my auditor's report fo the related disclosures in the financial statemants or,
if such disclosures are inadaquate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obfained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.
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* Evaluate the overall presentation, struclure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and avents in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. | am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. | remain solely responsible for my audit opinion,

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amang other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings. including any significant deficiencies in
internal contral that | identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with tham all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought o bear on my independance, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those matiers
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current pericd and are
therefore the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
| determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse
consaquances of doing 5o would reasonably be expecled to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

| am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report.

J'-L.-—\___-r

Sumana Punpongsanon
Cerfified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 5672

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 19 February 2021
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Namyong Terminal Public Company Limited and its subsidiary
Motes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1.
1.1

General information
The Company's general information

Mamyong Terminal Public Company Limited ("the Company™ is a public company
incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the
provision of pord senvices, cariage, handiing of goods and warehouse service., The
Company's port is localed at 51 Moo 3 Laem Chabang Pord, Toongsukhla, Sriracha,
Chonbur.

The registered head office of the Company is at 1188/52 Lumpini Tower, 19th Fleor, Rama
IV Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok

Agreameant for Inwestment Consfruction. Mana ant and ration of A% Terminal

On 11 April 1996, the Company entered nto the Agresment for Investment, Construction,
Management and COperation of AS Temninal ({the Concession Agreement’) at Laem
Chabang Port with the Porl Authority of Thailand CPAT), for a period of 25 years, from 1
May 1896 1o 30 April 2021, However, the Company can submil a written request for a S-year
extension, 2 years prior to the end of the Agreement, on terms and conddions 1o be
muiually agreed by the counterparties. The Company is currently in the process of
requesting for extension,

LUnder the Concession Agreement, the Company is committed o pay remunerations to PAT,
with each operating year's remuneration divided into four installments, each due for
payment on the day before the beginning of the corresponding quarter, Im addiion, fhe
Company may be charged an additional fee in the eveni that cargos transported through the
terminal in any year exceed the number stated in the Agreement. The payment of the
additional fee is to be made on an annual basis and is due at the end of each operating
year,

PAT anncunces the Porl Charges and Por Tanff rates, and the Company must not charge
its clients more than PAT s announced rates,

After the expiration of the Agreement, all immovable properies including infrastruciure shall
become the property of PAT as "Build, Operate and Transfer” basis. PAT also has the right
to buy all or par of the movable properties from the Company at their current book value,
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1.2

22

The Covid-19 pandemic

Currently, the COVID-19 Pandemic continues fo significantly affect the Group's business
activities, and this is significantly impacting the Group’s financial position, operating results,
and cash flows. The Company's management has conlinuously montored ongoing
developments and is evaluating the impact on the financial statements.

Basis of preparation

The financial statemems have been preparad in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Slandards enunciated uwnder the Accounting Professions Act BE. 2547 and their
presentation has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Motification of the
Department of Business Development, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543,

The financial stalements in Thai language are the official stalutory financial statements of
the Company. The financial stalements in English language have been translated from the
Thai language financial statemants.

The financial statemenis have been prepared on a historical cost Dasis except where
otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies,

Basis of consolidation

a) The consolidated financial statement includes the fnancial statements of Namyong
Terminal Public Company Limiled (‘the Company’) and (he following subsidiary
company (“the subsidiary”) (collectively as “the Group”).

Country of Percentage af
Company's nama Mature of business incorpomation shaneholding
2020
{Parcent)
Saahorsse Ferries Co, Lid Farry transportation Senioes Thatand 51

bl On 15 July 2020, the Company additionally acquired of Seahorse Fermes Co., Lid. more
as detail in Neote 151 to the conscolidated financial statements. As a result, the
Company's shareholding percentage increases and the Company has control ower
Seahorse Ferrigs Co., Lid. Consequently, the investment in Seahorse Ferries Co., Lid.
changes the status from investmenis in associale to investments in subsidiary
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(Thapa sk Lashgiuwarn)



These consolidated financial statements included the consolidated stalement of financial
position of Seahorse Ferries Co., Ltd. as at acquisition date and the consohdated
comprehensive income for the perod from the nvesiment date to 31 December 2020,
The company recorded the net assets acquired at their fair value as of the acquisition
dale. The management determined that the assst acquired and liabilities are fair value.

Details of the fair value for net assets of Seahorse Ferries Co., Litd is as follows:

(Uni: Thousand Bahi)

Fair valua

Assets
Cash and cash equivalenis 49,798
Other current assets 18,000
Other non-current assets 1911 :&

Total assels 88.217
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 276
Accrued expenses 1.158
Other non-current liabilties G4

Total liabilities 1.568
Met assets value BE 648
Equity of the Group (%) &1
Fair value of net asset value attributable to the Company's Investments 44 191

3
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2.3

d)

e)

)

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Fair value of Seahorse Femes Co., Ltd as previously held investment 34 660
Book value of previously held investimenis in equity method as at

acquisition date ':33 fo4)
The differances recognised in profit or loss (4,074)
Consideration paid for additional invesimenis 11,000
Fair value of Seahorse Feres Co., Lid. as previously held investment 34,660
Total 45 660
Fair value of net assets under interests acquired 44,191

The excess of the purchase price plus fair value of invesiment as at
acquisition date and the fair value of net assets under acquired {1,459)

The management delermined the aforementioned excess are goodwill which is nol
advantage of future, Therefore, the Group recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
for the year 2020,

The Company is deemed 1o have conirel over an invesiae or subsidiary if # has nighls, or
i5 exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it has the
ability to direct the activitias that affect the amount of its returns.

Subsidiary is fully consolidaled, being the date on which the Company cbiains control,
and confinue to be consolidated until the dale when such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared using the same significant
accounting policies as the Company.

Matenal balances and transactions betwesn the Group have been eliminated from the
consclidated financial staltemenis.

Mon-cantrolling interests represent the portion of proft or loss and net assets of the
subsidiary that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the
consclidated proft or loss and within eguity in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

The separate financial statements present invesiments in subsidiary and associale under
the cost method.
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Mew financial reporting standards
a) Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

Dwuring the year, the Group has adopted the revised (revised 2019) and new financial
reporting standards and interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on
or after 1 January 2020, These financial reporling standards were aimed at alignment
with the corresponding Intermational Financial Reporting Standards with most of the
changes directed towards clanfying accounting treatment and providing accounting
guidance for users of the standards. The adoption of these financial reporting standards
does not have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements. However, the
new standard involves changes to key principles, which are summarised below:

Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments

Azset of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and
interpretations, as follows:

Financial reporting slandards.
TFRS T Financial Instruments: Disclosuras
TFRS 9 Financial Instrumenis
Accounting standard.
TAS 32 Financial Instrumenis; Presentation
Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:
TFRIC 18 Hedges of a Met Invesiment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 18 Extinguishing Financial Liabilties with Equity Instruments

These TFRSs related to financial instruments make slipulations relating to the
classification of financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised
cosl taking into account the type of instrument, the charactenstics of the contractual
cash flows and the Company's business model, calculation of impairment using the
expected credit loss method, and hedge accounling. These include stipulations
regarding the presantation and disclosure of financial nstruments.

These slandards do have any impact on the Group’s financial statements from
classification of financial assets and financial liabilttes as descriped in Note 4 to the
consalidated financial siatements

e e £ o MR SR R LA R A M Pl = T
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TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations. The standard
sels out the principles for the recognition, measuremeni, preseniation and disclosure of
leases, and requires a lessee 1o recognise assets and kabilities for all leases with a term
of more than 12 months, unless the underying asselis low value,

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from TAS 17. Lassors
will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases.

The Group adopted these financial reporting standards using the modified retrospective
method of initial adoplion of which the cumulative effedt is recognised as an adjustment
to the retained earnings as al 1 January 2020, and the comparative mformation was not
resiated.

The cumulative effect of the change is described in Mole 4 to the consalidated financial
statements

Accounting Guidance on Temporary Relief Measures for Accounting Alternatives
in Response to the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The Federalion of Accounting Professions announced Accounting Guidance on
Temporary Feliel Measures for Acoounting Alternatives in Response to the Impact of the
COVID-19 Pandemic. Its objectives are {o alleviate some of the impact of applying
certain financial reporting standards. and 1o provide clarification about accounting
freatments during the period of unceramty relating to this situation.

on 22 April 2020, the Accounting Guidance was announced in the Royal Gazefte and it
i5 effective for the financial statements prepared for reporting periods ending between
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020,

The Group hasz elected to apply the temporary reliel measures for accounting
alternatives:

Mol to account for any reduction in lease payments by lessors resulling from the
COVID-159 siduation as a lease modificalion, with the lease liabiltias that come due in
each period reduced in proporion fo the reduction and depreciation of righi-of-use
assets and interest on lease liabilties recognised in each period reversed in
proportion to the reduction, with any differences then recognised in profit or loss.

AR i Y e L e A o', R SR e A e 1Ll 0 o ieves. Dracior
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b)

Mot to consider the COVID-19 siuation as an indication that anm assst may be
impaired in accordance with TAS 36, Impaiment of Assets.

The Group is evaluating the impact on the financial statements, However, due to the
current situation, in which there are still significant uncerainties in many areas, the
financial impacts cannet be reasonably esftimated al this stage. paricularly the valuation
of investments in an associate with nel book value as al 31 December 2020 of Baht
1.241 million in the separale financial statemen! as discussed in Mote 15 o the
consolidated financial statements which may be significantly affected in the separate
financial statements following the expiration of the temporary relief measures,

Financial reporting standards that became effective for fiscal years beginning on
or after 1 January 2021

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reparting
standards and interpretations, which are effective for fiscal years beginming on or after
1 January 2021, Thesa financial reporting standards ware aimed at alignment with tha
corresponding Intemational Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes
diracted towards clanfying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for
users of the standards.

The management of the Group is currently evaluating the impact of these standards to
the financial staterments in the year when they are adopted.

Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies due to the adoption of new
financial reporting standards

As dascribed in Mole 3 {o the consolidated financial statements, during the current year, the
Group has adopled financial reporting standards related to financial instruments and TFRS
16. The cumulative effect of iniially applying these standards is recognised as an
adjustment o relained eamings as at 1 January 2020, Therefore, the comparative
information was nof restated.
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The impacts of changes in accounting policies on the statemeants of financial position at the
beginning of 2020 due to the adoption of these standards are presented as follows:

Emancal sialemsnts in whack {he oguty

{Umit Thoussnd Baft)

e (F AnE Separan irgncog Eaermeni
Tt Briget of TPy et o
Frarcal Frarcal
rEpomifg FEpang
sy sattaidi
relifisd o Pl In
1 Cecenbes Ensncal Vlansy 3 Decembet Bransial 1 Janumany
Jg ralr greenis TFRS 18 T Pl ralrumels TFRS 14 o]
Stabw ity of fezancial posfson
ANz
Cuimeed o vsats
Current areerimens 14535, 080 {1 48 0A0) 1 EG0E0 (1489080
Propied s piriLs 27 455 f0, BT 7 581 2T ABS 0 ETE&) 17 581
Cttepr coarmnl Prrncasd aocepts 1 4R an 1,450 0 1 4 DEC 1455 080
Ron=c umend avsety
Oirest long Serm irvesimaers 178 852 REL " ] 178882 [ Vra A2
Db neon-ousment Anancis aes et LR D5E 158858 1 B 1E3 B85
Lang, isaseheld mpnvenctis
Ensichig med g 1008, 287 (R3S 1,004 567 008 547 [T3%idy  1.014857
Irfr R presty L] I R LT L2 -] L0 LR
Fght-ol use sssets Ve TRE 1eae s 1S TES 16022s
Dipfpsrsd o srgass 3, THY 35,008 T2 883 L) 005 111,058
Otrel Rde-0ATE 2SS AT {[15,30€] 1871 1777 (15 30} 1871
LiaRslithics @i 4Maie hadded "
gy
Currend labilidmy
Curtend parion of ek roier
Firadnco e grdaiT-aniy 1687 BT &7 §IET
Cuirenl gt of base halabiss o [ 7. 20 217 261 7261
AT SR 108 421 (18 503 Bsaols 108 5 [ 18505 18008
CoFer eumir] I blleis 15480 1,734 LE L - 15,440 1. 758 e
Rrnar e liahillie
Ligepaidgdl Lo Finarecd M-arsd
agfeements - nel of curent
o] 73 (LT LT =24
| ey iabe i - ne ool i
poarhion B A A LR 1S e 1,850 B
Aorued land renal eepores 84 43¢ {5, 23 B4 43 (B4, 435)
Sy daposts 120, 160 [Ir 8T LA -] 125,156 {17,537} T, 182
Cinel R-0ATeN andies 15341 16 24 18 741 B 221
T S T T
Pturviact ddrTargs - vidiaer (et ] (LT wk an] Mo (et 10 el 146 Sl el (Al
8
(Thmparai Lo e n) [Firmiarn Lgung susan)



4.1

4.2

Financial instruments

The classifications, measurement basis and camying values of financial assets in
accordance with TFRS 9 as at 1 January 2020, and with the carrying amounts under the
former basis, are as follows:

[Link: Thousand Bahi)
Farancial statemant inwhich the equity methed s appSed’

Eoparale Ainamncial @Aabement

Cairyssg armaunls
wrpdo T Hh Padarrer

=155 Clxgshicalion and moasuramsnl in acooedancs with TFRES 5
Fair vaiss through
prolil oF ki LR T R Tedal

Financial assets as 1 1 Jdapuary 2020

Cash and cash aguevalents B A0 - B3 B30 B3 B30
Teade and otfsir roconaties 124311 - 124,31 124,31
Cther cument finarcial assets 1,486,080 H2a, 001 BlG0TE 1405 b0
Cther mon=current financal assets TR SRE - i BRE i EEE
Tota inanclal asssis 1,857 089 B34 001 1,373.088 1 857 085

As at 1January 2020, the Company has not designated any financial liabilities at fair valua
through profit or loss.

Leases

Upon initial application of TFRS 18 the Group recognised lease liabilities previously
classified as operating leases at the present value of the ramaining lease paymants,
discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2020, For leasas
previousty classified as finance leases, the Group recognised the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assels and lease liabilities based on the carrying amounts of the lease assels
and lease liabtities immedialely before the date of initial application of TFRS 16

(Unit Thousand Baf)
Financial statement in
which the equity method

is applied / Separate
financial staterment

Dperating lease commitments as al 31 December 2019 1,324 8358
Add: Opticn to extend lease term 1313664
Add- Cthers &1, 102
Less: Deferred inferest expenses (627 B805)
Imcrease in lease labilties due to TFRS 16 adoption 2072019
Liabdlities under finance lease agreaments as at 31 Decamiper 2015 3
Less: Leases of low-value assets {85}
Lease liatditiess as at 1 January 2020 2072155
Wigight ancerage |ncremental Barrowing rale (percent per annum) 135 -402
Comprise of
Current leage iabdties T M
Man-current lease abilties 1,854 594
2072155

Significant accounting policies

Revenue recognition

Rendering of services

Service revenue is recognised when the services have been rendered.

Recognised revenue for which invoices have nol yel been issued is presented under the
caption of “Unbilled receiables” in the siatement of financial posifion. Service ravenue (s
involced value, excluding vaiue added tax, after daducling discounts.

Interest income

Interast income s calculated using the effective interast method and recognised on an
accrual basis. The effective interast rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of a
financlal asset, unless the financial assets subsequenily become credit-impaired when it is
applied to the net carmying amount of the financial asset (net of the expected credil loss
allowance).
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5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

Finance cost
Interest expense from financial liabilities at amorlised cost is calculated wsing the effective

interesi method and are recognised on an accrual basis.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the right 1o received the dividends is establizhed.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, cash at bank, and all highly liquid
invesimenis with an original maturty of three monihs or less and not subject 1o wihdrawal
restrictions.

Inventories

Inventories are valued al the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
first-in firsi-out method.

Investments in subsidiary and associate

Investments in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method.

Investments in subsidiary and associate are accoumted for in the separate financial
statements using the cost method net of allowance for loss on investment (if any).

Fort service concession agreement
Right under port service concession agreement

The Group inifially recorded the right under pont service concession agreement at cost,
which comprises the present value of future commitments in order to oblain the right under
the concession agreement and project cosis in relalion o0 pors, structures and related
improvements. Following initial recognition, the rght is stated at historical cost after
deducting amorisation and impairment provision (f any).

The Group reclassified project costs as a parl of nght wnder porl sarvice concession
agreament, ransferring them at their net book value,

The Group amortises the concession right as an expense in the income statement in
proportion fo the volume of senice stated in the agreement. However, during the transition
period, the Group applied the net beok value of the existing assets as the initial cost for

11
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5.6

57

5.8

amorisation purposes. The Group reviews for impaiment of the assels whenever there are
indications of impairment and reviews the amorisation method at lease once per year.

Provision for port remuneration under concession agreement

The Group records provision for port remuneration under concession agreement by using
ihe presant value of the future commitment that need to be paid to the porl authorily of
Thailand based on Agreemaeant for Investment, Construction, Management and Operation at
A5 terminal.

Land, leasehold improvements, buildings and equipment / Depreciation

Land is stated at costl. Leasehold mprovemeants, bulldings and aguipmeant are stated at cost
less accurnulated depreciation and allowanca for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of leasehold improvements, buikdings, and equipment is calculaled by
reference to their cosis on a siraight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Yards improvements - 5-20vyears
Buildings and other constructions - 5-20 years
Others - E.20vyears

Depreciation is included in determining income.
Mo depreciation is provided on land and assets under construction and installation.
Borrowing costs

Bomowing costs directly atinbutable to the acquisition, construection or production of an asset
that necessarily takes a substantial period of ime to get ready for ils intended use or sale are
capitaiisad as part of the cost of the respective assels. All olher bormowing cosis are expensed in
the penod they are incumed, Bomowing costs consist of interest and other cosls that an enfity
IGUES in connéchon with the bormowing of funds,

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are inilially recognised at cost. Following the initial recognition, the intangible
assals are camied at cost less any accumulated amodisation and any accumulaled impaiment
Insses (if any).

Intangible asseis with finite lives are amorized on a systematic basls over the economic
useful [ife and tested for impaiment whenever there 15 an indication that the infangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation peried and the amortisation methed of such intangible
assels are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amorlisalion expense is
charged to profi or loss.

12
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5.9

5.10

A summary of the intangible assets with finite useful lives is computer software which has a
useful lives of & - 10 years.,

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recorded at cost, which eqguals to the excess of cost of business
combination over the fair value of the net assels acquired, IT the fair value of the net assets
acquired exceeds the cost of business combination, the excess is mmediately recognised
as gain in profit or loss.

Goodwill is caried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually and when circumstances indicate thal the camying walue may be
impaired.

For the purpose of impairment lesting, goodwill acquired in a business combination s
aliocated to each of the Company’s cash generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) thal are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Company
estimates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating wnit (or group of cash-
generaling uniis) 1o which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generaling uni is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss, Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannct be reversed in fulure periods.

Leases

At inception of coniract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, A
confract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to contral the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Accountin cas d since 1 Janu 2020

The Group appiied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value asseis. At the commencement dale of the lease
fi.e. the dale the underlying asset is available for use), the Group recognises right-of-use
assets representing the right to use underlying assets and lease liabilities based on lease
paymenis.

13
e B o 4

Right-of-use assets

Righi-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation, any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusied for any remeasurement of lease liabildies. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilites initizlly recognised, inftial direct cosis
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commeancemant date of the lease lass
ary lease incentives received,

Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs. on the straight-
line basis over the shorer of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.

Yards According to the lease term 10 - 43 years

Buidings According to the lease term 15 years

Vehicles According to the lease term 3 years

Office equipment According to the lease lerm 4 years
Lease llabiiities

Lease liabilties are measured at the present value of the lease payments 1o be made owver
the lease ferm, The lease payments include fixed payments [@ss any lease incenlives
receivable, variable lease payments thalt depend on an index or a rate. and amounts
expected to be payable under residual value guarantees, Moreover, the |ease payments
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably cerlain o be exercised by the
Group and paymenis of penalies for terminating the lease, if the leass term reflecis the
Group exercising an option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do nol depend on an
index or a rale are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that
iriggers the paymeni ocours,

The Group discounted the present value of the lease payments by the interest rate implict in
the lease or the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Afler the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased 1o reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition. the carrying amount of lease liabifies is remeasured if
there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the
assessment of an oplion fo purchase the underlying asset.

14
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assels

A lease that has a lease term less than or egual to 12 months from commencement date or
a lease of low-value assels is recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the

fease tarm.
Accounting palicies adopted before 1 January 2020

Leases of equipment which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership ara
classified as finance leases. Financa leases are capitalised al the lower of the fair value of
the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The oulstanding
rental obligations, nel of finance charges, are included in long-lerm payables, while the
interest element is charged to profit or loss over the lease period. The assets acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the useful life of the asset and the lease period.

Leases of yards, buildings and equipment which do not transfer substantially all the risks
amnd rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are
recognised as an expense in prof or loss on a siraighi-line basis over the lease term.

Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or emerprises and individuals that control, or are
controlled by, the Company, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common
conirod with the Company.

They also include associated companies and individuals or enterprisas which direcily or
indirectly own a voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the
Company, key management personnel, direclors and officers wilth authority in the planning
and direction of the Company's operations.

15
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5.12 Impaim'mrrt of non-financial assets

Al the end of each reporting period, the Group performs impairment reviews in respect of the
right under port service concession agreement, land, leasehold improvements, buildings
and equipment rnight-of-use asset, and other intangible assels whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate thal an asset may be impaired. The Group also carmes oul annual
impairment reviews in respect of goodwil. An imparment loss is recognised when the
recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to
sell and fs value in use, is less than the carnying amount. In determining value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to thewr present value using a pre-lax discount
rate that reflects current market assessmenis of the fime value of money and the risks
specific to the assel. In determining fair value less costs lo sell. an appropriate valuation
model is used, These calculalions are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on
information available, reflects the amount that the Group could obtain from the disposal of
the asset in an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable, wiling parties, after
deducting the costs of disposal,

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In the assessment of asset impairment, if there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the Group estimates the
asset's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the assel's recoverable
amount since the lasi impairment oss was recognised. The increased carrying amount of
ihe asset attributable 1o a reversal of an Impakment loss shall not exceed the carmying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognisad for the
assel in prior years.

16



5.13 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social securily fund are recognised as
expenses when incurred

Fost-employment benefits and other long-term employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company and its employees have joinily astablished a provident fund. The fund is monihby
contributed by employveas and by the Company. The fund’s assels are held in a separate Irust
fund and the Company’s confributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Defined beneft plans and other long-term emplayee benefits

The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make fo employees
upon relirement under labor law and olher employee benefd plans, The Group treats these
severance payment abligations as a defined benefil plan. In addition, the Group provides
cther long-term employes benefil plan, namely long service awards.

The obligation under the defined benefil plan and other long-term employee benefil plans. is
determined by a professionally qualified independent acluary based on actuanal techniques,
using ihe projected unil credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses ansing from post-employment benefs and are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive income,

Actuarial gains and losses ansing from other long-term benefits are recognised immediately
in profit and loss.

&£.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past
eveni, it i5 probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits wil be
raquired to setthe the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
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515 Income tax

Income fax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currenlly payable and
defered tax.

Currant tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected 1o be paid to the
taxation authorilies, based on taxable profils determined in accordance with tax legislation

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on lemporary differences between the lax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts al the end of each reporing period, using the tax
rates enacted at the end of the reparting period

The Group recognises deferred tax liabiities for all taxable temporary differences while it
recognises deferred fax assets for all deductible temporary differences and fax losses
carried forward to the extent that it is probable that fulure taxable profit will be available
against which such deductible temporary differences and tax losses camried forward can be
utiised.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax
assels 1o the exdent thal i 15 no longer probable that sufficient taxable proftl will be available
o allow all or parl of Ihe deferred lax assel to be utilised.

The Group records deferred lax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates 1o items that
are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.

Financial instruments

The Group inilially measures financial assets al its fair value plus, in the case of financial
assels that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, iransaclion costs. However,
irade receivables, thal do not contain a significant financing component which the Group
has applied the praclical expedient regarding neot to adjust the effecis of a significant
financing component, are measured al the transaction price as disclosed in the accounting
pelicy relating 19 révenue recognition

18
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GClassification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assels are classified, al inilial recognition, as to be subseguently measured af
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI™), or fair value
through profil of 0ss ("FVTPL™). The classification of financial assels atinitial recogndion is
driven by the Group's business maodel for managing the financial assets and the contractual
cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets at amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is held in order
to collect contraciual cash fiows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give fise on
specified dates to cash fiows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
rate ("EIR") method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the assel is derecognised. modified or impaired.

Financigl assets at FVTPL

Financial assels measured al FWTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair valug recognised in profit or l0ss.

These financial assets include derivatives, security investments held for trading. equity
invesimenis which the Group has not imevocably elected to classify at FVOCH and financial
assats with cash flows thal are not solely payments of principal and inferest.

Divdends on ksted aquity investments are recognised as olher income in profit or loss.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

At initial recognition the Group's financial liabilities are recognised at fair value net of
transaction costs and classified as liabilties to be subsequently measured al amortised cost
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. In determining amerlised
cosl, the Group lakes inle account any discounts or premiums on acquisition and fees or
cosis that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amoriisalion is included in finance cosls
in profit or loss.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allewance for expecied credit losses ("ECLs™) for all debi
instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contraciual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and zll the cash flows thal the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the onginal effective inlerest rale,

For credit exposures for which there has nol been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credil losses that resull from default events thal are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
ihere has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognilion, a loss allowance
is required for credi losses expecled over the remaining life of the exposure (a lifetime
ECL)

The Group congiders a significant increase in credit fisk 1o have occurred when contraciual
paymenis are more than 30 days past due and considers a financial assel in default when
contraciual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to have a significant increase in credit risk and 1o be in defaul
using other internal or external information, such as credit rating of issuers.

For trace receivables the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not frack changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. It is based on its historical credit
loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the deblors and the
economic environment.

A financial asset is writlen off when thera 15 no reasonable expeclation of recowvering the
contraciual cash flows.,

Accounting policies adoplted before 1 January 2020

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounis receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtiul
accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of
receivables, The allowance is generally based on collection experience and analysis of debl

aging.
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547

Investments

a) Invesimenis in securities held for trading are siated at fair value. Changes in the fair
value of these securities are recorded in profit or loss.

b} Invesimenis in debl securiies, both due within one year and expected 1o be held to
maturity, are recorded at amortized cost. The premiumvdizcount on debl securities is
amortised’accreled by the effective inlerest rate method with the amorised/accreted
amount presented as an adjusiment fo the interest income.

The fair value of markelable securities is based on the latest bid price of the last working
day of the year. The fair value of debt instruments is determined based on yield rates
quoted by the Thal Bond Market Association or yield rate of government bond adjusted by
an appropriate risk factor, as the case may be. The fair value of unit trusts is determined
from their net asset value,

The weighted average meathod is used for computation of the cost of invesimeanis

in the evant the Group reclassifies investmeants from one type to another, such invesiments
will be readjusted 1o their fair value as at the reclassification date. The difference between
the carrying amount of the imvestments and the fair value on the date of reclassification are
recorded in profit or loss or recorded as other componenis of shareholders’ equity,
depending on the type of invesiment that is reclassified.

On disposal of an investmenl, the difference between nel disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the investment i5 recognised in profit or l0ss.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an assel or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between buver and seller (market participants) at the measurement
dale. The Group apply a quoted markel price In an active market to measure their assets
and habilities thal are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reperiing
standards. Except in case of no active markel of an identical asset or liability or when a
quoted market price is nol available, the Group measures fair value wsing valualion
technique that are approprale in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant

cbservable inpuls related 1o assels and liabilties that are required to be measured al fair
value,
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All assets and labilties for which fair value iz measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on
categorise of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:

Level1 - Use of quoled marked prices in an observable aclive marke! for such assels or
liabilities

Leval 2 - Use of other obeervable inpuls for such assels or liabilties, whethar directly or
indirecthy

Level 3 - Use of unobservable inpuls such as estimates of fulure cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether fransfers have occurred
between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assels and liabilties hetd at the end of the
repoming period thal are measured at fair value on a recurning basis.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financlal reporting standards at
times requires managemenl fo make subjective judgemenis and estimates regarding
matiers that are inherently uncertain. Thesa judgemenis and eslimates affect reporied
amounts and disclosures and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant
judgements and estimalas are as follows:

Leases

Determining the lease term with extension and termination opticns - The Group as a
lessee

In determining the l2ase term, the management |3 required 1o exercize judgemeni in
assessing whether the Group is reascnably cerain to exercise the option to extend or
terminate the lease considering all relevant facts and circumsiances that create an
econgmic incenfive for the Group to exercise eifher the extension or termination option,

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate - The Group as a lessee

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, the
management is required to exercise judgement in estimaling its incremental borrowing rate
io discount lease labilties. The incremental borrowing rale is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necassary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic anvironmeant.
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Land, leasehold improvements, buildings and equipment / Depreciation

In determining depreciation of |easehold improvements, buildings and eguipment, the
management is required 1o make eslimates of the useful ves and residual values of the
leaseheld improvements, buildings and equipment and 1o review estimate useful Ives and
residual values when there are any changes,

In addition, the managemean! & required 1o review land, leaseshold mprovements, buildings
and equipment for impairment on a pericdical basis and record impairment losses when itis
determined that their recoverable amount is lower than the camrying amounl. This reguires
judgements regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the asssts
subject o the review.,

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses 1o the extent that it is probable that laxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences and losses can be wtilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred 1ax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of astimate future taxatle profis.

Allowance for impalrment of non-financlal assats

In determining allowance for impairment of a non-financial asset, the management is required
to exarcise judgements regarding determination of the recoverable amount of the assel, which
is the higher of i3 fair value less cosls of disposal and s valug in use. The fai walue less
costs of disposal calculation s based on available dala from binding sales lransactions,
conducted al anm's length, for similar assets or observable markel pices less incremental
costs of disposing of the assel. The value in use calculation is based on a discoumed cash
flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget and do nol include restructuring
aclivities that the Group is nol yal committed to or significant future investments that will
enhance the performance of the assets of the cash-generaling unil being tesled. The
recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow modeal
as well as the expecied future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for these estimates are
most relevant 1o investments in associate recognised by the Group.
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Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans and other long-term employee
benefits

The obligalion under the defined benefil plan and other long-term employes benefil plans is
determined based on actuanal lechnigues, Such determination is made based on vanows
assumplions, including discount rate, fulure salary increase rate, moralily rale and staff
turnover rate,

Litigation

The Group has confingent liabildies as a result of litigalion. The Group's management has
used judgement to assess of the results of the iitigation and believes that no loss will result.
Tharefore, no contingent liabilMies are recorded as at the end of reponing perod.

Related party transactions

The relationships batween the Group and relaled parties with significant business
transaction are summansed below:

Mame Relationship

Seahorse Ferries Co, Lid. Subsidiary (Being the associate until
14 July 2020)

NYKT International Terminal Co., Lid. [NYKT') Agsociated

Lasmchabang International Ro-Fo Terminal Limited  Associated (Held by NYKT)

MY RORO (Thailand) Co., Lid Major shareholder of the Company

Mippon Yusan Kabushiki Kaisha Co., Ltd Parent company of the Group of
major sharahoider (NYK)

Fort Davelopment and services Co., Ltd, Common directors

The Luangsuwan Eslate Co., Lid. Commaon directors
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During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with related parties. Such Az al 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balances of the accounts between the Group and

transactions, which are summarnsed below, arose in the ordinary course of business and those related companies are as follows:
were concluded on commercial terms and bases agreed upon between the Group and those (Unit: Million Baht)
related parties, Financial
i Mo B Consofidated  statement in which
finanical the equity mathod
Finarcml .
slatement s appiied Separate financial statement
e 0 2019 2020 2019
which 202
Consclidated e aquity Subrsichary
[—— razthad Saparate fmancial Cither recewvables = L 008
inta et B oppled et W
I D b L] Pricing pakicy Scoount recenable 17.05 18.83 17.05 1683
T iosd Gl Skl etk Unbilled recemvables 3.76 378 3.76 378
(Chminated frem the cormcsdated financial ststamants) Sacurly deposits 21.00 2100 21.00 21.00
Guarsntee oo incomes . . (i} . 0,75 parcent par annum of Relabed company
guaranies Deposit 0.24 0.24 024 0.24
Transgctions vith gesccinbe comppny Acciued service fes
Othar Inoms .32 132 132 .32 Rake as stipulated in the EXpEnSe = 18 50 = 1B8.50
WA Loase labdes 22845 - 228.45
Dot ik il b G “ - B 235895 A AN nced
PR S AR Directors and management's benefits
Iz Inzm Shapor Saracd 15580 157 43 155680 1g9r4a PAT S anndunced fvla
. - a0 00 OG0 ik Rt During the years ended 31 Decembar 2020 and 2019, the Group had employee Danefd
P—— expenses provided 1o its directors and management as below.
Tennanctung with iikbed compshsg {Unit: Thousand Eaht)
Srvice lee eapans 14.90 JEE 14 81 1491 Rake a5 slipulaied n iFe : 1
Financial
gtaarmant
staterment in
Fertal oxpansas .08 - - - Rate as stipulaied in tho
Consolidated which tha
aprasmmank
financial equity method
statement = apphed Separate financial statements
2020 2015 2020 2018
Short-term employes berneiis 358,886 39,843 36,165 39.843
Long-term benefis 3619 4157 3,519 4157
Total 40,505 44,000 28,785 44 000
Guaraniee obligations with related party
. . 25 26
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The Company has outstanding guarantee obligations with s subsidiary, as described in

MNote 34.2 (1) to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Total current investments 1,488 080

A5 at 31 December 2013, fued deposils carry interest rates at 1.35% 10 1.85% per annum
with maturity 5 months to 1 yvear from inception date,

{Unit: Thousand Baht) 10. Trade and other receivables

Financial (Uit Thoussnd Baht)
statement in e
Consolidated  which the equity B
financial method s e e
staterment applied Separate financial statements Eommoiidaned utionie
202 2019 2020 201 financial  equity method
o 4 2 shatsmend is apphed Separate Grancial stsment
Cash a8 81 &9 B1 X070 e 0 "
Bank deposits 254 B42 93,768 229 251 93 769
Trade recevabing
Todal 254,940 93,830 220,340 93,830 Aged on the basis of dus dates
Mot pat dus 44 788 41 980 44,288 41,980
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, bank deposids in savings account earned interest at Past dus
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Up to 3 months 28,185 46,362 26,105 46,362
3 . & smonths 4,785 - 4,285
Current investments e
Teta! trade recaivables L 283N TETES 4837
{Unit: Theusand Baht) Lass Abowance far expecied credit lnssas
FIHEI'ICiﬂ Stiiﬂl'l'lﬂ-l‘ll 12‘:?9’ Allovwances for doubtful d'b“]‘ n = ™
4 f L Teta! trade blas - nat TETEE 83N TETES 4837
in which the eguity reRERE
method is applied / =
_ Linbilled receivables 0,302 86,380 60,302 88,380
Separate financial o Lo P —_—
statement (2019 Allowanon for doubtful debis) (45, 205) %5, 205 (5, 208) (45, 205)
2019 Tota! unbilled receivabies - net 14,097 20175 14,097 20,175
Fixed deposils 965079 Other receivables
Investiments in securities Othor recenables 10,723 15, 7B 10 B80T 15,765
EDUEI'I'I TE 'I D'I:H'Iﬂﬁ lﬂ-.'ﬂﬁ? Lags Alswancs lor axpechiad cradil lossas
BB i)
Pt 354 841 (2018 Allowance for doubtful debits) 7 (7.263)
Todal Other recenables - mat 3,654 15 765 3,738 15,768
Uni trusts 85,216
- Tota! rade and other receivablas - nat 4 507 124 311 B4 5 124319
Marketable securities 6B,284
Tatal 522 338 Sel out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of other
Add: Unrealised gain on change in value of investmant 1,663 receivables.
Invastmants in securntias - nat 524,'1]1 ‘Lmn_ Thousand E-&h‘t:l
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1.

12,

Az at 1 January 2020
Provision for expedcled credil losses
As at 31 Decernber 2020

Other current financial assets

Debt instruments al amortised cost

Fixed deposits

Financial assels at fair value th rofit or loss
Debenturas.

Lindl trusts

Marketable securites

Total financial assels at fair vabee throwgh poofit or koss

Total other current financial assets

Financial statement inwhich the equity
method i3 apphed /
Separate financaal statements

48,205
7065

53,274

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated
financial statements

! Separate
financial statements

2020

505,471

347 442
124,362
69,626
541,430
1,045,901

As al 31 December 2020, fixed deposits carry inlerest rates al 0.65% to 1.50% per annum

with maturity & months to 1 year from inception date.

Long-term investments

A5 al 31 December 2019, long-term investments are govermment bonds with held o
maturity camry interest rates at 2 43% 1o 2.69% per annum and maturity in 2031

13. Other non-current financial assets

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated
financial statements
! Saparate
financial statements
2020
Debt instruments at amortised cost
Government bonds 173.315
2 ia) {at lised cost
Security deposit 15,259
Tetal other non-current financial assets 188.574

14.  Investments in subsidiary

14.1 Details of investments in subsidiary as presented in the separate financial sialements are

as follows:
{Unit: Thousand Bakt)
Regisened Shareholding Dinidend received
Company’s nama share capital percentage Cost during the year
2020 2021 2020 2020
(%)
Seahorss Farmies Co., Lid. 100,000 H | 51,000 =

14.2 Details of invesimenis in subsidiary that have material non-contrelling inlerests

(Uit Thecus=and Babi)

Prapartion of equily Bevignulated Prafitieds allocalsd Dividarsd paid by
inbetusl Fald by Ealargr of 1% ran-canineling nan-eannzling
ran-centraling nan-conircling inioreaty during the  inberoris during the

Company’s harmg mdareais inlaresis yar yoar
2020 200 2020 2000
(%)
Zeahorse Ferries Co., Lbd, 49 39,508 (1.182]
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14,3 Summarised financial information that based on amounts before inter-company elimination

about subsidiary that have material non-controlling

Summarised information abouwt financial position

Current assels
Mor-current assets
Current liabilities
hon-currant liabildias

Summarised information aboul comprehensive ncome

Revenue
Loss
Total comprehansive ncame

Summarised information abouwt cash flow

Cash flow from oerating activities
—ash flow from invesling activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Met decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(Urit: Million Baht)
Seahorse Ferrias
Co., Ltd.

2020
34
218
14
157

(Unit: Million Baht)
For the year ended
31 December 2020

15, Investments in associates

15.1 Details of associates

Coerapl ipatnd Pingnoiyl sslement |

[Urd Trousesd Rasth

Frua neidl silnie= e o svieeh 1he B3y e o Bepised

Seahorsa Ferrias
Ca., Lid.

(4.5)
{4.5)

(Unit: Million Baht)
For the year ended
1 December 2020

Seahorse Ferries
Co., Lid.

(18)

(214)
209

(23)
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NYET International Terminal Co_, Lid.

During the year 2019, the Company recognises an impairment loss for Investments in NYKT
International Terminal Co., Lid, amounding to Baht 191 million to reduce the canmrying amount
of the assets to their recoverable amounis. The Company has determined the recoverable
amounts of #s assets based on using cash fiow projections from financial estimation
approved by management. Key assumptions used in value in use calculations are discount
rale by 2019 at the rate of 9.00% per annum. The sansitivity analysis of impairment losses
increase of Baht 9 million for the increase of discount rate 0.1%.
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Tatal {55,456} {35,800) 235 951

Saahorse Farmias Co., Lid,

On 28 October 2019, the meeting of the Board of Directors approved invesimenis in 399,699
ordinary shares of Seahorse Femes Co., Lid. at the price of Baht 100 per share each with
S0% called up, or Baht 20 millicn,

163 Summansation af financial information of associales

Summarisation of information about financial positien

(Unit. Million Baht)
On 19 March 2020, Seahorse Ferries Co., Lid. called up the additional 50°6 of the shares Seahorse
capial, iotaling Baht 20 million. The Company paid for the shares on 26 March 2020. MYKT inbsimational Tarmikial Fiirts G
On 15 July 2020, the Company additionally acquired 110.000 ordinary shares of Seahorsea Co., Ltd. Lid.
Ferries Co,, Lid. from its former shareholder, at the par value only for the paid-up portion of 2020 2019 2019
50%, or a total of Baht 5.5 million, As a result of the share acquisition, the Company's Cuirent assets 137 103 45
shareholding percentage increased and the Company had conirol over Saahorse Fermies Nof-current assels 1150 1 209 -
Co., Ltd., Consequently, the Company changed the status from investments in associate to Current labilities (61) (105) 2
subsidiary as a result from additional invesimenis in that company as described in Note 2.2 Non-current liabillies (1,231) (1.229) (5)
to consolidated financial statements. Nl st o _l:"s'}_ ) [22}’ 41
On 6 October 2020, Seahorse Ferries Co., Lid. called up the remaining amount 50% of tha Shareholding percentage (%) 45.00 48,00 38.46
shares capital, totaling Baht 20 million. The Company paid for the shares on 27 October Share of nal assels @ an i
VD, Intangible assets / Other adjustments 1,074 1.437 4
15.2 Share of comprehensive income and dividend recelved Carrying amounts of asscciates based on
During the years, the Company has recognised its share of profit (loss) from investments in ibAquity M i e 2
associates company in the consolidated financial statement / financial statements in which Summarisation of information about comprehensive income
the equity method is appled and dividend income in the separate financial statements as {Unit: Million Baht)
follows:
- For the year ended 31 Decamber .
il e NYKT Intemational Terminal ~ Seahorse
Financial
T Co., Lid. Femies Co., Lid.
Consolidated  which the 2020 2019 2019
financial equity method Saparate Revenua 173 234 -
statemenl is applied financial stalemants Profit (loss) (1) 25 {3)
Share of loss from investiments Dividend received Total comprehensive income (1) 25 (8)
Associates in associates dunng the year during the year
2020 2019 2020 2018
MNYKT Imernational Terminal
Co., Ltd. (54,594) {35, 306) : 235,951
Seahorse Fermes Co., Lid (862) 1404)
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16. Right under port service concession agreement

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial
statement in which
Consolidated the equity method
financial stalement / is applied /
Separate financial  Separate financial

statement statement
2020 2015
Right under pont service concession agreement 1,552,831 1,551,856
Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,516,504} (1,425643)
Mal 38,327 125213

{Unit Thousand Bahi)

Financial
statement in which
Consolidated the equity method
financial stalement / is applied /
Separate financial  Separaie financial

stateman statament
2020 2019
Amortisation reporied in profit or loss 90,881 85 077
a5
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17.  Land, leasehold improvements, buildings and equipment

Und: Thousardg Saht)

Conpobalaled frandial stpliment § Fnasas datiminl f whach he adely Rathcd & apbiss

Dipchrgs Wachnery Off i Apnay
Fards S T and fumiting Uiy unider
Ll AP PutiarE egupnenl | eguepment wpmbem et (2 e Total
L]
1 danwiany 018 - Do T bid Hid 1% i) J41 348 18T 554 K A1 BESOO  FHG AT
Adcrtors 1410 . 5047 1.3 . a5 51008
Deapoaaie §wrninoff . f s E %) s s = 185
Trwnshir s o) . . i 530 . 1544 HET - (1274400 -
31 Dwoemiter 2078 . 610 148 1,014 582 ¥5 302 148 49 MO ETS 55 410 2881 2361116
Timasghed 10 - ol- ks
fast o L . [rinld bal] ] ¥ - . - [0 IKI%
Liases of ke alue Sy 1000 g . [hD
1 Janisacy D
' a4 restaled B0, 144 ol Bl 13,302 148 143 Z1BETS 3410 8 2373
Buapumiton of sulaidany
gunng The pear - - - : 105 - . - ]
AOrtnirs 21,287 L] 35550 1, 5 A TH3 50 5208 I37 B8 207 635
Diriponaats § wr bn-off - . - - ] - [ iy - 5648
el i |G - 1.5 10w . AN =5h - B 50F) -
3 Diectrribsger 30 H 387 13,132 1054 167 BE Dl 151 50 ¥4, 70 L 1] TAE40F T EA5 07
Accumalated depecation
1 Janusry HHE - 500 BS54 PE3 Al 1al B 130 954 168 455 35758 - 12303
Dwpepciabicn for the yesd L &1 )0 Flhonn T & 87 0S5 L1 . 114 S50e
Depeection on Srpodas |
werg- ol . : - . 121 - - - B
¥ Dwosmber 2015 - B3 98T jiced Tl | td 58 1387 o] 423 740 = 1338 889
Deptecinieon on iranale o
FgphE-f - riehety + + 15,187} r . - . - o, B8y
Deprtciabon on lneses of
Wrw-pEhuE ansely {¥35] 115
1 Janugry MG
au reetaind i) 28T W 4 14, el 134 F08 11080 42350 1,5 3
Aunsiesibon of subediary
T Tl par - - - - =il - - - 5]
Depepciation for the e . 51,500 1181 =] LA 6455 L 120,281
Deprecabon on o |
| . . . . ] . |7 = BT
31 Detemiteer 2020 * e ha k] AT e g (b Rps] 1SS 30258 1,443, fa?
Il Bool value
31 Dot 2070 + P AL GEIETT AH pLFr] A8 506 12,16 LR 1028 BT
31 DopwmiEser 230 21,387 J1EEAT HHE.513 1410 13306 45213 1313 3L a0y  1ME I
Dowrprac ariboen o tha yorar
TG Rk 100 et aredoatmd in el oF St B This BEINes @ RYTic el VIR el il | 145 5048
2020 (Bant 16073 m fson inchuded 0 oo of senaces, and e balance i admenasirisag Coarse T 120284
—
36

.. Dirocior vicinees Divgddor



dund: Thoosand Eahe]
‘Soparate feasoal wialpmen

hnickngy ladpciherapry L= 2 R ]
T @l Cihair el Tdy ] LRty uncher
Land PPV COMRTLEDONE BpualTmiee TS T A LU oL P T Tobai

Gl
i Jarspry 2010 . S T ol T £5, 513 1d1, 34% 1B A % 440 Bl i) 310175
L=t L 1418 A L 5043 (il ' 45 7 A
Dvepoaals, | wiites-off . . . . 1-.1] . . . (1]
Tenebit i o o . . Gl S5G - 1 Dy il iy - [127 140
A Dadweaanr XXTH0 - R0 145 1 orid 652 #5312 148 Bdi MEETH =AW 251 T3ET 1R
Temrslier 1 nght-of L

mansly 20N ' " . i e f]
L b OF ool BSOS . . . {1004 . . . (100
1 Fanuary A0

- bl Pesiated . G 1443 el BT 45302 T Edb MEETE 5,890 2541 134T 013
Ao 20,347 (8 =] 1,50 1448 1,505 3.0 R v i e
Dopouss | wie-oft - + * . (LR} - G- - [=R-R1H 18.
Fearadosr o of o 13% 3 BE2 L. v =0 18507
¥ D 2020 21,307 #AR 1 0 167 .2 vt A6 T 51,168 s 143nETn
Aocumlated degrecialion
1 Faraary S013 - Sl e 23 1508 13,154 1605 05 o ] = L EE
Deprecmiibanh Tor the yoir . 51 058 40333 300 4 827 3554 8 458 - 115,508
o AL i

by T . . a = (12111 . . " (804
¥ Dacismiegr X000 Bk T ¥ ard i 08 134,921 D40 42350 1,553,548
Dheprwcastion on raslet

o ngghtaod L nssebe - . 6 161) - . . . . 5. 15¥)
Deprpcaben on laites of

i ik e - i 2 = (§L1] . - - {15}
1 mnuary 3030

- mn frmladeed - B £ T X4 403 B4 502 124,708 170 i 42 =8 I B
Depreoabon for the yeer - 2120 1.1 o L] L] 5158 : 120, 4
Crprooaatan on deepoeas |

e -:I_:-H‘J_ . {F I-H-;:_- L] rEl._".Ir
31 Dacbsbat WM . AR 455 AT AR 15 401 54 Ea 1 TR B4R S S PR
Hial bavok: wal e
3t Dacbsiat XI0H . o R0 &A1 417 fat] i E ] A B2E 15180 7 G 1 53R AT
It Dottt 200 21,387 e BT 655 513 1,410 12, THS 45 ¥ b ] 20 Ol SHH. 173
Ceeperes | afioe Bow thee s
M1 (B 104 milleom indl udisd in oos of Seriols. and th a0 i BOMEnETaFE SN Nl 115506

T
020 (Bekl 108 milkon noluded in cosd of serwces. snd the Balance in sdmnslare soe e 120248
amn) wameom

As al 31 December 2020, the construction has been financed with a loan from a financial
instaution. Borrowing costs amounting to Baht 0.7 million were capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2018; Nil). The weighled average rale of 3.5% has been used o
determine the amount of bomowing cosis eligible for capitalisation.
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As at 31 December 2020, certain buildings and equipment iHems of the Group have been
fully deprecialed bul are sfill in use. The original cost, before deducting accumulated
depreciation, of those assets amounted to Baht 474 milion {2019. Baht 462 million) (the
Company only: Baht 474 millien and 2019: Baht 462 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the net book value amounted to Baht 102 million (2019: Bam 113
millicn) {the Company onb: Bhat 102 million and 2012; Baht 113 million) of land
improvement and buildings have been morgaged with the bank as collateral 1o secure credit
facilties

According to the agreament to invest in construction, managemant and operalion of dock
A5 at Lasm Chabang Port batwaen the Company and the Port Authorty of Thailand, at tha
end of the agreement in Aprl 2021, the Port Authorty of Thailand has the option to
purchase all or part of the tools and equipment at their net book value.

Leases
The Group as a lesses

The Group has lease contracts for assets used in its operations. Leasas generally have
lease terms between 3 - 43 years.

a) Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 Decamber 2020 are summarnised
Dby

(Linél Thoarsand Baht)
Consolidated financal statemen f Financial statement in which the eguity
method is applied / Separate financal stalemant

Crfice
Yard Buitdings Wahicles egupmeant Total
1 January H0H0 1,752 662 148,718 1,344 . 1,602 725
Addtions - - - 410 410
Depraciation for the year {206, 550) (9, 880) {720} (17 (217,147}
31 Decomber 2020 1,548 112 138,355 624 303 1,685 988

The rights over some of land lease agreements are secured against credit faciliies
provided by bank.
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b) Lease liabilities

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial stateman

to recording the lease liabildies in consolidated financial stalement are disclosed in Mole
24 to the consolidated financial stalement.

19. Trade and other payables

{Unit: Thousand Bath)

Consolidated in which the equity

financial satement /|  method is applied /

Separate financial Separate financial

s!atamnnt statement
2020 2019

Lease payments 2443 768

Less: Deferrad interest expenses (556,100) -
Total 1.887,668

Less: Pordion due within one year { 1 iﬂuﬂj{:}u -

Lease Eabilifies - net of current porfion 1.698.783 -

¢} Expenses relating to leases that are recognised in profit or loss

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Conzolidatad Soparate
Mamialﬂa?&nﬂi Enancial stalemens

Depracialion expenses of righl-ol-use assets” 215,540 215,540
Interest expenses on lease |abilites® 70,078 70,078
Expenzes relaling fo shorl-term leases BS -
Expenses relating to lesaes of low-value ssaets BE2 EBS

’ Cuing the year 20240, the Group has applied e folloving tempomary relsef measures on accocuntng
alermatives not b account for any reduction in leass payments by lessars resuling from the COAVED-18
situaticn as a lease modification, with the leass liabil%es that come dus in each penod reduced in
proportan B the reduction and deprecation of right-ol-use assets and interest on lease kabilties
recagrsed in aach perad reversed in propertion o the reduction amounied to Baht 1.6 millon and 1.5

mallion | respeciivaly

d) Others

The Group had total cash cutflows for leases for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
Baht 257 million, including the cash outflow related to shor-term lease and leases of
kow-value assets. Moreover, the Group had non-cash addiions fo right-of-use assets
and lease liabilties of 0.4 million. The future ¢ash outflows relating to leases, in addition

38

Financial
slatlements
in which
Consolidaled  ihe eguity
fersancial sl i Separate financial
statement applied slatements
2020 2019 2020 2018
Trade payables - related party 2 - - -
Trade payables - unfelated pamies 15,018 15,481 11.553 154681
Fayables for constructions and purchase of
equipment G800 1,048 2181 1,048
Cither payables 2,420 B, 758 2,383 B, 758
Totza! trade and other payabies 24,038 25287 16,557 25287

20. Long-term loans

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Fanzncal
satemen in
Condgohdabed Wi tha

Il a5l rage financial EQuity matncd Separake financial

{percent pas shatemants i appliod smiemants
Loan annum} Repaymant schadule 20 2018 FuiFi 2018

1 MLR - 1,756  Ropaymont the priscipal and isterest ai
MLR - 2.00 tha &enidl o riry msnth. Fram May
2021 1o Oclober 2037 163,000
Lagi: Cusmant paslian {B.510
Longrtenms lkoans, el of curresd pordicn 1565350
40
sl b b b e i ' RO diidiid ik stk b i Lt e o ARG
[Thaparal Leungiumin) (Firiam Leungsuwan)



1.

Movement of the kong-term leans account during the year ended 21 December 2020 are
summarised below:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated
financial statemants
/ Financial statement
in which the eguity Separate
method is applied financial statemenis
Balance as at 1 January 2020 -
Add; Additional borrowings 163,000
163,000 -

Balance as at 31 December 2020

The loans are guaranteed by the Company and shareholders of subsidiary. The kbans
contain several covenanis which, among other things. Require the subsidiary to maintain
debt-lo-equity ratic and debl service coverage ratic al the rate prescribed in the
agreemenis,

Security deposits

The balance represented deposits received from customers under port and other services
agreemenis and security deposits from construciors, The deposits bear no interest and are
to be returned after the conditions specified in the contracis are mel. The terms of the
contracts are betwean 1 - 10 years, A part of deposits received from customers is secured
by a bank guaranmtee. Deposits of Baht 43 mibon (2018 Baht 18 mlkon) are due for
repaymert within one year and therefore are presenled as a cument liability in the
statements of financial position.
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22,

23.

24,

Provision for port remuneration under concession agreement

The Company records provision for port remuneration under concession agreement by
using the present value of the future commitmant that need to be paid to the Port Authority
of Thailand based on Agreament for Investmeant, Construction, Management and Operation
at A5 Terminal Interest charged in relation to the provision iz recorded as financial cost in
ihe staterment of comprahensive income and will be integrated with the provizion for pon
remuneration under concession agreement. Port remuneration that will be due within one
vear is classified as current liabilities under the heading of *Accrued expenses’.

Accrued expenses
{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Financial
statements in
which
Consolidated  the aquily
financial method s Separate financial
statement applied statements
2020 2019 2020 2018

Accrued PAT charges 58,578 124,399 58,578 124,399
Acerued bonus 15,143 23,785 15,143 23,765
Proparty lax payable 21,080 - 21,090
Oihers B6TH . 209 6T E,_SI-E 29 267
Tolal 80,365 188,521 80,266 188,521

Provision for decommissioning costs
(Unii: Thousand Bath)

Consolidated financial statement
f Financial staterments in which
ihe equity method is applied /
Separate financial statements

2020 2019
Provision for decommissioning costs
at beginning of year 29,206 28,209
Imerest cost o7 oar
42



Provision for decommissioning costs
at end of year 30,203 29 206

The Company recognised a provision for decommissioning costs associated wih the
Company’s warehouses. The Company commits to decommission the construction thereon
before refurn the leased land to the lessors.

25. Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term emploves benefts, which represemts compensation payable to
employees afler they retire, are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Bath)

Consolidated financial statemant / Financial
statements in which the agquity methad s
applied / Separate financial stalements

2020 2019
Provision for long-term employee
benefits at beginning of year 28,534 24 421
Included in profit or loss:
Current service cost 2,657 4,090
Interest cost 464 858
Include in cther comprehensive income;
Actuarial {gain) loss arising from
Demography assumptlion changes 4639 =
Financial assumplions changes 1,628 (528)
Experience adjustments 1.577 373
Benefits paid during the year {260) (681}
Provision for long-term employee benefits
at end of year 39,238 28.534

The Company expecis to pay Baht 2 million of long-term employee benefits duning the next
wear (2019: Baht 4 million) (the Company only: Baht 2 million and 2019 4 million).
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As al 31 December 2020, the weighted average duration of the habilities for kong-term
employee beneft is 12 years (2019: 12 years) (the Company only; 12 year and 2019: 12
years).
Significant actuarial assumplions are summansed below:
(Unit: % per annum)
Consolbdated financial statement / Financial

statements in which the equity method is
apphed/ Separate financial statements

2020 2019
Discount rates 1.50- 169 2.29-296
Salary increase rate G.00 G.B2
Turmower rabes 4,82 - 22 92 G.00 - 12.00

The results of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of
the long-term employee benefi obbgation as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are
summarsed balow:

Consoldated Tnancial statement / Financkdl staterments inwhich the equity
mathod & applied f Separate inancel statements
2020 2019

Increase Decrease Increase Decregse

(%) [Millisn (%) (Milien (%) (Milien  (36)  (Mison

Baht) Haht) HBant) Haht)
Digeount rate 0%  [(14) 05 15 0s 09 0s 1.0
Salary increase rate 10 249 10 [25) 05 1.0 05  (08)
Turnover rate 200 (26 200 30 0% 12) 05 13

26. Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Seclion 116 of the Public Limited Companies Acl B.E. 1992, the Company is
required fo set aside (o a stalutory reserve at least 5 parcent of its net profit after deducting
accumulaled deficit broughl forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the
registered capital. The statutory reserve is not awvailable for dividend distribution. The
statutory reserve has fully been set aside.
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27. Finance income

Interest income on debl instrumenis
measured at amortised cost

Inferest recened from debt instrumenis
measured at fair value through profit or
loss

Other interest received

Total

28. Finance cost

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated
financial statement /
Financial stalement in
which the equity Separate
method is applied financial statements

2020 2019 2020 2019

14,118 19,250 14,075 19,2090

7833 5,375 7.633 5.375
328 1,755 329 1.755

22,081 26,420 22,037 26,420

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consclidated
financial statement /
Financial slatement in
which the equity

method is applied /
Separate

financial stalements

2020 2019
Interest expenses on decommissioning 947 89497
Interest expenses on lease labilties 70,076 53
FRetal axpenses from lease agreements and PAT remunerations 1,187 2815
Interest expenses on securty deposits 1,756 -
Other interest expenses 5891 B59
Total 74,607 4,730
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Expenses by nature
Signiicant expenses by nature are as follows:
[Uinit; Thousand Saht)
Financial
statomant in
Consolidated which thae
finandcial equity method Geparate
statomant is appliad financial statements
2020 gk 2000 A8
Rental axpanses and PAT ramunsrations 70,745 389 830 78,157 36D GG
Depredation and amortisation 420, 043 20507 420,925 2005, 0T
Salary, wages and other employee benaefits 113,880 122122 100,222 122,122
Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 iz made up as
Tollows:

{Lirit Thoussand Bahd)

Financaal
siatement n
Consalicated which the
finamczal equily rmathod Separale
aiatarmarnt i% appliad financial gtabaments
2020 219 2020 2019
Curment income tax:
Curmrent income tax charged 76,205 #3306 76,306 8B.355
Deterred ta:
Relatng to ongsation and reversal of
emparary diferences (7407 48284 33,981 (24.338)
Income tax expense reported in
the profit or loss BA.B1S 102,330 110,287 G400

The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for
the years ended 31 Dacamber 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

{Umit Thousand Bahi)

Fimanesal
ata e in
Consalidated which tha
financeal equity rmathod Separate
statermant ) i .P.Ei. financial sataments
2 iy b2 ol 2149
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Diafarred tax on achsarnial gains and lncses i.670 59 1.570 ai

Reconcilialions between accounting profit and income tax expense is shown below,

{Link Theusand Bahi)
Farugricall
slabemant in
Consolidxind ‘which tha
Brancial eqquity mathicd ‘Leparyt
wininmen 5 2 ppled Tern e Sia hamanis
2020 2014 20240 e

Aocounting profl before @a o ATHTE b vl o ] 550 400
Applicakbds Eas rabe e n 0% 0
Accounting profit before taa mubiiphed by

income tax % e ] 573 110 556
Effects of.

Shaes of loas Inom assocales 11031 [ 1] J "

Non-deductiba ax pandad 1082 1.0 [ 1.

Addren] panias dodeiions Ml 1.7y (1.7 (0,704 (L7750

Diria s, o Crbesid - - . T 150
Tormporany Siferances which may not be wlilsed . - 33200 -
Cevars [r)] - ing -
Takal o574 6 482 7.4 {47 peay
INCOme) Bhy S ias repamed in the: profit of loss 3218 102 230 1102587 54 030

The components of deferred tax azsets and deferred tax labilties are as follows:

{Uni Tharkand Bahi)

Finansial
statoment in
Cossaldated  which the equity
financzl rathad = Sopatabe
skatemant apepligd finarcial staloments
2020 2010 2020 N
Debarred tax assels (liabilities)

Alowanes for expocind credil losses

[Z018; Allowares Hor doubiful eooousts) 1055 8,241 10,855 8,241
Provision allowancs far impaimnant of

nrmtrmend it an axiocate - - - 3200
Provisbon for port rermsne rafon undes

CONCESSIoN Sgresment &1 3378 [l 3.3
Accrnsed land Feniml g pnees . 18, B37 . 16,287
Frovison fod dapoemmissioning couls. 3 &85 3.0 3465 3,077
Provision faf leng-hem employen banefits 758 S a7 7. 5al 5, 71aF
Urreabsed Bxir value gain (boss] o invesirrend 1248 Xy 1. 848 XK3)
Fropaiel commissian (117} 1184) (117 154
Likis 54437 - S4.437 -
Unusad tax loss 3,288 - - -

47
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Dwferred Lax assels - met 81,535 A7.83 F8.857 5,553

Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent wilh the intemal repors
that are regularty réviewed by the chef operating decision maker in order 1o make decisions
about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised inle business units based on its
products and services and have two reporable segmenis as follows:

. Provision of port services, cariage and handling of goods, and other
related services.

. Warehouse services

Mo oparating segments have bean aggregated to form the above reportable operating
segments.

The chief operaling decision maker monilors the operaling resulis of the business unils
separatety for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing
performance. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss and total
assets and on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss and total
assets in the financial statements.

The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is consistent with
that for third party transactions.

The following tables present revenue and profit information regarding the Group's operating
segments for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

{Unit: Millicn Baht)

Seaport and related Warchouse
serdices services Total segments
2020 2018 2020 2013 2020 2019
Revenus
Revenue from extemal customens B7S 1,129 v 230 1,185 1418
Operation results
Segment profit AT 447 203 150 a7 Gar
Finance income 22 26
Dhar income - 17
Finance &xpemes (Fap (Sh
Share of loss from investments in (55} (35)
48
... Diroctor ... Diwacior



3z

33

assaciales
Cther expenses {174} {161}
Profit bafoers income tax aapansss 08 474
Ircoime tax & xpanses [l {102)
Profit for the year 2z7 37T

Dwring the year ended 31 Decamber 2020 and 2019, the Group had depraciation and
amonisation which relaled to seapor and related seraces and warsghouse sgnace as

fsllanars:
For the year ended 31 December
2020 2019
Seaport and related services 254 ay
Warehouse senvices 113 47
Total 407 1844
Geographic information

The Group operates in Thailand only. As a result, all ihe revenues and assets as reflected in
these financial statements pertain axclusivaly 1o this geographical reporiatle segment

Major customers

For the year 2020, the Group has revenue from three major cusiomers in amount of Baht
182 million, Baht 156 million, and Baht 83 million arising from sales by the Seaport (2019
Baht 255 million, Babt 203 million, and Baht 152 million derived from three major customer).

Provident fund

The Company and its employees have jointly eslablished a provident fund in accordance
with the Provident Fund Act B.E, 2530. Both employees and the Company contribute to the
fund monthly at the rate of 5-12 parcent of basic salary, The fund, which is managed by
Krungsr Assat Management, will be paid to employaes upan termination in accordance with
the fund rules. The contributions for the year 2020 amounting fo approximatety Baht 7
million (201%: Baht & million).

Dividends paid

Tatal Dividerd
Dividends Approved by dwdends  per shate Payrmant date
(Thousand {Baht

Baht} par share)

Dividend for 2018 Annsal General Meeting of

449
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34,

Sharehalders on 36 Apnl 2018 Ir2000 030 24 May 208

Todal for 2018 372040 030

Inderim drvidends for 2019 Board of direcior Mesting
an I3 Apnll 200 B20.000 050 22 May 20X
Tolal for 2020 820,000 050

Commitments and contingent liabilities

34.1 Operating commitments

As al 31 December 2020, the Group has fulure lease payments required under these
non-cancellable lsase agreements other than recorded as lease liabilfies in the statements
of financial position of approximatety 4.7 million (the Company only: 1.3 million).

4.2 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments of approxdmately Baht 7
million {2019: Baht 59 million) (the Company only: 7 milion and 2019: Baht 59 million)
refaling to acquisttions of land, construction of buiding, purchases of eguipment and
intangible assel.

24,3 Bank guarantees

a) The Company has guarantes loan of its subsidiary amounting to Baht 97 million
{2019: Mil}

b) As at 31 December 2020, there were outstanding bank guarantees issued by banks on
behalf of the Company in respect of certain performance bonds as required in the
normal course of business as follows:

(Unit: Million Eant)

Guaramtes for 2020 2078

The remunerations under the construction,

management and A5 port operating agreament 46 45
Payments under the land lease agreements o 91
The return of deposit received &0 60
Electricily use and others 4 3
Total 201 200

The righis over some of land lease agreements and mortgage of land improvements and
buildings on some plots of land are secured against these bank guarantee facilities.

50
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34.4 Litigation

al On 26 July 2017, the Company, as a plaintiff, brought a lawsuil against Bangkok

Metropolitan Administration (EMA) to the Ceniral Intellectual Propery and International
Trade Courl (IPITC), with the accusalions in relation to internalional trade, camage of
goods by sea and deposit of goods for the amount of Baht 1,041 million; requesting the
Court to order BMA to pay the Company the said amount togethar with the interast of
7.5% par annum and the daily storaga charge including value added tax of Bahl 0.27
million per day from the date following the date of the sut until BMA ramoves all fire
trucks out of the terminals of the Company.

Later on 18 December 2017, EMA by the Public Proseculor filed answers and also a
counter-claim for wrongful acts claiming for compensation up to the day of the |lawsui
totaling Baht 110 million and a daily compensation of Bamt 0.82 milion from the date of
the lawsuit until the Company returns all the disputed cars (o BMA or make payment
equivalent to the disputed cars’ value of Bah 2679 million to BMA;, Meanwhile, EMA
filed an ex parte application requesting the Court 1o order protective measures. On 14
February 2015 the Courl finally issued the order for temporary protection bul ordered
EMA to place collateral amounting to Baht 200 milicn. However, BMA appealed against
the court’s order.

On 26 Decembar 2018, IPITC renderad judgment of this case. The ambarkation of fire
trucks at the Company's terminal, who is a service provider, is considered as delivary to
the Company for BMA, the buyer under the sales agreemenm who would take the fire
trucks from the Company terminal thereafter. In this case, when the Company is served
with a lawful order to refurn the fire trucks, the Company will retum such firg trucks
accordingly and demand the consideration. However, EMA did not deliver such goods 1o
the Company but one of the shipping agents did to further defiver o the holder of the bill
of lading and invoice, Therefore, BMA is not a pary 1o the deposit agreement. As such,
IPITC dismissed the case filed by the Company. The Company filed an appeal with the
Courl on 26 March 2020,
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For the counferclaim filed by BMA that the Company has no right to retain the fire truck
which is armaments because the Company is not authorised to possess arms, claim
damages and make payment equivalent to the value of assets. Therefore, IPITC
dismissed the counierclaim and withdrew the lemporary protection order of EMA. EMA
appealed and filed an ex parie pelition with IPITC requeslting the Courl 1o order the
injunciion on 25 May 2020 but the pelition was dismissed. BMA, therefore, appealed
against the order of the Cour of Firsl Instance with the Cour of Appeal on 14 July 2020,

The Company filed both defences, the answer against BMA's appeal on the justiciary
order relating to application for the protection of the rights of BMA during frial of the
Court of Appeal on 1 7 Seplember 2020, and the respondent's answer against the
pelition of appeal on 27 Seplember 2020.

On 24 December 2020, Tokio Maring Insurance (Thailand) Public Co., L1d., as a plainiiff,
filed a lawsuit against the Company 1o the Civil Court of Southern Bangkok (CBSC), for
the charge of goods deposit and storage in the Company's warehouse, insurance, and
subregation, claiming damages of Bahl 19 million. The Company received a summons
from the CBSC on 18 January 2021 ordering the Company Lo file a statement of plea to
the CESC within 15 days from the daie of the summaons has been received.

Subsequentty on 1 February 2021, the Company submitted a request to extend the
period of submission of the statemant to 2 Manch 2021,

Howewer, the Company has damage propery insurance with sewveral insurance
companies for damages incurred. In addition, this is the agreememt, which shall be
defined as service agreement, and cannol be regarded as the deposit agreement. Since
the Company's management believes that the Company will nol incur any loss as a
resuli of this Wigalion, no provision for contingent liabilities has been recorded in the
account,
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35.

36,

Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 December 2020 and 2013, the Group had the assets and liabilities that were
measured at fair value using different levels of inputs as follows:

{Linit: Millisn Baht)
Consalidated Snancial staterment | Separate inandal
statement

B3 8131 Decamber 2020

Level 1 Lewel & Lewveal 3 Total
Assats measured at fakr valua
Firancial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Caipeniunes - 47 - a7
Linit truele - 124 - 124
ta s ta e SR CURTTES wa . - 7o

{Lini: Millicn Bahkt)
Financia| staterments in which the eguity method s appbed §
Sepamate financial statemants

Az at 31 Decamber 208

Level 1 Lewvel 2 Level 3 Total
Assels measuned ot Takr valus
Hedd Jor rade invesimania
Governrment bonds - 14 = 14
Dabentunes - 358 . 58
Linit trusts - BT - ay
Markstable sacuriles ] . - BE

Financial instruments

36.1 Financial risk management policies

The Group's financial insiruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade
accounts receivable and long-term loans. The financial risks associated with these financial
instrumenis and how they are managed is described below,

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credil nsgk primarily with respect to trade accounis receivable and
deposits with banks and finangial insidutions, The maximum exposure to credil risk s limited
iothe carmying amounis as staled in the statement of financial pesition

(Trsparak Lausgiiawar [PiImEaem Leungausan )

Trade receivables

The Group manages the risk by adopling appropriate credit control palicies and procedures
and therefore does not expect lo incur material financial losses. Culstanding trade
receivables are regularly monilored and any services to major customers are generally
covered by security deposit,

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credi
losses. The provision rates are based on days pasi due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar credit risks. The Group classifies customer segments by customer
type and raling. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted oulcome, the lime value of
mongy and reasonable and supporable information that is available at the reporing date
about past events, current conditions and forecasis of fulure economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and not subject to
enforcement activity.

Financial instruments and cash depogits

The Group manages the credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions by
making investments only with approved counterpartias and within credit limits assigned to
each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group's Board of Direclors
on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the
roup's Board of Directors. The limits are set 1o minimise the concentration of risks and
therefore mitigate financkal loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.

The credit risk on debt instruments and derivatives is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by ntermational credit-rating agencies

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily 1o #s long-lerm loan. Most of the
Group's financial assets and liabilties bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which
are close to the market rate. The Group's interest rate risk is low.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2018, significant financial assels and liabkilities classified by
type of interest rate are summarised in the table below, with those financial assets and
liabilties that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity dale, or the
repricing date if this occurs before the maturity date.
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Financial asgety
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Financial nssets
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36.2 Fair values of financial instruments

ar.

Since the majoriy of the Group's financial insiruments are shor-term in nature or carrying
interest at rates close to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expecled to be
materially difféerent from the amounts presentad in the statement of financial position. Except
the fair value of government bond with maturity in 2031 has fair value as at 31 December
2020 Baht 193 million (2019: Baht 152 million).

Capital management

The primary objective of the capital management of the Group is 0 ensure thal it has
appropriate capital struclure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder
value. Az al 31 December 2020, the Group s debl-to-equily ratio was 0,731 (2019 0.15:1).
And the only company ralio was 0,851 (2019 0.14:1).

Event after the reporting period

On 19 February 2021, the meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors pass a resolution
approval the dividends paymeant for 2020's oparating rasulls of Bant 0.2 paer shara, lotaling
Bahi 248 million to the shareholders. The resolution will be further proposad to the Annual
eneral Meeting of the shareholders for their approval.

Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company's Board of Directors
on 19 February 2021,
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